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PREFACE TO THE CREATIVE
COMMONS EDITION

I am making the first two books I published available online and
free of charge through the Authors Alliance, because I hope in at least
a small way to promote the diffusion of knowledge. They are still in
print, but they exhausted their commercial viability long ago. The first,
Mesmerism and the End of the Enlightenment in France, was published
in 1968. I like to joke that the royalties from it provide me with enough
revenue to take my wife to dinner once every three years—if she pays
for her half of the bill. The second book, The Business of Enlightenment:
A Publishing History of the Encyclopédie, 1775-1800, published in 1979,
still attracts quite a few readers, although not enough purchasers to sub-
sidize many evenings in a restaurant. Most authors lose little revenue
by making old or out-of-print books available for free on a Creative
Commons license. And they gain a great deal: access to readers.

More than anything else, I want to see my books reach new readers.
I suspect most authors share this goal though, to be sure, writers who
live from their keyboards need to balance their desire to reach readers
with their need to make money. More power to them. But most of us,
especially in the academic world, care primarily about the circulation of
our ideas, and we do not want our books to die after their commercial
lives have ended. How can you give your book new life? Make it avail-
able with help from the Authors Alliance. Follow the directions in the
Authors Alliance guide, Understanding Rights Reversion: When, Why, &
How to Regain Copyright and Make Your Book More Available, and have
it distributed from an open-access repository—even through the col-


http://authorsalliance.org/reversion
http://authorsalliance.org/reversion

Preface To The Creative Commons Edition

lections offered to the public by the Digital Public Library of America.
In doing so, you are not doling out charity. You are ensuring that your
work’s continuing impact and relevance are not limited by its commer-
cial life.

Of course, you probably will need to win the agreement of your
publisher. I was fortunate in that the Harvard University Press gener-
ously agreed to provide the rights needed to publicly release the books
online. I feel grateful for this support. At the same time, the HUP may
benefit from its generosity, because exposure to the online editions can
make some readers want to purchase print copies. A book that sits on
a shelf, read by only a few persons with access to that library, will never
circulate as widely as an Authors Alliance version of the same text. The
ancient printed book may be rediscovered after decades of neglect, but
more likely it will be forgotten. Deposit it in an open-access repository,
put it within the range of search engines, and sit back with the satisfac-
tion that it will live again as part of the general endeavor to make all
knowledge available to all humans.

Cambridge, Massachusetts Robert Darnton
June 2015
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A Note on Terminology and Spelling

In the eighteenth century, the French did not have an equivalent of
‘‘publisher’’ in English or éditeur in modern French. They normally
spoke of libraires, libraires-imprimeurs, or simply entrepreneurs. Of
course many libraires sold books without becoming involved in their
production, so ‘‘publisher’’ and ‘‘publishing’’ have been used in their
modern, English sense throughout this book. ‘‘Edition’’ is also an am-
biguous term. Modern bibliographers distinguish between *‘editions,”’
‘‘printings,’’ ‘‘states,”’ and other units in the production and repro-
duction of texts. But eighteenth-century libraires and imprimeurs
talked loosely of éditions, which were partial reruns of incomplete
printings and sometimes did not exist at all, as will be seen in the
discussion of the ‘‘missing’’ second editions of the quarto and octavo
Encyclopédies. To avoid confusion, and at the cost of some biblio-
graphical impurity, the term ‘‘edition’’ has been used in the casual,
eighteenth-century manner. In this way, it will be possible to follow
the publishers’ discussions of their work without becoming entangled
in anachronistic terms or distracted by the excessive use of quotation
marks. As this book is based almost entirely on manuseript material,
which has a rich, original flavor, quotations have been given in French.
Spelling and punctuation have been modernized, except in a few cases,
where the original is so primitive that it indicates a significantly poor
mastery of the written word. Place names such as Liyons and Marseilles
have been spelled according to English usage, except where they occur
in French passages.

T
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INTRODUCTION:
THE BIOGRAPHY OF A BOOK

By recounting the life story of the Encyclopédie, this book is
meant to dispel some of the obscurity surrounding the history
of books in general. A book about a book: the subject seems
arcane, and it could contract into the infinitely small, like a
mirror reflected in a mirror. If done properly, however, it
should enlarge the understanding of many aspects of early
modern history, for l’histoire du livre, as it is known in
France, opens onto the broadest questions of historical re-
search., How did great intellectual movements like the En-
lightenment spread through society ? How far did they reach,
how deeply did they penetrate? What form did the thought
of the philosophes acquire when it materialized into books,
and what does this process reveal about the transmission of
ideas? Did the material basis of literature and the technology
of its production have much bearing on its substance and its
diffusion? How did the literary market place function, and
what were the roles of publishers, book dealers, traveling
salesmen, and other intermediaries in cultural communica-
tion? How did publishing function as a business, and how did
it fit into the political as well as the economie systems of pre-
revolutionary Europe? The questions could be multiplied
endlessly because books touched on such a vast range of
human activity—everything from picking rags to transmit-
ting the word of God. They were products of artisanal labor,
objects of economic exchange, vehicles of ideas, and elements
in political and religious conflict.

Yet this inviting subject, located at the crossroads of so
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many avenues of research, hardly exists in the United States
today. We do not have a word for it. Histoire du livre sounds
awkward as ‘‘history of the book,” and the awkwardness
betokens unfamiliarity with what has emerged as a distinet
historical genre, with its own methods, its special journals,
and its allotted place among sister disciplines, on the other
side of the Atlantic. In the United States, book history has
been relegated to library schools and rare book collections.
Step into any rare book room and you will find aficionados
savoring bindings, epigones contemplating watermarks, éru-
dits preparing editions of Jane Austen; but you will not run
across any ordinary, meat-and-potatoes historian attempting
to understand the book as a force in history.

It is a pity, for the generalist could learn a great deal from
the specialists in the treasure houses of books. They could
teach him to sift through their riches and to tap the vein of
information that runs through their periodicals: T'he Library,
Studies in Bibliography, Papers of the Bibliographical So-
ciety of America, Revue Francaise d’histoire du livre, Den
gulden passer, the Gutenberg Jahrbuch, and many others.
Admittedly, these publications seem to be written by bibli-
ographers for bibliographers, and it can be difficult to see
issues of substance beneath the esoteric language and the
antiquarianism. But bibliography need not be confined to
problems such as how consistently compositor B misspelled
the text of The Merchant of Venice or whether the patterns
of skeleton formes reveal regularity in compositorial prac-
tices. Bibliography leads directly into the hurly-burly of
working-class history: it provides one of the few means of
analyzing the work habits of skilled artisans before the Indus-
trial Revolution.

Curiously, however, it has not attracted much attention
among the French, who have done the most to bring the his-
tory of books out of the realm of mere erudition and into the
broad paths of histoire totale. French research tends to be
statistical and sociological. It usually takes the form of macro-
scopic surveys of book production or microscopic analyses of
individual libraries, but it neglects the processes by which
books were produced and distributed. Those processes have
been studied best in Britain, where researchers have pursued
their quarry into the account books of publishers and the
ledgers of booksellers, not merely into state and notarial ar-
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chives, as in France. By mixing British empiricism with the
French concern for broad-gauged social history it might be
possible to develop an original blend of the history of books
in America.’

Of course it is easier to pronounce on how history ought
to be written than to write it; and once the historian of
books has equipped himself with prolegomena and method-
ologies and has ventured into the field, he is likely to stumble
on the greatest difficulty of all: inadequate sources. He may
work in a library overflowing with ancient volumes, but he
cannot know where they circulated before they reached him
and whether they really represent the reading habits of the
past. State archives show how books appeared to the authori-
ties in charge of controlling them. Auction catalogues and
mventaires aprés décés give glimpses of private libraries.
But the official sources do not reveal much about the lived
experience of literature among ordinary readers. In fact the
catalogues as well as the books had to pass the censorship in
eighteenth-century France, so it does not seem surprising
that the Iinlightenment fails to appear in research based on
catalogues and requests for priviléges, a kind of royal copy-
right. The Enlightenment existed elsewhere, first in the spec-
ulations of philosophes, then in the speculations of publishers,
who invested in the market place of ideas beyond the bound-
aries of French law.

How these speculations came together in books and how the
books acquired readers has remained a mystery because the
papers of the publishers have almost entirely disappeared.
But the records of the Société typographique de Neuchitel,
one of the most important publishers of French books in the
eighteenth century, have survived in the Swiss city of Neu-
chatel, and they contain information about every aspect of
book history They show how authors were treated, paper
manufactured, copy processed, type set, sheets printed, crates
shipped, authorities courted, police circumvented, booksellers
provisioned, and readers satisfied everywhere in Europe be-
tween 1769 and 1789. The information is vast enough to over-
whelm the researcher. A few letters from a bookseller can
reveal more than a whole monograph about the book trade,
yet the papers in Neuchétel contain 50,000 letters by all kinds

1. For examples of the different areas of research in this field and for further
reading see the Bibliographical Note.
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of persons who lived by the book trade in all kinds of ways.
It would be impossible to do justice to the material and to
reconstruct the world of eighteenth-century books in a single
volume. Therefore, after some reconnoitering in 1963, I de-
cided to go through the entire collection in Neuchitel, to
supplement it with research in other archives, and to write a
series of studies about intellectuals, books, and public opinion
in the age of the Enlightenment.

The present volume constitutes the first installment. It is
intended to explore the ways of Enlightenment publishing by
tracing the life cycle of a single book—not just any book, to
be sure, but the supreme work of the Enlightenment, Di-
derot’s Encyclopédie. Given the richness of the sources and
the complexity of the subject, it seemed better to attempt an
histoire totale of one publication than to treat the totality of
publishing. By following a single theme wherever it leads, one
can branch out in many directions and cut into unmapped
territory. This approach has the advantage of specificity:
better, at a preliminary stage of groping in the unknown, to
find out precisely how publishers drew up contracts, editors
handled copy, printers recruited workers, and booksellers
pitched sales talk while making and marketing one book than
to withdraw into hazy statements about books in general.
There is also the appeal of novelty: it has never before been
possible to trace the production and diffusion of an eight-
eenth-century book. And finally, the publishing history of the
Encyclopédie deserves to be told because it is a good story.

The story can be pieced together from the letters of the
publishers—not very businesslike letters, most of them. They
abound in denunciations of conspiracies and epithets like
‘“‘pirate,”’ ‘‘corsaire,’”’ and ‘‘brigand,’”’ which suggest the
flavor of the book trade in the Old Regime. Driven by an un-
limited appetite for lucre, uninhibited by compunctions about
stabbing partners in the back and tossing competitors to the
sharks, the publishers of the Ewncyclopédie epitomized the
phase of economic history known as ‘‘booty capitalism.”’
Perhaps they had more in common with the merchant adven-
turers of the Renaissance than with modern executives, but
then how much is known about the inside history of business
in any period? What other enterprise can be studied as closely
as the Ewncyclopédie, not only from its commercial corre-
spondence but also from account books, the secret memoranda
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of the managers, the diaries of traveling salesmen, the com-
plaints of customers, and the reports of industrial spies—a
whole series of industrial spies the publishers used against
allies and enemies alike? The Encyclopédie gave rise to so
many alliances and alignments that its contracts and codieils
—traités, the publishers called them—need to be studied in
the same way as diplomatic documents. And its publishers
wrote so many letters that one can investigate their way of
thinking as well as their behavior. To see how they reached
decisions, how they calculated strategy, and what they cared
about is to enter into the mental world of early entrepreneurs.
The story of the Encyclopédie suggests the possibility of an
intellectual history of businessmen as well as a diplomatic
history of business. But it is difficult to tell a story and to ana-
lyze behavior patterns at the same time. This book will switch
from the narrative to the analytical mode when it seems ap-
propriate, and the reader who prefers one to the other can
jump around in the text, using chapter subheadings as sign-
posts.

The story begins around the time that Diderot ended his
connection with the Encyclopédie—that is, in 1772, when the
last volume of plates came out. It may seem strange to em-
bark on a history of the Encyclopédie just after Diderot had
steered it safely into port, but this procedure can be justified
by two considerations. First, a huge literature on Diderot
and the original Encyclopédie already exists. The text of the
book has been analyzed and anthologized dozens of times: to
recapitulate all the studies of its intellectual content would
be redundant, even if it were important for the purposes of
publishing history.2 Secondly, very little can be learned about
the production and diffusion of the first edition. A few frag-
ments from the account books of the original publishers have
been found, and some of the publishers’ commercial activities
can be deduced from material assembled by Luneau de Bois-
jermain, a cranky subscriber who unsuccessfully sued them
for swindle. Although several scholars have combed through
these documents with great care, they have failed to find out

2. This statement should not be construed to imply that publishing history can
ignore the contents of books. On the contrary, this study is meant to show the im-
portance of understanding not only texts but also the meaning of texts for their
audience at specific points in the past. For references to the literature on the
Encyclopédie, especially studies of the early editions, see the Bibliographical
Note.
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how the first edition was manufactured, where it was sold, and
who bought it. The history of the second edition remains al-
most equally obscure, despite some revealing material that
George B. Watts and John Lough have excavated from ar-
chives in Geneva. And although Italian scholars have uncov-
ered some of the politics surrounding the editions of Lucca
and Leghorn, they have not found out how much the Italian
reprints cost and how many copies they contained.

As far as the diffusion of the Ewncyclopédie is concerned,
however, the first four editions were relatively unimportant.
They were luxurious folio publications ordinary readers could
not afford and, when taken together, accounted for only about
40 percent of the Encyclopédies in existence before 1789. The
great mass of the Encyclopédies in prerevolutionary Furope
came from the cut-rate quarto and octavo editions printed
between 1777 and 1782. Between 50 and 65 percent of the
copies in France were quartos, and all of them can be traced,
thanks to the papers of the Société typographique de Neu-
chatel (STN). The archives in Neuchétel also make it possible
to explain the history of the octavo edition and the origins
of the Encyclopédie méthodique, the ultimate encyclopedia of
the Enlightenment, whose fate can be followed through the
Revolution from other sources. Furthermore, the Neuchatel
papers reveal the connecting links between all the Ewncyclo-
pédie speculations, including some that never materialized,
from 1750 to 1800. They show how the book changed in shape
as the publishers adapted it to an ever-widening audience and
how publishing consortia succeeded one another as the specu-
lators scrambled to exploit the biggest best seller of the cen-
tury. From the viewpoint of book history, therefore, the story
of the Emncyclopédie took its most important turn in the
1770s. Only then did it move into a phase that represented the
diffusion of Enlightenment on a massive scale. If the docu-
mentation will not permit much study of the book’s previous
incarnations, it is rich enough to show how Diderot’s work
reached the vast majority of his readers after he had finished
with it.

Before attempting to follow the later transmigrations of
the text, it is important to take account of a basic fact that
became apparent to the authorities in France as soon as the
first volume of the first edition reached the subscribers: the

6
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book was dangerous. It did not merely provide information
about everything from A to Z; it recorded knowledge accord-
ing to philosophic principles expounded by d’Alembert in the
Preliminary Discourse. Although he formally acknowledged
the authority of the church, d’Alembert made it clear that
knowledge came from the senses and not from Rome or Reve-
lation. The great ordering agent was reason, which combined
sense data, working with the sister faculties of memory and
imagination. Thus everything man knew derived from the
world around him and the operations of his own mind. The
Encyclopédie made the point graphically, with an engraving
of a tree of knowledge showing how all the arts and sciences
grew out of the three mental faculties. Philosophy formed the
trunk of the tree, while theology occupied a remote branch,
next to black magic. Diderot and d’Alembert had dethroned
the ancient queen of the sciences. They had rearranged the
cognitive universe and reoriented man within it, while elbow-
ing God outside.

They knew that tampering with world views was a danger-
ous business, so they hid behind subterfuge, irony, and false
protestations of orthodoxy. But they did not hide the epis-
temological basis of their attack on the old cosmology. On
the contrary, the Preliminary Discourse made it explicit in a
brief history of philosophy that established the intellectual
pedigree of the philosophes and struck down orthodox Thom-
ism on one side and neo-orthodox Cartesianism on the other,
leaving only Locke and Newton standing. Thus Diderot and
d’Alembert presented their work as both a compilation of
information and a manifesto of philosophie. They meant to
merge those two aspects of the book, to make them seem like
two sides of the same coin: Encyclopedism. This strategy
served as a way of legitimizing the Enlightenment because
the Encyclopedists identified their philosophy with knowl-
edge itself—that is, with valid knowledge, the kind derived
from the senses and the faculties of the mind as opposed to
the kind dispensed by church and state. Traditional learning,
they implied, amounted to nothing but prejudice and super-
stition. So beneath the bulk of the Encyclopédie’s twenty-
eight folio volumes and the enormous variety of its 71,818
articles and 2,885 plates lay an epistemological shift that
transformed the topography of everything known to man.

It was this break with the established notions of knowledge

7
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and intellectual authority that made the Ewncyclopédie so
heretical. Having made the break and having learned to look
at the world of knowledge from the viewpoint of the Pre-
liminary Discourse, readers could see smaller heresies scat-
tered throughout the book. Finding them became a game. It
would not do to look in obvious places, where the Encyclo-
pedists had to be most careful about the censorship, although
they even smuggled some impiety into the article cHRISTIAN-
1sME. Better to search through out-of-the-way articles with
absurd headings like ascuHARIOUNS and EpipELIUS for remarks
about the absurdities of Christianity. Of course the remarks
had to be veiled. The Encyclopedists draped the pope in
Japanese robes before mocking him in siako; they diguised
the Eucharist as an extravagant pagan ritual in vpaIini; they
dressed up the Holy Spirit as a ridiculous bird in aicLE; and
they made the Incarnation look as silly as a superstition about
a magic plant in AeNUs scyrHIcUS., At the same time, they
produced a parade of high-minded, law-abiding Hindus, Con-
fucians, Hottentots, Stoics, Socinians, deists, and atheists,
who usually seemed to get the better of the orthodox in argu-
ments, although orthodoxy always triumphed in the end,
thanks to non sequiturs or the intervention of ecclesiastical
authorities, as in unrratres. In this way, the Encyclopedists
stimulated their readers to seek for meaning between the lines
and to listen for double-entendre.

Once a reader learned to exercise his reason in this manner,
he would discover unreason in all spheres of life, including
the social and political. The Encyclopédie treated the state
with more respect than the church, and it did not contest the
supremacy of the privileged orders. But mixed among its
conventional and sometimes contradictory articles, the at-
tentive reader could find a good deal of irreverence for the
masters of the secular world. Not only did Diderot seem to
reduce the authority of the king to the consent of the people
in AuTORITE POLITIQUE but also d’Holbach advocated a bour-
geois-type constitutional monarchy in rEPrESENTANTS; Rous-
seau anticipated the radical arguments of his Contrat social
in EconoMIE (Morale et Politique) ; and Jaucourt popularized
natural law theory in dozens of articles that implicitly chal-
lenged the ideology of Bourbon absolutism. Several articles
mocked the pomp and pretensions of the aristocracy. Although
the tax exemptions of the privileged orders were defended in

8
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some places (ExempPTIONS and PRIVILEGE), they were attacked
in others (vineriEME and 1MPOT). And the dignity of ordinary
persons was affirmed at many points, not only in articles about
bourgeois (Nfcoce) but also in impassioned descriptions of
the hard life of laborers (PEUPLE).

It would be wrong to construe such remarks as a call for
revolution. The Ewncyclopédie was a product of its time, of
mid-century France, when writers could not discuss social and
political questions openly, in contrast to the prerevolutionary
era, when a tottering government permitted a good deal of
frank discussion. The Ewncyclopédie did not even favor an
advanced form of capitalism. Despite its emphasis on tech-
nology and physiocracy, it discouraged the concentration of
men and machines in factories, and it presented an archaic
picture of manufacturing rather than a preview of the in-
dustrial revolution in articles like INDUSTRIE and MANUFAcC-
TURES. The radical element in the Encyclopédie did not come
from any prophetic vision of the far-off French and industrial
revolutions but from its attempt to map the world of knowl-
edge according to new boundaries, determined by reason and
reason alone. As its title page proclaimed, it pretended to be
a ‘‘dictionnaire raisonné des sciences, des arts et des métiers’’
—that is, to measure all human activity by rational standards
and so to provide a basis for rethinking the world.

Contemporaries had no difficulty in detecting the purpose
of the book, which its authors acknowledged openly in key
articles like Diderot’s EncvcLopipiE and d’Alembert’s Aver-
tissement to volume 3. From the appearance of the first vol-
ume in 1751 until the great crisis of 1759, the Encyclopédie
was denounced by defenders of the old orthodoxies and the
Old Regime, by Jesuits, Jansenists, the General Assembly
of the Clergy, the Parlement of Paris, the king’s council, and
the pope. The denunciations flew so thick and fast, in articles,
pamphlets, and books as well as official ediets, that the Ency-
clopédie seemed doomed. But the publishers had invested a
fortune in it, and they had powerful protectors, notably
Chrétien-Guillaume de Lamoignon de Malesherbes, the liberal
Directeur de la librairie, who superintended the book trade
during the crucial years between 1750 and 1763.

Malesherbes saved the Encyclopédie several times, first in
1752, when it became implicated in the de Prades affair. One
of Diderot’s collaborators, the abbé Jean-Martin de Prades,
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had submitted a thesis for a licentiate in theology at the Sor-
bonne that seemed to come straight out of the Preliminary
Discourse, if not hell itself, as de Prades’s bishop observed.
In the course of the subsequent scandal, de Prades fled to Ber-
lin, where Frederick II made him a reader ; the Encyclopédie
was denounced to the king as evidence of creeping atheism;
Diderot, who had spent four painful months in Vincennes
only two years earlier for his Lettre sur les aveugles, seemed
likely to be imprisoned once more ; and rumors had it that the
Jesuits would take over the Ewncyclopédie as a reward for
their diligence in exposing the conspiracy to destroy religion.
Thanks to Malesherbes, this crisis resulted only in an arrét
du Conseil, which condemned the first two volumes for ¢‘plu-
sieurs maximes tendantes & détruire 1’autorité royale, a
établir 1’esprit d’indépendance et de révolte et, sous des
termes obscurs et équivoques, a élever les fondements de 1’er-
reur, de la corruption des moeurs, de 1’irréligion et de
P’inerédulité.’”® That sounded terrible enough, but it had little
effect because the volumes had already been distributed to
the subscribers, and the government permitted the work to
continue, without revoking its privilege.

The scandal continued to sizzle and spread for the next
seven years, as volumes 3 through 7 appeared and as skillful
polemicists like Charles Palissot and Jacob-Nicolas Moreau
fanned the flames on the side of the priests. On the other side,
Voltaire loaned his pen and his prestige to the cause; and
Diderot and d’Alembert found the ranks of their collaborators
swelling with other illustrious writers, including most of the
men who were beginning to be identified as philosophes: Du-
clos, Toussaint, Rousseau, Turgot, Saint-Lambert, d’Holbach,
Daubenton, Marmontel, Boulanger, Morellet, Quesnay, Dami-
laville, Naigeon, Jaucourt, and Grimm. They also claimed Mon-
tesquien and Buffon, whose works they cited constantly,
although it seems that neither wrote anything expressly for
the Encyclopédie. (Montesquieu died in 1755, leaving a frag-
ment which was published posthumously in the article coor,
and Buffon kept his distance from the Encyclopedists, per-
haps because he had enough difficulty defending the unortho-

3. Arrét du Conseil of Feb. 7, 1752, quoted in John Lough, The ‘¢ Encyclo-
pédie’’ (New York, 1971), p. 21. Lough’s book provides a good survey of the
early history of the Encyclopédie. 1t can be supplemented by the works of Watts,
Proust, and Wilson, cited in the Bibliographical Note.
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dox passages in his Histoire naturelle, which began to appear
in 1749.)

Nothing could have been better for business than the con-
tinued controversy and the volunteer corps of authors. The
publishers, André-Francois Le Breton and his associates,
Antoine-Claude Briasson, Michel-Antoine David, and Laurent
Durand, had envisaged an edition of 1,625 copies, but the sub-
seriptions poured in so fast that they increased it three times,
until it reached 4,255 copies in 1754. In their prospectus of
1751, they had promised to provide eight folio volumes of
text and two of plates, at a total cost of 280 livres, by the end
of 1754. The prospectus did envisage the possibility of an ad-
ditional volume, which would be sold at a 29 percent reduc-
tion, but it reassured the subscribers that the text and plates
had been completed, even though Diderot was more than
twenty years away from the end of his labors and he would
produce almost three times as many volumes as the pro-
spectus had promised. This stroke of false advertising set a
standard that the Encyclopédie publishers were to maintain
without flagging for the next fifty years. Indeed, if the public
had known that the book would grow to seventeen volumes of
text and eleven of plates, that its price would inflate to 980
livres, and that its last volume would not appear until 1772,
the enterprise would never have got off the ground. Although
Luneau de Boisjermain did try, unsuccessfully, to bring it
down by suing the publishers for swindle, the real threat
came once again from the French authorities during a second
crisis, from 1757 to 1759.

That was a dark period in French history. It began with
Damiens’s attempt to assassinate Louis XV. The country, al-
ready bleeding from the Seven Years’ War, filled with rumors
about atheists and regicides; and the crown stirred up fears
of conspiracies by a Declaration of April 16, 1757, which
threatened to put to death anyone who wrote or printed any-
thing against church or state—indeed, anything even tending
to ‘“émouvoir les esprits.”” At this point, the anti-Encyeclo-
pedists opened fire with their heaviest barrage of propa-
ganda, not only denouncing the heresies in volumes 4 and 7
of the Encyclopédie but also associating them with bold-faced
atheism, which, they charged, had broken out shamelessly in
publie, and with a censor’s approval, when Helvétius pub-
lished De I’Esprit in July 1758. This book caused an even
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greater scandal than the thesis of the abbé de Prades; and
although Helvétius had not contributed to the Encyclopédie,
most of the indignation he aroused fell on it. In January
1759, the procureur général of the Parlement of Paris warned
that behind De I’Esprit lurked the Encyclopédie and behind
the Ewncyclopédie hovered a conspiracy to destroy religion
and undermine the state. The parlement promptly banned the
sale of the Encyclopédie and appointed a commission to in-
vestigate it. But though it had hunted witches for centuries,
the parlement had never gained control over the printed
word in France.

That authority belonged to the king, who exercised it
through his chancellor, who delegated it to the Directeur de
la librairie, who in this case happened to be Malesherbes. On
March 8, 1759, the Conseil d’Etat reaffirmed the king’s author-
ity by taking the destruction of the Encyclopédie into its own
hands. It revoked the book’s privilege and forbade the pub-
lishers to continue it, noting, by way of explanation, the
strategy that its authors had pursued: ‘‘Ladite Encyclopédie,
étant devenue un dictionnaire complet et un traité général
de toutes les sciences, serait bien plus recherchée du public et
bien plus souvent consultée, et que par 14 on répandrait encore
davantage et on accréditerait en quelque sorte les perni-
cieuses maximes dont les volumes déja distribués sont rem-
plis.””* The Ewncyclopédie went onto the Index on March 5,
1759, accompanied by De I’Esprit, and on September 3 Pope
Clement XII warned all Catholics who owned it to have it
burned by a priest or to face excommunication. It was hardly
possible for a book to be condemned more completely. The
Encyclopédie had run afoul of the most important authorities
of the Old Regime, yet it survived. Its survival marked a
turning point in the Enlightenment and in the history of
books in general.

Sometime in the course of this ecrisis, Diderot, who had
been writing away behind locked doors, learned from Male-
sherbes that his papers were about to be seized by the police
—and that they could be saved by being deposited with
Malesherbes himself, who had just issued the order for their
confiscation. Malesherbes also seemed to be behind the com-
promise that finally saved the entire enterprise. On July 21,

4. Arrét du Conseil of March 8, 1759, quoted ibid., p. 26.
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1759, an arrét du Conseil required the publishers to refund
72 livres to each subscriber, ostensibly as a way of closing
their accounts. In fact, however, the government permitted
them to apply the money to a Recueil de mille planches .
sur les Sciences, les Arts libéraux et les Arts mécaniques,
which was nothing but the plates of the Encyclopédie under a
new title. Having regained a legal hold on their speculation
by a new privilege, issued for the Recueil de planches on
September 8, 1759, the publishers proceeded to print the last
ten volumes of text. In order to minimize scandal, the volumes
appeared all at once in 1765, under the false imprint ‘‘A
NEUFCHASTEL,/ CHEZ SAMUEL FAULCHE & Compagnie, Libraires
& Imprimeurs.”’ And to make doubly sure, L.e Breton purged
the text in page proofs, while Diderot’s back was turned. Al-
though he never forgave the publisher for this atrocité, Dide-
rot continued to labor on the plates, and the last two volumes
appeared in 1772, But the joy had gone out of the work.
Deserted by d’Alembert, Voltaire, and most of the other
writers who had rallied around him in the early 1750s, Dide-
rot threw the last volumes together haphazardly, leaning
more and more on the faithful Jaucourt, who copied and com-
piled tirelessly and saw the book through to the end. Diderot
ended it in a state of disappointment and disillusion. Looking
back at the result of twenty-five years of labor, he described
the Encyclopédie as a monstrosity, which needed to be re-
written from beginning to end.®* His verdict touched off a
series of projects to remodel the book that culminated in the
even more monstrous Encyclopédie méthodique, for Le Bre-
ton’s successors, and booksellers everywhere in Europe, con-
sidered Diderot’s work too faulty to be left untouched and
too lucrative to be left alone. But whatever its faults, its
completion counts as one of the great victories for the human
spirit and the printed word.

In permitting Diderot’s text to appear in print, despite its
formal illegality, the state gave the philosophes an oppor-
tunity to try their wares on the market place of ideas. But
what resulted from this breakthrough in the traditional re-

5. Diderot produced his eriticism for Charles Joseph Panckoucke, a publisher
who was soliciting permission to produce a completely revised edition of the
Encyclopédie in 1768. The original text of Diderot’s memoir is missing, but part
of it was published during the lawsuit of Luneau de Boisjermain and reprinted in
Diderot’s Oeuvres complétes, ed. J. Assézat and M. Tourneux (Paris, 1875-77),
XX, 129-33.
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straints on the press in France? By concentrating on the
duel between the Encyclopedists and the powers of the Old
Regime, historians have told only half the story. The other
half concerns some basic questions in the history of eight-
eenth-century books. First, is it possible to situate the work
in a social context? Where did the Encyclopedists come from,
and where did the Ewncyclopédies go? Second, how did the
later editions emerge from the first, and what do they reveal
about the operations of the publishing industry?

Research on the social background of the Enecyclopedists
has turned on the question of whether they can be considered
bourgeois who shaped the consciousness of their class and
helped to establish industrial capitalism in the eighteenth
century. To an older generation of Marxist scholars, the
answer to that question was an unqualified—and an undocu-
mented—yes.® But a younger generation of social historians
has found all sorts of complexities and contradictions within
the eighteenth-century bourgeoisie, while economic historians
have failed to turn up much evidence of industrialization in
France before the second half of the nineteenth century.
Faced with so much ambiguity in the sister disciplines and
with a general change in the intellectual climate, literary
scholars have been challenged to adopt a révolution con-
ceptuelle in the study of the Encyclopédie. The call has come
from Jacques Proust, the leading authority on the Encyclo-
pédie in France, who argues that the Encyclopedists must be
understood as a peculiar group, a société encyclopédique with
an underlying formation structurée, although they also can
be identified with the bourgeoisie.” This analytical approach
has led to some important research, but after wading into the

6. Albert Soboul, Encyclopédie ou Dictionnaire raisonné des Sciences, des Arts
et des Métiers (Paris, 1952), pp. 7-24. Soboul goes so far as to treat Diderot’s
esthetics as a prophetic version of socialist realism in painting (p. 179), although
he concedes that the philosophes failed to attain Stalin’s concept of the nation
(p. 149) and that Enecyclopedism had to wait for Stalinism to reach funll perfec-
tion: ‘‘L’esprit encyclopédique se réalise librement et pleinement dans la seule
société affranchie du capitalisme et de 1’exploitation de 1’homme par 1’homme, la
société sans classes dont 1’Encyclopédie soviétique est le reflet’’ (p. 23).

7. Jacques Proust, ‘‘ Questions sur 1’Encyclopédie,’’ Revue d’histoire littéraire
de la France, LXXII (Jan.-Feb. 1972), 45. Proust’s ‘‘revolution’’ apparently
would proceed from a social analysis of the Enecyclopedists to a structuralist
analysis of their texts. For research on the Enecyclopedists as a group see the
Bibliographical Note.
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data, the researchers have generally found that ‘‘structures’’
and ‘‘bourgeois’’ disappear in the welter of information about
individuals; and even so, their information is incomplete.
The authors of almost two-fifths of the articles cannot be
identified; and almost one-third of the identifiable authors
wrote only one article, while workhorses like Diderot, the
abbé Mallet, and Boucher d’Argis produced the bulk of the
book. The chevalier de Jaucourt, a nobleman who could trace
his lineage well back into the Middle Ages, wrote about one-
fourth of the entire text, but no one would argue that the
Encyclopédie was a quarter aristocratic, especially as many
of Jaucourt’s contributions contain only a few lines and look
trivial in comparison with a treatise like vixaTiEME by Damil-
aville, who wrote only three articles.

Given the unrepresentativeness of the articles whose au-
thors can be identified and the unevenness of the contributions
of those authors, how can one find a meaningful standard of
measurement in order to study the Encyclopedists sociologi-
cally? Even if one lumps them all together and sorts them
into socio-occupational categories, they do not look very
bourgeois, at least not in the modern, capitalist sense of the
term. Only 4 percent were merchants or manufacturers. The
same proportion came from the titled nobility, and both
groups seem small in comparison with doctors and surgeons
(15 percent), administrative officials (12 percent), and even
clerics (8 percent). What identified the Encyclopedists as a
group was not their social position but their commitment to
a cause. To be sure, many of them retreated when the cause
was most in danger, but they left their mark on the book,
and the book came to epitomize the Enlightenment. Through
scandal, persecution, and sheer survival, the Encyclopédie
became recognized, by friends and enemies alike, as the
summa of a great intellectual movement, and the men behind
it became known not merely as collaborators but as Encyclo-
pédistes. Their work signaled the emergence of an ‘‘ism.’’®

How Encyclopedism fared on the market place immedi-
ately after the Encyclopedists had finished their work is
difficult to say because the papers of Le Breton and his as-

8. The above percentages have been calculated from the information on con-
tributors in Jaeques Proust, Diderot et 1’‘‘ Encyclopédie’’ (Paris, 1967), chap. 1
and Annexe 1 and in John Lough, The Contributors to the ‘‘ Encyclopédie’’ (Lon-
don, 1973). For further details see Chapters VIII and IX.
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sociates have almost completely disappeared. Some evidence
in the rather unreliable material produced during the lawsuit
of Luneau de Boisjermain indicates that the first folio edition
did not sell widely in France: only one-half or perhaps even
one-quarter of the copies remained within the kingdom.® But
the publishers made a fortune from it. On an initial invest-
ment of about 70,000 livres, their profit may have reached as
much as 2,500,000 livres. Net income came to approximately
4,000,000 livres and net costs to something in the range of
1,500,000 to 2,200,000 livres, of which about 80,000 went to
Diderot.!* Those were spectacular sums for the eighteenth
century, and the publishers were only able to deal in them
by tapping capital from the subscribers. Thanks to this flow
of cash, the Encyclopédie financed itself by 1751, although the
paper and printing for the last ten volumes of text, which
were issued simultaneously, must have required a heavy out-
lay of cash.

The business seems to have been run like many speculations
in publishing. On October 18, 1745, L.e Breton and his three
associates signed a tratté de société, establishing a capital
fund of 20,000 livres and dividing shares among themselves
according to the proportions of their contributions: Le Breton

9. The publishers claimed that three-quarters of the edition went to foreign
subscribers, but they probably exaggerated the importance of foreign sales in
order to indicate that in opposing Luneau they were contributing to the welfare
of the entire nation by promoting a favorable balance of trade. See John Lough,
‘‘Luneau de Boisjermain v. the Publishers of the Encyclopédie,”’ Studies on
Voltaire and the Eighteenth Century, ed. Theodore Besterman, XXIII (1963),
132-133.

10. These estimates are based on fragments of the publishers’ accounts and
other material connected with the Luneau case, later published by Louis-Philippe
May: ¢‘Histoire et sources de 1’Encyclopédie d’aprés le registre de délibérations
et de comptes des éditeurs et un mémoire inédit,’’ Revue de synthése, XV (1938),
7-110. In ‘“The Encyclopédie as a Business Venture,’’ From the Ancien Régime
to the Popular Front: Essays in the History of Modern France in Homnor of
Shepard B. Clough, ed. Charles K. Warner (New York and London, 1969), pp.
19-20, Ralph H. Bowen argues that these documents confirm Diderot’s contention
that receipts totaled 4,000,000 livres, expenses 1,500,000 livres, and profits
2,500,000 livres. But Luneau manipulated the evidence to suggest that the pub-
lishers gouged the subscribers, and a closer reading of it by Lough (‘‘Luneau de
Boisjermain v. the Publishers of the Encyclopédie,”’ p. 167) shows that the ex-
penses probably came to at least 2,205,839 livres. In fact, the Luneau material is
too contentious to support firm conclusions, especially as difficulties concerning
bill collecting cut badly into the profits of eighteenth-century publishers, who
allowed for them in their financial statements under rubries like recouvrement
and mauvais débiteurs.
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acquired an interest of three-sixths and the others one-sixth
apiece. Supplementary articles allotted Le Breton a fixed sum
per sheet for printing expenses, so the associates delegated
the responsibility of production to him, and he did as well as
he could within the terms fixed by the contract.* Precisely
how he managed this enormous task cannot be known, nor is
it possible to learn much about how he supplied the cus-
tomers and who they were. The Luneau material contains the
names of about seventy-five subscribers. Most of them were
noblemen, including several eminent courtiers—the Vicomte de
Noailles, the Maréchal de Mouchy, the Duc de la Valliére—
and several magistrates of the parlements and bailliages. The
rest came mainly from the law, the clergy, and the upper
echelons of the royal administration. Only two were mer-
chants.’? Of course those few names, bandied about in the
polemics of a lawsuit, hardly constitute a representative
sample of all 4,000 subscribers. About all one can conclude
from the publishing history of the first edition is that its text
came from a disparate group of writers who were united by
a common commitment to the task; that its luxurious folio
volumes went to wealthy and well-born readers scattered
across Europe; and that it was extremely lucrative.

One of the first persons to draw that last conclusion was an
aggressive publisher from Lille named Charles Joseph Panec-
koucke, who had set up business in Paris in 1762 after a brief
apprenticeship with Le Breton. Panckoucke cultivated philo-
sophes, especially Buffon, Voltaire, and Rousseau; he also
courted protectors in the government. By 1768 he had become
the official bookseller of the Imprimerie Royale and the
Académie royale des Sciences, and he was well on his way to
becoming the dominant figure in the French press, thanks to
an interlocking set of government-granted monopolies cover-
ing periodical literature. On December 16, 1768—four years
before the final volumes of plates were published—Panc-
koucke and two associates, a bookseller named Jean Dessaint
and a papermaker called Chauchat, bought the rights to fu-

11. For the texts of the contracts and additions see May, ‘¢ Histoire et sources
de 1’Encyclopédie,’’ pp. 15-17, 25.

12. Lough, ‘‘Luneau de Boisjermain v. the Publishers of the Encyclopédie,’’
pp. 133-140.
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ture editions of the Encyclopédie and the copper plates for
the illustrations from Le Breton and his partners.'®

While the original publishers completed their printing of
the plates, the new consortium lobbied for permission to pro-
duce a refonte or totally revised edition. Panckoucke recruited
Diderot to help in this effort, and Diderot complied with
an eloquent memoir that argued the case for a new Encyclo-
pédie by recounting the faults of the old one. The chancellor,
Maupeou, refused this request, although the Duc de Choiseul,
a more liberal figure who was about to be ousted from the
government, authorized a reprint of the original text. These
difficulties scared off Dessaint and Chauchat, but Panckoucke
bought back their shares, transformed them into shares in a
speculation on the reprint, and on June 26, 1770, sold them
again to a new set of partners. These partners eventually
included Voltaire’s publisher, Gabriel Cramer, and Samuel
de Tournes in Geneva; Pierre Rousseau, the director of the
Société typographique de Bouillon; and two Parisians, a
notary called Lambot and a bookseller called Brunet. Nine
months later, on April 12, 1771, Panckoucke formed another
separate association, this time for a set of Suppléments,
which would correct the erors and fill the gaps of the original
text. This Société was made up of the speculators on the
reprint, except for Lambot, who probably had sold out to
Panckoucke early in 1771, and the two Genevans, who had
meant to join but finally dropped out; it also included Marc-
Michel Rey, Rousseau’s publisher in Amsterdam, and Jean-
Baptiste Robinet, a man of letters who was to edit the
Supplément.** Thus what had begun as a modest partnership

13. Durand died in 1763 and the other partners divided his 1/6 share, so in
1768 Le Breton owned 10/18 of the speculation and David and Briasson each
owned 4/18. Panckoucke and his two partners each acquired 1/3 of the new
speculation. The following account of the publishing history of the Encyclopédie
and the Supplément from 1768 to 1776 is derived mainly from the work of Watts,
Lough, Clément, and Birn cited in the Bibliographical Note.

14. In their correspondence, the publishers usually referred to the Supplément
in the singular, as it appeared on its title page, but they sometimes talked of
Suppléments in the plural. According to the original ‘¢Acte de Bouillon’’ of
April 12, 1771, in dossier Marc-Michel Rey, Bibliotheek van de Vereeniging ter
Bevordering van de Belangen des Boekhandels of Amsterdam, the shares in the
association for the Supplément were to be divided as follows: 6/24 to Cramer and
de Tournes, 6/24 to Rousseau, 3/24 to Rey, 3/24 to Robinet, 4/24 to Panckoucke,
and 2/24 to Brunet. After the Genevans withdrew from the enterprise, their
shares were divided between Panckoucke and Brunet. It is impossible to follow
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among three Parisian booksellers grew into two international
consortia, built on a system of overlapping alliances among
the most powerful publishers of the IEnlightenment.

The subsequent history of the Encyclopédie has a good deal
in common with eighteenth-century diplomacy: baroque in-
trigue and sudden reversals mixed with warfare. The first
publishers had been attacked by some pirates from England
in 1751; and although they apparently put an end to the
threat of an Knglish Encyclopédie by paying ransom, they
could not prevent two folio editions from being produced in
Italy. The first began to appear in 1758 in the republic of
Lucea, and the second followed suit from Leghorn, beginning
in 1770. Although both became mired in delays and difficulties,
they conquered some of the Ewncyclopédie market outside
France, especially south of the Alps. The northern market
then fell in large part to a renegade Italian monk called, in
the French version of his name, Fortuné-Barthélemy de
Félice. After setting up shop in the Swiss city of Yverdon
near Neuchétel, Félice announced that he would produce the
much-desired refonte of the Emncyclopédie—that is, a com-
pletely rewritten version in quarto format, which would draw
on contributions from savants all over Europe in order to
correct errors, fill gaps, and, as it developed, substitute some
sober Protestantism for the impieties of the original. Ency-
clopédie buyers therefore faced a choice: they could take
Diderot’s text with or without Robinet’s Supplément, or they
could order the purged and perfected version from Félice.

As millions of livres hung on those decisions, the publishers
soon became embroiled in a trade war. Against Panckoucke’s
dual alliance, which covered Geneva, Bouillon, and Amster-
dam, Félice mobilized two allies of his own: the Société typo-
graphique de Berne, which had helped him to found his
business (Yverdon was located in Bernois territory), and a
powerful bookdealer in The Hague named Pierre Gosse, who
traded extensively throughout northern Europe. Gosse and
the Bernois bought up Félice’s entire edition, leaving him to

the selling and reselling of shares in the separate speculation on the reprint, but
Panckoucke retained only a fraction of a fraction of his original interest in it.
By Oect. 26, 1770, Cramer and de Tournes owned 2/6 of it, Lambot apparently
owned 2/6, Rousseau owned 1/6, and Brunet owned part of the remaining 1/6
with Panckoucke.
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do the editing and printing while they handled the market-
ing.’® In prospectuses, circular letters, and journal advertise-
ments, they hammered away about the deficiencies of Diderot’s
work and the excellence of Félice’s. Now that Diderot’s repu-
tation has obliterated the memory of his rival, it is difficult
to appreciate the effectiveness of this propaganda. But the
Encyclopédie d’Yverdon had a good reception in the eight-
eenth century, and not only in pietistic corners of Germany
and Holland. Voltaire, whose Questions sur 1’Encyclopédie
resulted from a broken promise to contribute to the Supplé-
ment, said he would take Félice’s text over Diderot’s if he
were shopping for Ewncyclopédies.’® And Félice’s backers
promoted that attitude through journals like the Gazette de
Berne and the Gazette de Leyde, where they could manipulate
literary notices. In 1771, for example, Gosse rebuked the STN
for printing an unfavorable review of Félice’s first volume in
its own periodical, the Journal helvétique, and the STN im-
mediately changed its tack, for the simple reason that Gosse
was its biggest customer in the Low Countries.'?

The Panckoucke group replied in kind through its journals,

15. In a letter to the STN of July 16, 1779, Félice said he was printing 1,600
copies. On Jan. 18, 1771, Gosse informed the STN that he had bought 3/4 of the
edition and the Société typographique de Berne had bought 1/4. And in a letter
of July 30, 1771, he noted that he had taken over the entire edition. His son,
Pierre Gosse Junior, who succeeded him in 1774, told the STN in a letter of
July 16, 1779, that he was still receiving all 1,600 copies, as Félice neared the
end of his labor. These and all subsequent references to the STN come from the
papers of the Société typographique de Neuchitel, Bibliothéque de la ville de
Neuchitel, unless specified otherwise.

16. At first Voltaire showed nothing but scorn for Félice and his Encyclopédie.
Voltaire to d’Alembert, June 4, 1769, Voltaire’s Correspondance, ed. Theodore
Besterman (Geneva, 1962), LXXII, 60. But by 1771 he had decided that Félice
had got the better of Panckoucke: ¢‘Ils [Félice’s contributors] ont 1’avantage de
corriger dans leur édition beaucoup de fautes grossiéres, qui fourmillent dans
1’Encyclopédie de Paris et que Panckoucke et Dessaint ont eu 1’imprudence de
réimprimer. Cette faute capitale les force & donner un supplément, qui renchérit
le livre, et on aura 1’édition d’Yverdon & une fois meilleur marché. Pour moi,
je sais bien que j’acheterai 1’édition d’Yverdon et non 1’autre.’’ Voltaire to
Gabriel Cramer, [Dec. 1770], ibid., LXXVII, 163. In 1777 Voltaire proposed that
his Questions sur l’Encyclopédie, which he had originally undertaken for Panec-
koucke’s Supplément, be incorporated into Panckoucke’s quarto edition, but this
project never came to anything. See Voltaire to Henri Rieu, Jan. 13, 1777, ibid.,
XCVI, 27.

17. Gosse to STN, Jan. 18, July 1, and July 30, 1771. For further information
on Félice and his conflicts with the rival Encyclopédie publishers see E. Maccabez,
F. B. de Félice (1723-1789) et son Encyclopédie (Yverdon, 1770-1780) (Basel,
1903) and J. P. Perret, Les Imprimeries d’Yverdon auw XVIIe et au XVIIie
siécle (Lausanne, 1945).
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mainly Panckoucke’s Journal des savants and Rousseau’s
Journal encyclopédique. Cramer even sent Rousseau detailed
instructions about how to ridicule Félice: instead of seeming
to take the Protestant Encyclopédie seriously, the Journal
encyclopédique should stress the absurdity of an obscure
Italian, who could not even write decent French, attempting
to correct a text produced by the finest philosophes in all of
France.’® Félice answered that he merely expunged the ab-
surdities of Diderot’s text and assembled articles supplied
by authorities like Albrecht von Haller and Charles Bonnet,
who made Diderot’s contributors look outmoded. He went on
to offer his subseribers a supplement of their own that would
incorporate anything worthwhile from Robinet’s Supplément
in a more up-to-date survey of the current arts and sciences.
And in 1775 he went further: he announced that he would
produce his supplement in a folio as well as a quarto edition
and that he would fill the folio with the most important origi-
nal material from the main text of the Encyclopédie d’Yver-
don. This move struck at the heart of the rival publication
because Robinet had aimed his Supplément at the owners
of all the folio editions—the Encyclopédies of Liucea, Leghorn,
and Paris as well as the Panckoucke-Cramer reprint. By
ordering their supplements from Félice, the owners of the
folios could combine the standard version of the Encyclopédie
with the modern revisions of it, and the bottom would drop
out of Robinet’s market.

Panckoucke then attempted to snare Félice’s subscribers
by announcing a quarto edition of Robinet’s Supplément.
This counterattack never got anywhere because an open sup-
plement war was certain to hurt Robinet far more than Félice,
as the owners of folio Encyclopédies outnumbered the sub-
scribers of Félice’s quarto by a factor of at least six to one.
In the end, therefore, Panckoucke sued for peace. He agreed
to withdraw his quarto if Félice would withdraw the folio,
and both sides promised to exchange their printed sheets so
that they could crib from one another with maximum effi-
ciency.

Meanwhile, Panckoucke ran into greater difficulties with his
more important enterprise, the reprint itself. In February

18. Cramer to Rousseau, July 23, 1771, quoted in John Lough, Essays on the
““ Encyclopédie’’ of Diderot and d’Alembert (London, 1968), 88.
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1770, following a denunciation by the General Assembly of
the French Clergy, the Parisian police seized 6,000 copies of
the first three volumes and walled them up under a vault in the
Bastille, where they remained for six years, despite every-
thing Panckoucke could do to get them released by pulling
strings and greasing palms. After this catastrophe, the pub-
lishers of the reprint decided to move it from Paris to the
printing shops of Cramer and de Tournes in Geneva. But no
sooner had Cramer and de Tournes begun setting type than
the Genevan Venerable Company of Pastors tried to force
them to stop by denouncing them to the civil authorities.
While Cramer argued his case before the city’s Magnificent
Council, Panckoucke secretly maneuvered to cut him out of
the speculation and to transfer it to Bouillon and Amsterdam,
where it could be reconstructed by Robinet, Rousseau, and
Rey as a refonte once again. But Rey refused to go along with
such a spectacular and costly reversal of policy, and Cramer
eventually won over the city fathers of Geneva, who appreci-
ated the importance of his operation for the local economy.
Cramer placated the pastors with an offer to tone down
d’Alembert’s controversial article cENEve, which made them
look like deists, and to let them purge anything that wounded
their Calvinism in the text of the Supplément. This arrange-
ment did not settle all the problems of the reprint because the
French authorities continued to keep the first three volumes
in the Bastille and Panckoucke continued to flirt with other
printers. But these difficulties did not lead to anything more
than some sharp remarks in the correspondence between
Geneva and Paris. In the end, the Genevans not only kept the
lucrative printing job in their own hands but also redid
volumes 1 through 3 and made an attempt to take over the
Supplément.

When he put together the complementary speculation on
the Supplément in April 1771, Panckoucke had offered Cra-
mer and de Tournes a 6/24 share in it. They were also to get
the printing commission, but before accepting, they demanded
that they be given control over the subsecription and finances
and that Robinet move his editorial operation to Geneva.
Hoping to keep Robinet in Bouillon and to get the printing
transferred there, Rousseau vetoed this proposal, and Rey
supported him. The Genevans responded in November 1771
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by withdrawing from the Supplément altogether. Then, for
almost a year, the remaining partners squabbled about how
to divide the outstanding shares of 6/24 and where to locate
the printing. Panckoucke and Brunet finally bought the shares
and agreed to advance the capital for the printing operation.
In return they forced Rousseau and Rey to let them negotiate
with the French authorities for a Parisian printing or, failing
that, to abandon the printing to Cramer, for they insisted that
Geneva would serve as a better base for smuggling than
Bouillon. Having buried this bone of contention, Panckoucke
and Rousseau then became entangled in a dispute over their
journals. Panckoucke wanted to reserve the French market
for his newest acquisition, the Journal historique et politique
de Genéve, while Rousseau fought to keep France open for the
Journal de politique and the Journal encyclopédique, which
he published in Bouillon. Thanks to the protection of the
foreign minister, Panckoucke finally forced Rousseau to pay
5,000 livres a year for the right to distribute the Bouillon
journals in France, and at the same time he won over Robinet,
who dabbled in the intrigues against Rousseau’s journals
while putting together the copy for the Supplément in Bouil-
lon. By February 1776, the plots and subplots had become
more than Rousseau could bear. He sold his 6/24 share in the
Supplément to the Parisian printer Jean-Georges-Antoine
Stoupe, who proceeded to print it in Paris, while Rey pro-
duced an edition in Amsterdam. The two editions, each con-
taining four volumes of text and one of plates, were
completed in 1777.

By this time Cramer had finished the reprint. Although he
had filled his letters to Panckoucke with lamentations about
the difficulties of the enterprise, it probably succeeded well
enough because at several points he and de Tournes offered
to buy out all the other partners. No one would part with his
shares, however, and by June 13, 1775, Panckoucke and the
Genevans felt ready to reach a settlement, even though the
printing would continue for another year and Panckoucke
would have to make a later settlement with the partners to
whom he had sold portions of his original interest. In the
Genevan agreement of June 13, 1775, Panckoucke terminated
the partnership by paying the Genevans 200,000 livres against
their one-third share in the profits, while they promised to
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administer the final stage of production and sales in his in-
terest. At that point, the profits came to only 71,039 livres,
but about 670 of the 2,000 copies remained to be sold. If they
could be marketed at the subscription price of 840 livres
apiece, they would fetch 562,800 livres. Of course much of that
sum would be eaten away by delays, booksellers’ discounts,
defaults in the payments, and the loss of the 6,000 copies of
volumes 1 to 3, which Panckoucke valued at 45,000 livres.
But even if Panckoucke and his hidden partners cleared only
400,000 livres (the equivalent, considering their two-thirds
share, of the Genevans’ 200,000 livres), they would have had
a good return on their investment.®

As the Geneva folio had a relatively low pressrun and a
high price, it did not represent much of an expansion of the
Encyclopédie market. Nor did the Suppléments, which filled
some of the gaps in Diderot’s text but without Diderot’s verve.
In the long run Félice’s work probably did not have a great
impact on the audience of the Encyclopédie. It never pene-
trated France because the authorities successfully prohibited
it, and it even floundered elsewhere in Europe because IFélice
kept expanding its size, raising its price, and delaying its
completion. By 1780, when he issued the last of his fifty-eight
volumes, ten years after the first, he had lost a great many
subscribers, and the publishers of the cheaper quarto and
octavo editions of Diderot’s Encyclopédie had cut into his
market. It was through those editions that the original text,
and also the Supplément, reached ordinary readers every-
where in Europe. Having put together and taken apart sev-
eral international consortia, having done battle against
partners and competitors alike, and having learned to operate
with the backing of the government rather than in defiance of

19. The full text of the complex contract signed by Panckoucke, Cramer, and
de Tournes in Geneva on June 13, 1775, is printed in Lough, Essays, pp. 102-108.
It is difficult to say why Panckoucke bought out the Genevans instead of settling
the speculation by apportioning the profits according to shares after the distribu-
tion of the final volumes. He probably wanted to wind up the Genevan enterprise
quickly and cleanly so that he could move on to other speculations. His payments
actually come to 130,000 livres, spread out over three years because he deducted
the current profits, evaluated at 70,000 livres, from the 200,000 he agreed to pay
for the Genevan shares. He also took over uncollected credits with a paper value
of 152,020 livres. The exact number of unsold Encyclopédies that he acquired can-
not be known because the original contract for the edition had set the pressrun
at 2,000, with a surplus of 150 to cover spoiled sheets, and there is no way to
find out the actual spoilage.
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it, Panckoucke was ready to speculate on Encyclopedism for
the grand public.

Before taking up the story of how the Encyclopédie reached
the general reading public, it is worth looking back over the
early history of the book to see whether any connecting
themes run through its twists and turns. From 1749, when
Le Breton and his associates petitioned the government to
release Diderot from the prison in Vincennes, until 1776,
when Panckoucke persuaded it to free the 6,000 volumes from
the Bastille, two objectives stand out in the maneuvers of the
publishers : they wanted to appease the state, and they wanted
to make money.?’ But the Encyclopédie sold for the same rea-
son that prompted the government to confiscate it: it chal-
lenged the traditional values and established authorities of
the Old Regime. The publishers sought a way out of this
dilemma by toning down the text. Not only did Le Breton
emasculate the last ten volumes, but Panckoucke planned to
restrain the philosophie of his refonte as well, when he lob-
bied for permission to print it in 1768—or so the backers of
the Encyclopédie d’Yverdon claimed during the early battles
of their commercial war. In a printed circular, Gosse warned
the booksellers of Kurope to beware of bowdlerization:

C’est sur des avis recus de trés bonne part de Paris qu’il a été fait
mention dans nos avis que Messieurs les libraires de Paris, en de-
mandant un nouveau privilége, s’étaient engagés de retrancher dans
cette nouvelle édition tous les articles qui ont pu choquer le gouverne-
ment dans la premiére édition, tout comme nous tenons des avis de
trés bonne part que ce nouveau privilége leur est refusé et que
Monseigneur le Chancelier et le Parlement s’opposent & la réimpres-
sion de I’Encyclopédie en France. Tous ceux qui sont instruits des
persécutions que les auteurs et les premiers éditeurs ont essuyées en
France comprendront facilement qu’un pays de liberté convient seul
pour la perfection de cet ouvrage.?!

20. On the day of Diderot’s arrest, July 24, 1749, the publishers appealed to
the Comte d’Argenson, the minister who had ordered it, by emphasizing its eco-
nomic consequences: ‘‘Cet ouvrage, qui nous cofitera au moins deux cent cinquante
mille livres, était sur le point d’8tre annoncé au public. La détention de M.
Diderot, le seul homme de lettres que nous connaissions eapable d’une aussi vaste
entreprise et qui possdde seul la clef de toute cette opération, peut entrainer
notre ruine.’’ Letter quoted in John Lough, The ‘‘Encyclopédie’’ (New York,
1971), p. 18.

21. Circular from Pierre Gosse and Daniel Pinet of The Hague, dated Aug. 2,
1769, and sent to the STN. In a letter to Marc-Michel Rey of Oect. 26, 1770,
Panckoucke indicated that Gosse’s version of his activities was not far from the
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Of course perfection for Félice also meant cutting philoso-
phie and, furthermore, substituting Protestantism for Cathol-
icism in the articles that had won the blessings of the French
censors—a tactic that was designed to please the authorities
in Bern but not those in Versailles. When he reviewed the
idea of a refonte in his unsuccessful proposal to transfer the
printing operation from Geneva to Amsterdam and Bouillon
in 1770, Panckoucke made it clear that he put commercial
considerations above everything else: ‘Il ne faudra point se
permettre aucune hardiesse impie qui puisse effrayer les
magistrats. Au contraire il faudra que tout 1’ouvrage soit
écrit avec beaucoup de sagesse, de modération, qu’il puisse
méme mériter des encouragements de votre gouvernement
... C’est ici une affaire d’argent, de finance, ou tout le
monde peut s’intéresser.’’?®> Business was business, even if
it involved Enlightenment. Similarly, the Supplément turned
into a cautious venture, ideologically if not commercially. The
agreement of April 12, 1771, envisaged a cast of savants
rather than philosophes, and Robinet promised to direct
them toward the natural sciences rather than philosophy. The
contract bound him to ‘‘écrire les Suppléments avec sagesse
et 4 n’y rien admettre contre la religion, les bonnes moeurs
et le gouvernement, les Suppléments ayant pour principal ob-
jet la perfection des sciences naturelles.”’?® Given this em-
phasis, it hardly seems surprising that Panckoucke succeeded

truth because he explained that he (Panckoucke), Dessaint, and Chauchat had
lobbied for permission to do the refonte for six months, hoping ‘‘que le gouverne-
ment permettrait la refonte de 1’ouvrage en supprimant les artiecles qui avaient
pu déplaire.’’ Letter quoted in Fernand Clément, ¢‘Pierre Rousseau et 1’édition
des Suppléments de 1’Encyclopédie,”’ Revue des sciences humaines, LXXXVI
(April-June 1957), 140.

22. Panckoucke to Rey, Oct. 26, 1770, quoted ibid., p. 141.

23. Ibid., p. 136. The prospective contributors named in the agreement in-
cluded d’Alembert for physies, Albrecht von Haller for anatomy, J.-J. de Lalande
and Jean Bernouilli the younger for astronomy, Antoine Louis for surgery,
Antoine Petit for medicine, L.-F.-G. de Keralio for tactiecs, Philibert Gueneau de
Montbéliard for artillery, Nicolas de Beauzée for grammar, and J.-F. de La
Harpe for literature. Nearly all these men were recruited by Panckoucke several
years later to write for the Encyclopédie méthodique, in some respects an exten-
sion of the Supplément. Robinet failed to recruit several of the writers mentioned
in the agreement, and he recruited many more who were not mentioned—about
fifty in all, including Condorecet and Marmontel as well as hacks like J.-L. Carra
and J.-L. Castilhon, who each wrote about 400 articles. See Lough, The Con-
tributors to the < Encyclopédie,’’ pp. 54—69.
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not only in transferring the printing to Paris but also in
getting a privilege for it.?*

While Panckoucke steered the Encyclopédie toward official
orthodoxy, the officials moved closer to Encyclopedism. Dur-
ing the last years of Louis XV’s reign, the government had
actually increased the severity of its policy toward books,
but the reign of Louis XVI began under the influence of an
Encyclopedist, Turgot. Panckoucke’s confiscated Encyclo-
pédies were released from the Bastille, and his later specula-
tions thrived under a series of reforming ministers who not
only relaxed the state’s control of the book trade but also
consulted him about how to do it. The Malesherbes tradition,
which had lapsed after Malesherbes left the Direction de la
librairie in 1763, revived in time to stimulate an Encyclopédie
boom, which began in 1776 and continued until the Revolution.

The legalization of the Ewncyclopédie also helps explain
the connecting links in the series of speculations on the book
between 1745 and 1789. Legality in publishing derived from a
privilege, the exclusive right to reproduce a text, granted by
the grace of the king, administered through the Direction de
la librairie, and registered with the Communauté des libraires
et des imprimeurs of Paris. Although they had something
in common with modern copyrights, book privileges, like
privileges in general under the Old Regime, involved ancient
notions and institutions—the authority of the king, a baroque
bureaucracy, and a monopolistic guild. By granting a privi-
lege, the king did not merely allow a book to come into being:
he put his stamp of approval on it; he recommended it to his
subjects, speaking through one or more censors who expati-
ated on its importance and even its style in long-winded
permissions and approbations that were usually printed in
the book along with a formal letire de privilége from the king.
Privileges were also properties, which could be bought and
sold, divided into shares, and willed from husband to wife
and father to son. But they extended only as far as the king’s
authority. Outside the kingdom, other publishers could re-
print a French text as often as they pleased, unless their own

24. The privilege, conveying the exclusive right to print and reprint the work
for twelve years, was entered in the Registre des priviléges of the Communauté
des libraires et des imprimeurs de Paris (referred to hereafter as the booksellers’
guild) on Feb. 10, 1776. Bibliothéque nationale, ms. Fr. 21967, p. 94.

27



The Business of Enlightenment

governments objected. The privileged publisher in France
might cry out about piracy, but he could only ask the Direc-
teur de la librairie, the customs officials, the guild inspectors,
and the police to close the borders to the rival edition and to
confiscate any copies that might reach the domestic market.

The whole system stimulated the production of French
books outside France because the spread of the French lan-
guage had created a demand for cheap, pirated editions every-
where in Europe and because only books of unalloyed
orthodoxy could be published legally within the kingdom.
By its very nature, the organization of publishing in France
forced the Enlightenment underground and into exile—into
the printing shops of Amsterdam, Bouillon, Geneva, and
Neuchétel; for how could the king sanction the printing of
texts that challenged the basic values of the regime? The
rigidity of privilege kept a multimillion-livre industry beyond
the pale of the law. Faced with this dilemma, administrators
like Malesherbes encouraged the development of a grey area
of quasi-legality in publishing. They granted permissions
tacites, permissions simples, tolérances, and permissions de
police—that is, authorizations for books to appear without
the royal imprimatur, though also without formal and ex-
clusive property rights attached to them. If the clergy or
parlements protested against an unorthodox book, the gov-
ernment would not seem to have sponsored it and could
promise to have it confiscated, taking care, on some occasions,
to warn its publishers in time for them to save their stock.?

The struggle to print and reprint the Encyclopédie took
place at the center and all around the edges of this complex
and contradictory system. The original publishers actually
took out three privileges for the text, one in April 1745, one
in January 1746, and one in April 1748. Each corresponded
to a stage in the expansion of the original plan to publish a
four-volume translation of Ephraim Chambers’s Cyclopaedia,

25. For a general discussion of the various degrees of legality in eighteenth-
century publishing see Robert Darnton, ‘‘Reading, Writing, and Publishing in
Eighteenth-Century France: A Case Study in the Sociology of Literature,’’
Daedalus (winter, 1971), pp. 214-256. A great deal can be learned about the
institutional aspeets of publishing from the Almanach de 1’auteur et du libraire
(Paris, 1777) and the Almanach de la librairie (Paris, 1781) as well as from the
royal decrees on the book trade in A. J. L. Jourdan, O. O. Decrusy, and F. A.
Isambert, eds., Recueil général des ancienmes lois frangaises (Paris, 1822-33),
XVI, 217-251; XXV, 108-128.
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or Universal Dictionary of the Arts and Sciences, which had
first appeared in England in 1728. On March 8, 1759, however,
the government destroyed the rights to the final, full-blown
Encyclopédie by revoking its privilege. True, the publishers
continued production, but only under the cover of ‘‘une
tolérance tacite, inspirée par 1’intérét national,”’ as Diderot
put it.28

How, then, was it possible for Panckoucke to claim he had
bought the exclusive ‘‘droits’’ to the book from the Le Breton
association? This claim served as the basis for most of the
Encyclopédie speculations between 1768 and 1800, and Panc-
koucke asserted it in the most absolute manner, in all his letters
and contracts. In writing to Mare-Michel Rey, for example,
he stated, ‘“‘Vous n’ignorez pas que j’ai acquis il y a environ
18 mois avec M. Dessaint et un papetier de Paris nommé
M. Chauchat tous les droits et cuivres de 1’Encyclopédie.’’®
In his contract with Cramer and de Tournes for the Genevan
folio edition, he described himself as ‘‘propriétaire des droits
et cuivres de 1’ouvrage intitulé Dictionnaire encyclopédique.’’*®
Far from questioning those proprietary rights, other pub-
lishers acknowledged them. Thus the Société typographique
de Neuchitel observed in 1779 that Panckoucke could market
the Encyclopédie everywhere in France, owing to his ‘‘privi-
lége exclusif pour cet ouvrage.’’? EKighteenth-century pub-
lishers did not use such language lightly. They knew that
droits derived from priviléges, yet they recognized Panc-
koucke’s right to a book whose privilege had been destroyed.

The explanation of this paradox stands out in a contract
that Panckoucke signed with the Société typographique de
Neuchéatel on July 3, 1776 (see Appendix A.I). In it, Pan-
ckoucke identified himself, in his usual manner, as ‘‘proprié-
taire des droits et cuivres du Dictionnaire encyclopédique,’”’
and, as usual, he traced his ownership of the rights and the

26. Diderot, Au pubdlic et auxr magistrets as cuoted in Lough, ‘‘Luneau de
Boisjermain v. the Publishers of the Encyclopédie,’’ p. 132. Strictly speaking,
the arrét du Conseil of March 8, 1759, revoked the second of the three privileges,
and in his lawsuit, Luneau de Boisjermain argued that the contractual obligations
of the publishers, which were based on the final privilege, therefore remained in-
tact. But his argument turned on a techmicality or an oversight by the Conseil
d’Etat, and the court did not uphold it.

27. Panckoucke to Rey, Oect. 26, 1770, in Clément, ‘‘Pierre Rousseau et 1’édi-
tion des Suppléments de 1’Encyclopédie,’’ p. 140.

28. See the text of the contract printed in Lough, Essays, p. 67.

29. STN to Maréchal of Metz, Aug. 22, 1779.
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plates to his contract of December 16, 1768, with Le Breton,
David, and Briasson. He then noted that he had bought out his
own partners, Dessaint and Chauchat, in 1769 and 1770 and
that his exclusive rights to the book had been confirmed by a
royal privilege dated May 20, 1776, ‘‘sous le titre de Recueil
de Planches sur les Sciences, Arts et Métiers.”’ The register
of the Parisian booksellers’ guild for 1776 contains a privi-
lege under Panckoucke’s name for a work with precisely this
title, and a similar privilege appears in the first edition of the
Encyclopédie—not in volumes 1-7 of the text, which carry the
privilege that was revoked in 1759, but in volume 6 of
the plates, which appeared in 1768, when Panckoucke bought
the rights to the book from Le Breton and his associates.®°
The privilege in the plates states that it had been registered
in the booksellers’ guild on September 8, 1759—that is, just
at the time when the government saved the Ewncyclopédie,
after ostensibly destroying it, by letting Le Breton apply the
subscribers’ money to the volumes of plates.®® Thus the
rescue operation of 1759 was not merely an attempt to pre-
serve the publishers’ capital while permitting them to con-
tinue the printing in a semiclandestine manner. It restored
their claim to the ‘‘rights’’ of the book, property rights,
which had enormous commercial value in the book trade.
Consequently, when Panckoucke’s group bought out Le Bre-
ton’s group on December 16, 1768, they paid 200,000 livres
for ‘‘la totalité des droits dans les réimpressions futures et
dans la totalité des planches en cuivre.”” This huge sum
covered far more than the value of the copper plates, as the

30. Bibliothéque nationale, ms. Fr. 21967, p. 122, entry for March 29, 1776:
‘‘Notre aimé le Sr. Panckoucke, libraire, Nous a fait exposer qu’il désirerait faire
imprimer et donner au public les ouvrages intitulés Recueil des planches sur les
sciences, arts et métiers in-folio, Histoire générale des voyages par M. 1’abbé
Prevot [that is, Prévost], s’il Nous plaisait lui accorder nos lettres de privildge
pour ce nécessaires. A ces causes, voulant favorablement traiter 1’exposant, Nous
lui avons permis et permettons par ces présentes de faire imprimer lesdits
ouvrages autant de fois que bon lui semblera et de les vendre et débiter partout
Notre royaume pendant le temps de douze années consécutives.’’ No entry for
any such work exists under the date of May 20, 1776, but Panckoucke’s reference
to that date might have concerned his final acquisition of the privilege in the
Chancellerie rather than its registry with the guild.

31. As their title pages proclaimed, the plates appeared ‘‘avec approbation et
privilége du roi’’; but their title, Recueil de planches sur les sciences, les arts
libérauw, et les arts mécamiques, avec leur explication, did not indicate that they
had any connection with the Encyclopédie, which had been banned three years
before the appearance of their first volume,
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contract made clear, though it resorted to tortuous phrasing
when it described the nature of the ‘‘droits.’’2

In Panckoucke’s next speculation, the partnership of June
26, 1770, which resulted in the Genevan folio reprint, he let his
partners make use of his ‘‘droits’’ for one edition only, but
he insisted that the rights remain his.?® Similarly, when he
formed the association for the Supplément on April 12, 1771,
he required that the rights to the Supplément revert to him
after the completion of one edition.®* Then, in the spring of
1776, he confirmed his rights to the Recueil de planches by
taking out a new privilege, thereby substantiating his claim
to be ‘‘seul propriétaire’’ of the entire Encyclopédie, texts,
plates, and supplement. From this point on, he spoke of his
“privilége’’ as well as his ‘‘droits.”” And finally, when he
formed his partnership with the Société typographique de
Neuchétel, he was able to sell a half share in the ‘‘cuivres,
droits, et privilege’’ for 108,000 livres. Thus, after being out-
lawed, the Encyclopédie gradually regained a degree of le-
gality that had cash value in the eyes of publishers, even if
it did not protect Panckoucke’s 6,000 volumes from confisca-
tion in 1770; and it served as the basis for a series of specu-
lations that stretched into the 1770s and beyond, as one
consortium succeeded another and the publishers passed on
the book’s pedigree for ever-increasing sums.

32. According to the text printed in Lough, Essays, p. 59, Le Breton and his
partners stated that ‘‘nous vendons pour toujours aux sieurs Dessaint, Pan-
ckoucke et Chauchat tous nos droits dans les réimpressions & faire a4 1’avenir dudit
ouvrage de 1’Encyclopédie, nos dits droits tels qu’ils se poursuivent et qu’ils se
comportent, que lesdits sieurs acquéreurs ont dit bien connaitre et dont ils sont
contents; en conséquence de quoi ledit objet est par nous vendu sans aucune
garantie.”’ It might be thought that ownership of the copper plates meant de
facto control over future editions, as the text would be worthless without the
illustrations. Cramer once developed this argument in a letter to Panckoucke
(ibid., pp. 94-95), but it did not earry much weight. The quarto and octavo edi-
tions included only three of the eleven volumes of plates, and the publishers in
Leghorn offered to sell the text without the plates if their customers preferred.
What Panckoucke wanted was a legal claim to the book so that he could sell
shares in it and use it to fight off competitors. His behavior seems puzzling only
because modern concepts of legality and property do not suit eighteenth-century
practices.

33. The contract of June 26, 1770, printed in Lough, Essays, pp. 67-73,
specified that ‘¢ Messieurs Cramer et de Tournes n’entendent s’intéresser que dans
1’édition actuelle de deux mille exemplaires, et ne prétendent aucun droit de
propriété perpétuelle sur les droits et cuivres dudit ouvrage.’’

34. Article 22 of the contract in dossier Marc-Michel Rey, Bibliotheek van de
Vereeniging ter Bevordering van de Belangen des Boekhandels.

31



The Business of Enlightenment

Of course the pedigree remained ambiguous, and the suec-
cession of contracts and partnerships seems bizarre and con-
fusing today: a legalized illegal book? A privilege for a text
replaced by a privilege for some plates, even though the plates
appeared under a different title and the title did not include
such key words as Encyclopédie and Dictionnaire? ‘‘Rights’’
to this baroque hybrid, half illegitimate, half fictitious being
divided into tiny fractions and hawked around publishing
circles, not only in France, where privileges had some mean-
ing, but also in neighboring states, where publishers existed
by infringing them? It took an eighteenth-century mind to
devise such expedients, but they made sense in an eighteenth-
century context. The publishers needed to protect their in-
vestment, not merely to get on with their printing. They
wanted to buy and sell the rights to books as well as the books
themselves, to divide the rights into shares, and to deal the
shares out in partnerships, which could be taken apart and
put together again according to changes in circumstances.
That was how the publishing game was played—by endless
combinaisons, as Panckoucke put it.3®

To speculate on combinaisons for such high stakes required
something more than money: it called for protections, to use
another of Panckoucke’s favorite expressions. Publishers
needed protectors to make their rights stick, and rights with-
out protectors often proved to be worthless. The history of
the Encyclopédie therefore involved a great deal of lobbying
and influence peddling—successful in 1752 and 1759, when the
government saved the first edition; unsuccessful in 1770,
when it sacrificed the second edition to the clergy; and suec-
cessful again in 1776, when Panckoucke installed the Supplé-
ment in Paris with a privilege. From then until the end of
the century, Panckoucke and his allies fought to defend their
“rights’’ by currying favor with the government. Their de-
fense—and the attacks on it from Yverdon, Lyons, Lausanne,
Bern, and Liége—constitute a central theme in the following
pages. It is worth noting that the Encyclopédie depended on
combinaisons of money and power from the very beginning;
that political and economic interests interwined throughout
the earliest stages of its history; and that it worked its way
into the social fabric of France because its backers knew how

35. On Panckoucke’s notion of combinaisons see Chapter IX.
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to weave around the contradictions that characterized the
culture of the Old Regime.

To help the reader keep his bearings, it might be useful
to list the editions of the Encyclopédie with some of the basic
facts about them.

(1) The Paris folio (1751-1772) : it consisted of seventeen
volumes of text issued from 1751 to 1765 (the last ten ap-
peared simultaneously under the false imprint of Neuchéatel
in 1765) and eleven volumes of plates issued from 1762 to
1772. The publishers—an association formed on October 18,
1745, by Le Breton, David, Briasson, and Durand—set the
pressrun at 4,225 copies; but the number of complete sets
must have been smaller, owing to spoilage and attrition
among the subscribers, who did not always claim the later
volumes. Although the subscription price was originally set
at 280 livres, it eventually came to 980. In later years, the
market price increased to as much as 1,400 livres, but that
figure, quoted by the publishers of the cheaper editions, may
have included the Supplément and Table and even the bind-
ing.?®

The Supplément, in four folio volumes of text and one of
plates, was published in Paris and Amsterdam in 1776 and
1777, followed by a two-volume Table analytique in 1780. The
pressrun of the Supplément apparently came to 5,250 copies,
its price to 160 livres. It had no formal connection with the
original Encyclopédie and involved a new group of contribu-
tors and publishers.®”

36. The Gazette de Leyde of Jan. 3, 1777, carried an advertisement by the pub-
lishers of the quarto edition saying the Paris folio was then selling for 1,400
livres. The same figure occurs often in the correspondence of the STN. On June 8,
1777, for example, the STN told Considérant, a bookseller in Salins, that the first
edition had become extremely rare and commonly sold for 1,100 to 1,500 livres.
The prospectus for the Genevan reprint, dated Feb. 1771, said that the first edi-
tion ¢‘cofite aujourd’hui jusqu’i soixante louis [that is, 1,440 livres], quand on
peut la trouver, car les premiers volumes entr’autres sont d’une rareté extréme.’’
Lough, Essays, p. 76. That price probably included binding but not the Supplé-
ment and Table, which had not yet appeared.

37. The pressrun of the Supplément was set by the original contract of April
12, 1771, but it might have been modified later. See Clément, ‘‘Pierre Rousseau
et 1’édition des Suppléments de 1’Encyclopédie,”’ p. 136 and Raymond F. Birn,
Pierre Rousseau and the philosophes of Bouillon in Studies on Voltaire and the
Eighteenth Century, ed. Theodore Besterman, XXIX (1964), 122. On the price
and background of the Table see George B. Watts, ‘‘The Supplément and the
Table analytique et raisonnée of the Encyclopédie,”’ French Review, XXVIII
(Oct. 1954), 4-19.
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(2) The Geneva folio (1771-1776) : it was a reprint of the
first edition, at a pressrun of 2,150 copies, including the
chaperon or extra sheets to cover spoilage. The subscription
price was 840 livres, but by 1777 competition from the quarto
edition had driven the market price down to 700 livres and
even less.3®

(3) The Lucca folio (1758-1776) : because it followed the
original edition from an early date, this reprint became
bogged down in delays. From what little can be learned about
its history, it seems to have had a pressrun of 1,500 copies, at
least during the printing of the first volumes, and a price of
about 737 livres. Although no international copyright law
existed in the eighteenth century, the French publishers
probably considered it a pirated work and tried to keep it out
of the kingdom. In the tiny republic of Lucca, however, it was
an important and legitimate enterprise, directed by an ad-
venturous patrician named Ottaviano Diodati, with the finan-
cial backing of some wealthy notables and the political
protection of Liucea’s senate, to which it was dedicated.?®

(4) The Leghorn folio (1770-1778) : this was the last of the
folio reprints, followed by an edition of the Supplément
(1778-1779). It included 1,500 copies and may have cost only
574 livres, without the Supplément. Its publisher was Giu-

38. On June 8, 1777, the STN noted in a letter to Droz of Besancon that the
current price of the Geneva folio had fallen to 700 livres. It got this information
from letters from booksellers like Pavie of La Rochelle, who offered to sell a
Geneva folio for 700 livres on Feb. 8, 1777. By this time the subscription for the
cheaper quarto Encyclopédie had opened, and Panckoucke, who had taken a half
interest in the quarto, had sold 200 of his last Geneva folios to a Parisian specu-
lator in the book trade named Batilliot for 100,000 livres. Batilliot then offered
them to retailers at the rock-bottom price of 600 livres each with three months
credit for payment. See Batilliot to STN, Feb. 6, 1777, and Batilliot’s printed
circular of Dec. 1, 1776, in the STN papers. The price was 620 livres, including
the Supplément and Table, in 1786 when Thomas Jefferson went shopping for
Encyclopédies in Paris (see Chapter VI).

39. On the Lucca Encyclopédie, see Salvatore Bongi, “L’Enciclopedia in Lucca,”
Archivo storico italiano, 3d ser., XVIII (1873), 64-90, which has little to say about
the commercial aspects of the enterprise. Bongi does note, however, that in launching
the subscription in Nov. 1756, Diodati set the price at 2 zecchini for each volume of
text and 3 zecchini for each volume of plates. As the full set contained seventeen vol-
umes of text and eleven of plates, its price probably came to 67 zecchini. According to
the conversion tables in Samuel Ricard, Traité général de commerce (The Hague and
Amsterdam, 1781), I1, 289, 293, the zecchini was worth 11 livres tournois at this time;
so a set would have cost 737 livres, unbound, at the subscription price in Lucca. That
figure seems low, but transport costs would have increased it appreciably north of the
Alps. There is further information in H. K. Weinert, ed., Secondo centenario della
edizione lucchese dell’ Enciclopedia (Florence, 1959), where the pressrun is asserted
(p. x) to have been 1,500.
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seppe Aubert, a specialist in Enlightenment literature, who
persuaded three wealthy bourgeois to put up the capital.
More important, the enlightened archduke of Tuscany, Peter
Leopold, accepted the dedication of the work, shielded it
against the pope, and even provided loans and a building for
the presses.*®

(5) The Geneva and Neuchatel quartos (1777-1779) : these
were really two editions with the Supplément blended into
the original text. Each set contained thirty-six volumes of
text and three plates and cost 384 livres at the subscription
price. Owing to competition from the octavo edition, the last
sets sold on the open market for as little as 240 livres by
1781. The quartos were printed at a total pressrun of 8,525
copies, including chaperon. Because of extensive spoilage and
mishaps, however, only 8,011 complete sets could be assembled
and sold, according to Joseph Duplain, a Liyonnais bookseller
who managed the enterprise for a consortium made up of
Duplain, Panckoucke, the Société typographique de Neuchatel,
Clément Plomteux of Liege, Gabriel Regnault of Lyons, and
some minor partners.*!

(6) The Lausanne and Bern octavos (1778-1782) : although
these were advertised as two editions, they really were one
expanded edition based on two subscription campaigns. Their

40. On Aubert and his relations with the archduke see Ettore Levi-Malvano,
‘‘Les éditions toscanes de 1’Encyclopédie,”’ Revue de littérature comparée, 111
(April-June 1923), 213-256 and Adriana Lay, Un editore illuminista: Giuseppe
Aubert nel carteggio con Beccaria e Verri (Turin, 1973). Neither work, however,
provides information about the price and pressrun. According to a prospectus of
1769, Aubert promised to supply the subseribers with his edition for 36 zecchini,
10 zecchini less than the price of the Lucca edition. But at that time the original
publishers had issued only six of the eleven volumes of plates, so Aubert’s price
must have been much higher ten years later when he finished the printing. As he
originally set his price at 78 percent of the price charged in Luceca, 574 livres
represents a fair estimate, perhaps a little on the low side, of its level in livres
tournois. The information on the pressrun comes from a circular letter by Aubert,
sent to the STN in a letter from Gentil and Orr, shipping agents in Leghorn, on
March 6, 1775.

41. The drop in the price of the quarto affected only some leftover sets, which
the publishers divided among themselves toward the end of the enterprise. On
Nov. 19, 1780, the STN informed Batilliot of Paris that it had just sixty copies
left and was selling them at 240 livres each for cash or 294 livres with a year or so
of credit. Three months later it sold thirty of them to Batilliot at a special price
of 200 livres each, but otherwise it maintained its price at 240 livres until it
cleared its stock. Panckoucke, however, sold off his surplus at a lower price, so
that by March 1780 the quarto could be bought in Paris for 200 livres, according
to a report that two of the partners of the STN sent to Neuchitel from Paris
on March 31, 1780.
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combined pressrun came to 5,500 or 6,000 copies; they cost
225 livres at the subscription price; and they contained
thirty-six volumes of text and three of plates. The allied so-
ciétés typographiques of Lausanne and Bern produced the
octavos jointly by reprinting the text of the quarto edition
in reduced format. They were therefore treated as pirates by
Panckoucke and his partners, who owned the rights to the
text and the Supplément.*?

This enumeration of facts and figures suggests a surpris-
ing conclusion: there were far more Encyclopédies in pre-
revolutionary Europe than anyone—except eighteenth-century
publishers—has ever suspected. And in addition to the six ver-
sions of Diderot’s basic text, there were two quite different
works that used it as a point of departure: Félice’s Encyclo-
pédie d’Yverdon, printed between 1770 and 1780 at 1,600
copies, and Panckoucke’s Encyclopédie méthodique, begun in
1782 at a pressrun of approximately 5,000 copies. Some pub-
lishers probably also put together small scrap editions from
the leftover sheets of the chaperons. So the total number of
Encyclopédies, excluding the Ewncyclopédie d’Yverdon and
the Encyclopédie méthodique, can be estimated as follows :*3

42. Although the octavo publishers originally announced that their subserip-
tion would cost 195 livres, it eventually came to 225. See Gazette de Berne,
April 8, 1780. During negotiations for a marketing agreement with the quarto
publishers, they consistently said they would double their pressrun from 3,000 to
6,000. Société typographique de Lausanne to STN, Oect. 16 and Nov. 11, 1779,
and Bérenger of Lausanne to STN, Nov. 23, 1779. But after the agreement was
finally concluded early in 1780, one of the STN’s partners reported that the in-
crease had amounted to only 2,500 copies. Ostervald of the STN to Bosset of the
STN, June 4, 1780: ‘‘Je sais de science certaine que les gens de Lausanne et de
Berne, qui ne la tiraient d’abord qu’a 3,000, la tirent présentement & 5,500, depuis
1’entrée en France obtenue.’’

43. These estimates involve much guesswork, especially when it comes to cal-
culating chaperons and the size of French versus non-French sales, as the question
marks indicate on the table. But the guesses can be supported by a great deal of
quantitative and qualitative evidence from the papers of the STN, which provide
the key for caleculating Encyclopédie diffusion in general (see Chapter VI). The
size of the chaperons varied, although printers’ manuals said it was customary to
include one main de passe (25 sheets) for every two reams or every ream (1,000
or 500 sheets). S. Boulard, Le Manuel de l’imprimeur (Paris, 1791), p. 72 and
A.-F. Momoro, Traité élémentaire de l’imprimerie, ou le manuel de l’imprimeur
(Paris, 1793), p. 91. Their total number seems impressive: 625 folios, 514 quartos,
and 300 octavos, at a conservative estimate. (The references to the size of the
Lucca, Leghorn, and Lausanne-Bern editions are in round figures, so the estimated
chaperons have been placed within parentheses.) Most of these sheets were spoiled,
but many of the unspoiled ones could have been combined to form complete sets,
especially if a few of the gaps were filled by reprinting. As some publishers al-
most certainly put together serap editions in this manner, and as the octavos may
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Total In France Outside France
Paris folio 4,225 2,000(?) 2,050
Geneva folio 2,150 1,000( %) 1,000
Liucea folio 1,500 250( %) 1,250
(plus 100)
Leghorn folio 1,500 0(?) 1,500
(plus 100)
Geneva-Neuchitel 8,525 7,257 754
quarto
Lausanne-Bern 5,500 1,000( ?) 4,500
octavo (plus 300)
23,400 11,507 12,054
(plus 500)

All the presses of the publishers turned out about 24,000
copies of the Encyclopédie before 1789. At least 11,500 of them
reached readers in France, and 7,257 of the French copies
were quartos. Thus the Encyclopédie became a best seller in
the country where it originated and where it suffered most
from persecution. Fortunately, the majority of the Encyclo-
pédies in prerevolutionary France (about 60 percent) came
from the only editions whose sales can be traced in detail.
Therefore, by studying the production and diffusion of the
quartos, one should be able to understand how the Encyclo-
pédie penetrated the Old Regime.

have been printed at 6,000 instead of 5,500 copies, 25,000 represents a conservative
estimate of the total number of Encyclopédies in existence before the French
Revolution. On the question of chaperons and scrap editions see Robert Darnton,
‘“True and False Editions of the Encyclopédie, a Bibliographical Imbroglio,’’
forthcoming in the proceedings of the Colloque international sur 1’histoire de
1’imprimerie et du livre 4 Genéve.
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THE GENESIS OF A
SPECULATION IN PUBLISHING

The directors of the Société typographique de Neuchéatel
planned to produce an Encyclopédie as soon as they set up
business. On July 25, 1769, before they had printed a single
book and when they possessed only three secondhand presses
and a few dilapidated fonts of type, they sent a memorandum
to the most powerful publisher in France, Charles-Joseph
Panckoucke:

L’Encyclopédie, traversée en France dans son origine, encore
aujourd’hui arrétée par les mémes obstacles, ne pourra peut-étre
jamais étre publiée dans le royaume avec la liberté nécessaire. Le
public, avide de connaitre les sentiments des divers savants de 1’Eur-
ope, attend avec impatience que cet ouvrage destiné a instruire les
hommes soit imprimé sans aucune géne . . . Il reste un moyen in-
faillible d’éviter les oppositions que 1’on a lieu de craindre dans le
royaume et de procurer a l’ouvrage toute la supériorité qu’il peut
avoir. Lia Société Typographique nouvellement établie & Neuchétel en
Suisse et dirigée par un certain nombre de gens de lettres, offre de se
charger de I’impression pour le compte de Messieurs les libraires de
Paris. Contente pour cette fois d’un profit trés modique pour 1’im-
pression, la Société, qui désire de donner quelque célébrité & son
début, s’engagera a abandonner toute 1’édition et & n’en faire aucune
offre, ni en Angleterre, ni en Hollande, ni en Allemagne, ni en Italie—
en un mot a n’en tirer que le nombre d’exemplaires convenu. On sait
que le Comté de Neuchitel est un des pays les plus libres de la Suisse,
en sorte qu’il n’y aurait aucun obstacle a4 redouter de la part du
gouvernement et du magistrat.!

1. STN to Panckoucke, July 25, 1769, included as a memoir in a letter from
the STN to Jean-Frédéric Perregaux of July 25, 1769.
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The Neuchatel Reprint Plan

The Neuchételois may have been obscure and inexperienced,
but they had a case. Their town offered an ideal setting for
the production of books that could not be printed safely in
France. Though as Swiss in character as Lausanne or Geneva
to the south, Neuchéitel had been a Prussian principality since
1707. Its printers therefore owed allegiance to a philosopher
king, Frederick II, who left them to the lax supervision of
their own local authorities and shielded them against the
giant across the Jura mountains. France was capable of raid-
ing print shops beyond its borders,? but the Neuchatelois saw
France more as a market than a menace. Swiss porteurs had
backpacked forbidden books over the Juras to French readers
since the sixteenth century. By 1769, censorship, the monop-
olistic practices of the Parisian booksellers’ guild, and the
state apparatus for controlling the book trade had forced the
philosophes to publish their works in the dozens of sociétés
typographiques that sprang up like mushrooms in a ring
around the French borders. Having watched the publishing
industry flourish throughout the Rhineland and Switzerland,
the Neuchéatelois decided to found a publishing house of their
own. As they announced in circular letters to booksellers every-
where in Europe, the Société typographique de Neuchétel
(STN) would produce ‘‘good’’ books of all kinds; and their
first ventures showed a willingness to speculate on works
by Voltaire, Rousseau, and even d "Holbach.

To some extent, this willingness might have resulted from
the tastes of the STN’s three founders, Frédéric-Samuel
Ostervald, Jean-Elie Bertrand, and Samuel Fauche.? Oster-
vald was a civic leader—banneret or head of the local militia
and a member of the governing Conseil de ville—and a man of
letters, having published two learned works on geography.
His son-in-law, Bertrand, was professor of belles-lettres at

2. On Dec. 11, 1764, a Parisian police inspector and a company of French
troops raided three printing shops in the theoretically independent duchy of
Bouillon. Raymond F. Birn, Pierre Rousseau and the ‘‘ Philosophes’’ of Bouillon
in Studies on Voltaire and the Eighteenth Century, ed. Theodore Besterman,
XXIX (Geneva, 1964), 93.

3. A fourth founder, Jonas-Pierre Berthoud, withdrew within a year. For back-
ground on the firm and its founders see John Jeanprétre, ‘¢ Histoire de la Société
typographique de Neuchatel 1769-1798,”’ Musée neuchdtelois (1949), pp. 1-22

and Jacques Rychner, ‘‘Les archives de la Société typographique de Neuchitel,’’
Musée neuchdtelois (1969), pp. 1-24.
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the College de Neuchatel and a pastor. Bertrand abandoned
his ecclesiastical functions in 1769 in order to devote himself
fully to the STN, where his encyclopedic knowledge proved
especially useful in an encyclopedic project: an expanded,
pirated edition of the multivolume Description des arts et
métiers, which was being produced in Paris under the spon-
sorship of the Academy of Sciences. Fauche represented the
commercial and technical aspects of the business. He had
been publishing and selling books in Neuchatel for several
years before joining forces with Ostervald and Bertrand, and
he had developed a specialty in prohibited books—a branch
of the trade where profits and risks were greatest. In 1772
Fauche attempted to market an obscene, anticourt libel be-
hind his partners’ backs, and they retaliated by forcing him
out of the company. But they had gone along with his efforts
to produce an edition of d’Holbach’s atheistic Systéme de la
nature in 1771—a venture that proved both profitable and
humiliating because it produced such a scandal that Oster-
vald and Bertrand were temporarily forced out of their
positions in the Conseil de ville and the Compagnie des
Pasteurs.

‘Whether or not its directors felt partial to the ideas in the
books they published, the STN never specialized in the litera-
ture of the Enlightenment. It printed and traded in all kinds
of books—books about travel, romance, medicine, history,
and law, books like the Voyage autour du monde by Bougain-
ville and Lettres de Sophie by Madame Riccoboni, which ap-
pealed to an educated but not especially highbrow readership.
Essentially, the directors of the STN wanted to make money
rather than to spread lumiéres. But they knew that there
were profits in IEnlightenment. Pierre Rousseau, a third-rate
actor and playwright had made a fortune by popularizing
the work of the philosophes—and especially the Encyclopédie
—from the Société typographique de Bouillon. And just at
the other end of the Lake of Neuchatel, Barthélémy de Félice
had put together a publishing business that was doing very
well by producing his expurgated, Protestant version of the
Encyclopédie. Fauche himself had collected 834 livres merely
for lending his name to the false imprint under which vol-
umes 8-17 of the original Encyclopédie appeared: ‘‘A Neuf-
chastel, chez Samuel Faulche & Compagnie, libraires &
imprimeurs.’’ Ostervald and Bertrand were men of substance
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and influence who considered themselves several cuts above
Rousseau, IFélice, and Fauche. They were eager to speculate
in Encyclopédisme, and their eagerness came from enlight-
ened self-interest as well as interest in the IEnlightenment
when they offered to print the Encyclopédie for Panckoucke.

Instead of approaching Panckoucke directly, they attempted
to negotiate through Jean-Frédéric Perregaux, a Neuchatelois
who was to be a founder of the Banque de France in 1800 and
was beginning his career as a financier in Paris in 1769. They
sent their memorandum to Perregaux with a covering letter,
explaining that ‘‘nous savons que 1’interdiction lancée contre
la premiére édition de 1’Encyclopédie en France n’a pu étre
levée par les libraires qui viennent d’en annoncer une seconde.
Nous leur offrons nos presses dans le mémoire que vous
trouverez ici et que nous vous prions de vouloir bien com-
muniquer a M. Panckoucke.”” Not only could they do the
printing safely, they added; they would also improve the
quality of the text, for they were men of letters, not merely
printers, and they could call upon other erudite Swiss to help
them.*

After several weeks of soundings and pourparlers, Perre-
gaux finally learned that the STN had made its bid too late.
“‘Voici le secret de 1’affaire que je n’ai découvert que hier et
avec toute la peine imaginable. N’ayant pu obtenir la permis-
sion pour Paris, ils se sont accommodés de 1’édition d’Hollande
qu’on a commencé & y imprimer, et tous les beaux arrange-
ments faits ici ne serviront que pour les suppléments a celle
de Paris . .. Malgré la permission que les libraires inté-
ressés ont actuellement de faire venir les volumes d’Hollande,
jugez de toutes les révolutions auxquelles cet ouvrage est
encore sujet d’ici & deux ans, époque pour laquelle il doit
étre prét.””® Perregaux judged correctly: the STN could be
thankful that it never became involved with the folio reprint,
which was produced in Geneva, not Amsterdam, in 1771-
1776. As explained above, this edition had a stormy history. It
provoked quarrels between Panckoucke and his partners;
6,000 copies of its first three volumes were confiscated by the
French government and had to be reprinted; and the sub-
seription campaign floundered. In June 1775, when its backers

4. STN to Perregaux, July 25, 1769.
5. Perregaux to STN, Sept. 13, 1769.
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met for a preliminary settling of accounts in Geneva, a third
of its 2,000 sets had not been sold; and profits looked thin,
although they seemed likely to grow in the next few years.

Just when Panckoucke was liquidating the second folio en-
terprise in Geneva, Ostervald arrived in Paris with a pro-
posal to join him in a new speculation on the Encyclopédie.
Upon learning that his man was in Switzerland, Ostervald
wrote home suggesting that the STN lure Panckoucke to Neu-
chatel, where it could negotiate from a position of strength:
¢Sl se rend & votre invitation, faites-lui boire du meilleur,
c¢’est & dire de deux niches tout & fait & gauche du fond de ma
cave.’’® Panckoucke was too entangled in Geneva to make the
trip, but he wrote encouragingly that he would be ‘‘charmé
d’étre instruit de 1’affaire que vous avez en vue.””” He had
repulsed an effort by the STN to do business with him in
April 1770 and this new note of affability suggested new re-
spect for the STN, which had grown into a major publishing
firm in the six years since it had first attempted to collaborate
on his Ewncyclopédie speculations. Not only did the STN print
a great many books of all kinds by 1775, it also did an enor-
mous wholesale trade with booksellers everywhere in Furope,
from Moscow to Naples and Dublin to Pest. And it had in-
creased its capital, while expanding, by taking on Abram
Bosset-DeLuze, one of Neuchatel’s wealthiest businessmen, as
a third partner. Panckoucke’s position also improved in the
mid-1770s. His 6,000 Encyclopédies, which had been confis-
cated in 1770, were returned in February 1776—an indica-
tion of the new atmosphere in Versailles and of his influence
within it. The accession of Louis XVI on May 10, 1774,
brought a new brand of reformist ministers into power. They
favored a freer trade in books as well as in wheat, and they
showered favors on Panckoucke, who helped them liberalize
the publishing industry. With support from Versailles, he el-
bowed competitors aside, pushed his way to the center of jour-
nalism as well as the book trade, subsidized entire stables of
authors, and made and unmade publishing consortia on a gi-
gantic scale. But he piled speculation on speculation so pre-
cariously that he strained his resources; and he needed a

6. Ostervald to STN, June 2, 1775.
7. Panckoucke to STN, from Geneva, June 12, 1775.
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fresh infusion of capital in the summer of 1776 when he came
to Neuchatel to talk Encyclopédies with the STN.,

This time, on its third attempt to speculate on the Encyclo-
pédie, circumstances favored the STN. Not only was the gov-
ernment developing a more liberal policy toward the book
trade, it was also being pushed in this direction by Panc-
koucke, who owned the rights to the Ewncyclopédie. Having
liquidated the second-folio association a year ago, Panc-
koucke thought the market was ripe for a new edition and
needed backers to finance it. The STN could negotiate the
deal from its own territory, where it could demonstate the
size and solidity of its business and where Ostervald could at
last make use of the secret corners of his wine cellar. Thus, on
the day before the American colonies declared their inde-
pendence, these entrepreneurs of Enlightenment formed a
partnership to produce a new Encyclopédie.

The contract of July 3, 1776 (see Appendix A.I) created the
first in a series of alliances and alignments that shaped the
history of the Encyclopédie for the last twenty-five years of
the eighteenth century. It made Panckoucke and the STN
equal partners in a reprint of a reprint. They planned to in-
corporate the 2,000 copies of Volumes 1-3, which Panckoucke
had recently recovered from the Bastille, in a new version of
the Geneva folio, so the terms of their agreement resembled
those of Panckoucke’s contract with the Genevans of 1770.
The STN was to print volumes 4-17 at the same pressrun
(2,000 and 150 sheets as chaperon to cover spoilage) for a
fixed price of 34 livres per sheet; it would use the same qual-
ity of paper (grand bdtard fin, at 10 livres per ream) and of
type (all from the foundry of Fournier le jeune in Paris);
and Panckoucke would have the illustrations printed from the
same plates. The new edition would be cheaper (720 livres for
subscribers instead of 840 livres), and it would be an STN
affair: the Neuchatelois would handle accounts, publicity, and
sales. Their partnership cost them 108,000 livres, which they
promised to pay to Panckoucke in sixteen notes of 6,750 livres
each, payable at specified intervals over four years, beginning
on April 1, 1777. In this way, Panckoucke acquired some
badly needed capital, and the STN became co-owner of the
most important book of the Enlightenment.®

8. Cramer and de Tournes had paid 76,451 livres for only a third interest in
the second folio edition, while the STN paid 108,000 livres for a half interest in
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The association created in Neuchétel differed from Panc-
koucke’s earlier partnership in one crucial way: it gave the
STN a permanent half interest in the Ewncyclopédie itself,
not merely in one edition of it. The contract for the second
folio edition, which Panckoucke had signed with Cramer and
de Tournes in Geneva on June 26, 1770, specifically exempted
the Genevans from anything more than a one-third interest
in the edition that they were to print. The Neuchatelois,
however, contracted not merely to print a third folio edition
but to acquire half of Panckoucke’s holdings ‘‘dans la totalité
des cuivres, droits, et privileges du Dictionnaire encyclo-
pédique, tant pour le présent que pour 1’avenir.”” The agree-
ment stipulated that the STN might reprint the Supplément,
which Panckoucke was beginning to publish with another set
of associates, and it held out the possibility that ‘‘dans quel-
ques années’’ Panckoucke and the STN would have equal in-
terests in a speculation on ‘‘une nouvelle édition corrigée dudit
Dictionnaire encyclopédique dans laquelle on fondrait tous
les suppléments.’’ Thus instead of merely becoming Panc-
koucke’s printer, as it had attempted to do in 1769, the STN
became his ally. This alliance had momentous consequences,
for although the plan for the third folio edition soon dis-
solved, Panckoucke and the STN remained united in a long-
term effort to wring a profit from their common property:
the text and plates that had been put together so painfully by
Diderot and his collaborators.

From the Reprint to the Revised Edition

Soon after he returned to Paris in mid-July 1776, Panc-
koucke decided to scrap the Neuchatel plan for a new edition

the proposed third edition and in the droits et cuivres as well. The STN probably
got a better price because a great many sets of the earlier edition remained to be
sold. Panckoucke, who owned them all, protected his future sales in the contract
with the STN by emphasizing that the new edition had to remain le plus profond
secret until Jan. 1, 1777, thereby giving himself enough time to dispose of the
Genevan copies. The contract also committed the STN to pay Panckoucke 35,400
livres for half the value of the first three volumes of text and the first volume of
plates, as well as the frontispiece and engraved portraits of d’Alembert and
Diderot, which Panckoucke had had printed in Paris. The Genevans had also paid
for those volumes at virtually the same price, and Panckoucke had reimbursed
them in the settling of accounts of June 13, 1775. He therefore did not swindle
the STN by exacting payment for the same thing twice, as it might appear, but
he did well to cover the cost of the confiscated volumes by incorporating them in a
new edition.
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of the old text and to create instead an Ewncyclopédie that
would be so completely revised as to be virtually a new book.
How and why he reached this decision cannot be known with
absolute certainty because many of the documents from this
period are missing, but enough of them remain for one to fol-
low the general lines of his rapidly changing course of action.

After leaving Neuchatel in early July 1776, Panckoucke
stopped in Geneva to see Samuel de Tournes, his former
partner in the Geneva folio edition, who had agreed to ad-
minister the sales of the 670 sets that were left over when
the partnership was disbanded in June 1775. De Tournes re-
ported that about 300 sets were still sitting unsold in his
warehouse. The slowness in the liquidation of the old reprint
did not bode well for the sales of the new one; and as the new
Encyclopédie would be 120 livres cheaper than its predecessor,
Panckoucke seemed certain to ruin one speculation by rush-
ing into another.” While his enthusiasm for the Neuchétel
agreement cooled, Panckoucke began to favor a grander plan,
which he tried out, after his arrival in Paris, on some of his
philosophe friends, notably his brother-in-law Jean-Baptiste-
Antoine Suard, a prominent member of the Académie fran-
caise. Having ingratiated himself with influential philo-
sophes, won admission to salon society, and put together a
handsome income from pensions and sinecures, Suard repre-
sented the Enlightenment at its most mature and most mun-
dane—the kind of Emlightenment that was championed by
d’Alembert and that found its spiritual home in the Academy.*®
Panckoucke apparently suggested that Suard enlist a group of
philosophes to rework Diderot’s text for a revised edition.
Suard seized eagerly on the proposal, and he persuaded
France’s two most important academicians, d’Alembert and
Condorcet, to direct the enterprise with him. The three phil-
osophes outlined their plan in a memorandum dated July 27,
1776, which Panckoucke sent to the STN. Although this doca-
ment has disappeared, its main points seem clear enough
from Panckoucke’s subsequent exchanges with Neuchatel:

9. Panckoucke’s discussions in Geneva can only be known from some notes
Bosset wrote under the title ‘¢Observations de M. Bosset sur la refonte,’’ STN
papers, ms. 1233.

10. On Suard and the integration of the High Enlightenment in the upper
echelons of the Old Regime see Robert Darnton, ‘‘The High Enlightenment and
the Low-Life of Literature in Prerevolutionary France,’’ Past and Present, no.
51 (1971), 81-115.
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1. The new editors would blend into the text the five-volume
Supplément, which was then being published by Panckoucke;
2. they would correct errors and omissions and would im-
prove the poor coordination between the text and the plates;
3. they would include a great many new articles; and 4. they
would incorporate a ‘‘Dictionnaire de la langue francaise,”’
which Suard was then preparing for publication. In short,
Suard, d’Alembert, and Condorcet proposed to overhaul the
original Encyclopédie from top to bottom. They planned to
put together a whole team of philosophes to do the work.
And they expected to be paid liberally by Panckoucke and
his partners.

The origins of this proposal went back far beyond the for-
mation of the Suard group to the beginning of Panckoucke’s
plans to speculate on the Emncyclopédie. Shortly before or
after his purchase of the rights to the work on December 16,
1768, Panckoucke sought Diderot’s help in persuading the
French authorities to permit the publication of a completely
revised edition. Diderot complied by writing an extraordinary
memoir about the imperfections of the work on which he had
labored so hard for the last twenty years The book had been
marred, he explained, by the mediocrity of its contributors—
and he named them, along with the vast sections of the En-
cyclopédie that they had spoiled. Some of the contributors
were incompetent. Others subcontracted their assignments to
hack writers, who produced hack work. And these flawed
articles made the good ones look incongruous. There was no
consistency in the quality of the writing and little coordina-
tion in the allotment of the work. Thus important subjects
were omitted because some contributors thought they were
being treated by others, the cross-references were neglected,
and the text was not carefully related to the plates. Diderot
put it bluntly; the Encyclopédie was a mess: ‘‘L’Encyclo-
pédie fut un gouffre, ou ces espéces de chiffoniers jéterent
péle-méle une infinité de choses mal digérées, bonnes, mau-
vaises, détestables, vraies, fausses, incertaines, et toujours
incohérentes et disparates.’’’* The new publishers could pro-

11. Diderot, Oeuvres complétes, ed. J. Assézat and M. Tourneux (Paris, 1875-
77), XX, 130. For the context and reception of Diderot’s memoir see L. P. de
Bachaumont and others, Mémoires secrets pour servir d l’histoire de la République
des Lettres en France de 1762 jusqu’d mos jours (London, 1777-89), entry for
June 29, 1772; cited hereafter as Bachaumont.
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duce a much better Encyclopédie, Diderot continued, if they
confided it to a director who would plan the rewriting with
great care, holding the contributors to a strict schedule, pay-
ing a copyist to produce legible copy, coordinating the plates
and the text, and choosing only the best authors, who would
be well paid. Writing with the frustrations of his own direc-
torship vividly in mind, Diderot showed how the Ewncyclo-
pédie could be transformed into a new and vastly superior
work.

The Diderot memorandum reveals the thinking that shaped
Panckoucke’s Encyclopédie enterprises from the very begin-
ning, namely, a conviction that the original book was badly
flawed and needed to be reworked into a revised edition—a
refonte as Panckoucke called it in his correspondence. Unlike
modern literary scholars, Panckoucke did not approach the
Encyclopédie as if it were a sacred text or an untouchable
classic. From the very beginning he meant to remold it into
something better. Circumstances prevented him from realiz-
ing his original intention, but he held fast to his plan until
the very end, when he was putting out the Encyclopédie méth-
odique, a work that was not completed until 1832, after it had
run to 202 volumes and Panckoucke had been dead for thirty-
three years.

If Diderot’s memorandum belongs to a vision that haunted
Panckoucke throughout his career, it also had an immediate
and self-avowed purpose in 1768: it was intended to convince
the French authorities that the original Encyclopédie was so
riddled with faults that they should grant Panckoucke per-
mission to publish a revised edition. Panckoucke’s request
was refused and Diderot’s memorandum forgotten—until it
was published for an entirely different purpose in 1772 and
again in 1776 by Luneau de Boisjermain. Luneau was a can-
tankerous man of letters who had embroiled the original pub-
lishers of the Encyclopédie in a celebrated lawsuit. He wanted
to convict them of defrauding the subscribers of the work be-
cause, he claimed, they had supplied a shoddy book at a much
higher price than had been set by the subscription. Having
somehow got his hands on Diderot’s memorandum, he used it
as evidence to support his case. Luneau lost his suit, but Pane-
koucke never gave up in his determination to produce a new
Encyclopédie. When he revived his pet project in July 1776,
he dredged up Diderot’s memorandum once again, this time

47



The Business of Enlightenment

to convince the STN to accept the change in plans. ‘‘Je vous
envoie le mémoire de Diderot, qui n’aurait jamais di étre
publié. C’est un abus de confiance qui y a donné lieu. Luneau
a supprimé tout ce qui est a 1’avantage de 1’Encyclopédie,
comme de raison, mais la lecture de ce mémoire vous con-
vaincra de la nécessité de la refonte. Nous y avions pensé il
y a 8 ans [that is, in 1768], mais Diderot est aussi une mau-
vaise téte qui nous demandait cent mille écus et qui nous
aurait désespéré.’?

This tantalizingly brief note—one of only two letters from
Panckoucke that survive from this period—shows that the
Diderot memorandum was continuously used as a weapon in
the process of lobbying, quarreling, and intriguing that made
publishing such a rough business in the eighteenth century.
The original version of it has disappeared and Panckoucke
noted that Luneau cut passages from it in order to damn the
Encyclopédie more effectively. So Diderot did not have quite
so critical an attitude toward his book as Luneau claimed, but
he did criticize it—and very trenchantly, too—because he en-
tertained thoughts about editing the revised edition that Panc-
koucke originally wanted to publish. Panckoucke’s letter in-
dicates that he offered Diderot the editorship in 1768 and that
Diderot demanded 300,000 livres for the job. Perhaps Diderot
took the offer seriously enough to write the memorandum,
which provided the principal argument in Panckoucke’s cam-
paign to get the government’s permission for the new work.
Thus, while ending his association with the original publish-
ers, Diderot apparently began planning a new Encyclopédie,
one which would redeem all the mistakes that made him feel
so bitter about his twenty-five years of labor for I.e Breton.
The labor for Panckoucke would be more rewarding, though
Diderot may not have seriously expected to receive as much
as 300,000 livres. More important, perhaps, Panckoucke
would not mutilate the copy: he was a friend of the philo-
sophes and would leave Diderot free to realize the Encyclo-
pédie of his dreams.*®

12. Panckoucke to STN, Aug. 4, 1776. The purpose of the memoir stands out
clearly in an introduction to it written by or for Panckoucke. Diderot, Oeuvres
compleétes, XX, 129-130.

13. The version of the memoir in the Assézat-Tourneux edition of Diderot’s
Oeuvres complétes was taken from a published factum or judicial brief by Luneau,
which has several ellipsis dots where passages and person’s names were cut. Un-
fortunately, the copy sent by Panckoucke has not remained in the STN’s papers.
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Panckoucke’s project gives one an intriguing glimpse of
the great Encyclopedist in his old age, preparing to redo the
work that had consumed his middle years; but it came to
nothing because the authoritarian Maupeou ministry refused
to permit such an ambitious undertaking, which might well
have resulted in a more outspoken Encyclopédie than Le Bre-
ton’s. A year later, Panckoucke came back with a plan to re-
print the original text and to correct its errors and omissions
by producing some supplementary volumes—the plan that
eventually led to the second or Genevan folio edition and the
Supplément. He asked Diderot to direct the Supplément and
received the famous reply: ‘“ Allez vous faire f . . . , vous et
votre ouvrage, je n’y veux plus travailler. Vous me donneriez
20,000 louis et je pourrais expédier votre besoin en un clin
d’oeil, que je n’en ferais rien. Ayez pour agréable de sortir
d’ici et de me laisser en repos.’”** No wonder that Panckoucke
described Diderot as a mauvaise téte and that he did not turn
to him seven years later when he revived the refonte project.
The fact remains, however, that Diderot had helped to shape
that project in the first place and should be considered as the
father or grandfather of the Suard plan.

The plan took final form in a contract signed by Panckoucke
and Suard on August 14, 1776 (see Appendix A. II). Ac-
cording to this agreement, d’Alembert and Condorcet would
“preside’’ over the new folio Encyclopédie but Suard would
be held responsible for its preparation. He would put to-
gether a team of distinguished writers to produce the text.
The contract listed Saint Lambert, Thomas, Morellet, d’Ar-
naud, Marmontel, L.a Harpe, Petit, and Louis as likely candi-
dates—men whose names have lost their luster today but who

But in his covering letter, Panckoucke did not challenge the accuracy of the
passages that Luneau printed, so the version in the Oeuvres complétes is probably
accurate, as far as it goes. Diderot scholars have correctly pointed out the polemi-
cal background of the memoir, but they have not seen its implications for
Diderot’s biography. Panckoucke’s letter suggests that Diderot seriously considered
assuming the editorship of an entirely new version of the Encyclopédie, not just
the Supplément, despite the disclaimers in the memoir itself, p. 131.

14. Diderot to Sophie Volland, Aug. 31 (?) in Diderot, Correspondance, ed.
G. Roth (Paris, 1955——-), IX, 123-124. Diderot’s dislike of Panckoucke is also
suggested by a remark that Ostervald reported to Bosset in a letter of June 4,
1780: ‘¢Harlé [Ostervald’s son-in-law, a merchant in Saint-Quentin] vous en
aura peut-étre parlé [that is, about Panckoucke] et vous aura dit comme & moi
que Diderot 1’avait assuré que e’était un homme de mauvaise foi, offrant d’en
fournir la preuve.’’
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commanded the most prestigious positions in the Republic of
Letters during the 1770s. They included so many academi-
cians that the refonte would have appeared as a product of the
Académie francaise, which d’Alembert and Voltaire had
packed with philosophes of their own stripe.'®

Suard and his colleagues were to rewrite the text, incor-
porating new material from the Supplément, from certain
articles of I'élice’s Encyclopédie d’Ywverdon, and from other
sources such as Suard’s proposed Dictionnaire de la langue
francaise. They would take special care to correct the poor
coordination of the plates and the text and the cross-refer-
ences, as Diderot had recommended in his memoir. And as
Diderot had also suggested, they would be held to a rigid
schedule, a copyist would produce a neat version of all their
work, and they would be well paid. By giving Suard complete
control over the rewriting, Panckoucke probably meant to
correct the unevenness and incongruities that Diderot had
found so objectionable. But Panckoucke required Suard to
produce a steady stream of copy—at least three volumes a
year—from May 1, 1777, when the first two volumes were to
be in the printer’s hands, until the end of 1781, when presum-
ably the last volume would be finished. Suard would have to
pay 500 livres for every week that the printshop remained
idle owing to a lack of copy. By maintaining this striet pro-
duction schedule, Suard would receive 5,000 livres for each
volume and 20,000 livres when the work had been completed.
The contract did not specify how many volumes were to make
up a set in the revised edition, but Panckoucke evidently
planned on about twenty volumes in text. If so, Suard would
receive 120,000 livres, of which he was obligated to pay at
least 40,000 to the writers working under him.

To set a whole stable of philosophes to work for four and
a half years, at a cost of 120,000 livres, was a major enter-
prise, and Panckoucke knew that he needed intellectual and
political as well as financial backing for it. So he probably
attached great importance to d’Alembert’s support of the
project. As the ruler of the Académie francaise and as one of

15. All of the men named in the contract belonged to the Académie francaise
except the two who would be least well known today: Antoine Petit was a famous
doctor and member of the Académie des sciences, and Antoine Louis was the
distinguished secrétaire perpétuel of the Académie de chirurgie. Both had con-
tributed articles on medical seience to the original Encyclopédie.
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France’s most prestigious philosophes, d’Alembert would at-
tract the best talent and would make the new Encyclopédie
appear as the legitimate successor of the old one, which he
had originally edited with Diderot. Also, d’Alembert’s pat-
ronage could attract that of still greater figures. On Decem-
ber 8,1776, d’Alembert wrote the following letter to the STN :

Messieurs,

Quoique ma santé d’une part et de l’autre des occupations
indispensables ne me permettent pas d’avoir la mémé part qu’autre-
fois & l’ouvrage important dont vous me parlez, vous pouvez étre
persuadés de tout 1’intérét que j’y prends et du désir que j'ai d’y
concourir autant qu’il sera en moi, tant a cause de 1’utilité de 1’ou-
vrage que par les liens d’estime et d’amitié qui m’unissent depuis
longtemps & M. Suard, mon digne confrére, qui conduira sfirement
cette entreprise 4 votre satisfaction et & celle du public. Je compte
aller a4 Berlin au mois de mai prochain, et je ferai pour vous aupres
du roi de Prusse tout ce qui dépendra de mon faible crédit et des bontés
dont ce prinece m’honore. Vous pouvez faire et vous ferez sans doute
de cet ouvrage, griace & la liberté honnéte dont vous jouissez, un des
plus beaux monuments de la littérature ancienne et moderne, et je
n’ai d’autre regret que de ne pouvoir pas mettre & ce bel édifice
autant de pierres que je désirerais. Mais je porterai du moins un peu
de mortier aux architectes, et je voudrais seulement qu’il fiit meilleur
et plus abondant.

J’ai I’honneur d’étre avec respect,

Messieurs,
Votre trés humble et trés
obéissant serviteur

d’Alembert18

D’Alembert never made this trip to Berlin, but he prom-
ised to lobby for Frederick II’s support of the new Encyclo-
pédie. This point mattered a great deal to the STN because
Frederick was sovereign of Neuchatel and could protect them
against interference by local or French authorities. In their
original contract with Panckoucke, the Swiss printers had
stipulated that Frederick’s protection was to be sought. And
after d’Alembert canceled his trip, they sent him a memoran-
dum on their need for a formal statement (rescrit) from
Frederick that they could use to ward off any attempt to in-
terrupt the printing. It also stressed their hopes that Freder-

16. D’Alembert was answering a letter from the STN, which is missing, as
is most of its correspondence concerning the Encyclopédie during this period.
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ick would accept the dedication of the work. Ostervald and
Bosset discussed these plans with d’Alembert in Paris in the
spring of 1777. Their letters at that time and later remarks in
their correspondence show that d’Alembert had made a seri-
ous commitment to promote the project. He evidently shared
some of Diderot’s feelings about the need to improve the
original work, and for his part he promised to help by writ-
ing a ‘‘Histoire de 1’Encyclopédie’’ for the revised edition.’”

For Panckoucke, therefore, the revised Encyclopédie did
not represent a casual side bet but a serious speculation on
the kind of work that he hoped to produce in the first place,
the kind that Diderot had recommended to him in 1768 and
that looked more feasible in 1776, when the new reign of
Louis XVI seemed to promise a more tolerant attitude to-
ward publishing, when Frederick IT might extend protection
from abroad, and when d’Alembert, Condorcet, and Suard
could be counted upon to recruit the most distinguished
writers in Paris. It was for such an Ewncyclopédie that he
opted in July 1776. Next he had to persuade the STN to go
along with him.

Panckoucke could expect his Swiss partners to resist such
a drastic change in plans. The contract of July 3, 1776, did
envisage an eventual joint speculation on a revised edition,
but it committed the associates to start work right away on
the folio reprint. Soon after Panckoucke’s departure, the

17. ‘“Mémoire envoyé a Paris le le. juin 1777’’ in STN papers, dossier En-
cyclopédie: ‘‘En rendant nos trés humbles actions de grice & Monsieur d’Alem-
bert du soin qu’il daigne prendre pour nos intéréts auprés de S. M. le Roi de
Prusse, nous le supplions de nous favoriser de sa puissante recommandation, dans
la vue d’obtenir de S.M. qu’il lui plaise adresser un rescrit au Conseil d’Etat de
sa Principauté de Neuchitel et Valangin, portant qu’informée qu’il s’est établi
dans la capitale une imprimerie considérable sous le nom de la Société typo-
graphique, Elle 1la prend sous sa haute protection, pour qu’elle puisse travailler
avec tout le suceds possible, lui accordant non seulement la permission d’imprimer
librement la nouvelle édition de 1’Encyclopédie & laquelle on travaille, mais
agréant de plus que ce grand ouvrage lui soit dédié.

Il sera convenable que ce rescrit nous soit adressé et envoyé directement, afin
que nous puissions en faire usage au besoin et le produire seulement dans le cas
ol 1’on voudrait nous géner pour ce travail.’’

Ostervald and Bosset knew d’Alembert and discussed their Encyclopédie
projects with him during a trip to Paris in the spring of 1777. No record of those
discussions survives, but the STN alluded to them in a letter to Panckoucke of
Feb. 8, 1778: ‘‘Rappelez-vous aussi que M. d’Alembert nous avait fait espérer au
printemps dernier de nous fournir une histoire de 1’Encyclopédie, morceau neuf

et qui produit par une telle plume donnerait un merveilleux relief a notre
affaire?’’
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STN had bought a house adjoining its workshop in order to
have room to execute the enormous printing job. It began
searching for new workers, presses, type, and paper supplies,
for it expected at least to double its printing capacity in a
few months. The prospectus accompanying its agreement
with Panckoucke committed it to a tight production schedule,
which it needed to maintain, in any case, in order to bring in
enough capital to pay the first of its sixteen notes to Panc-
koucke as they became due. The papers of the STN do not
reveal how Panckoucke presented his proposal, but they indi-
cate that he sent five items to support his case: Diderot’s
memorandum of 1768; some critical ‘‘Réflexions’’ on the
Panckoucke—-STN prospectus for the proposed third folio re-
print; the draft of a contract between Panckoucke and Suard
for the preparation of the revised edition; a proposed amend-
ment to the Panckoucke-STN contract, which would commit
the STN to the Suard plan; and a memorandum of July 27,
1776, by d’Alembert, Condorcet, and Suard, which argued the
need for rewriting instead of reprinting the original text.
None of these survives, but the Neuchéatel papers contain a
more revealing document: a memorandum Bosset sent to the
other directors of the STN on the eve of a conference on Pane-
koucke’s proposal, which shows how eighteenth-century pub-
lishers confronted crucial decisions.’® Should the STN accept
the Suard plan? Hundreds of thousands of livres and many
years of labor would be determined by that decision, which
the directors were to make the next day at two o’clock in the
afternoon. Bosset considered the issue so important that he
wrote down his thoughts as they occurred to him and sent his
notes to Ostervald and Bertrand. Writing memos, scheduling
conferences, going over the pros and cons of complex ques-
tions of finance and marketing—the directors of the STN
operated like modern businessmen, although their business
was Enlightenment.

First, Bosset argued, the STN should face the fact that
Panckoucke was acting out of self-interest: he needed to post-
pone the reprint in order to have more time to market his
300 unsold sets (a matter of 210,000 livres to him). But Panc-

18. Bosset’s memorandum, ‘‘Observations de M. Bosset sur la refonte,’’ goes
over the material sent by Panckoucke closely enough for one to have a good idea
of its contents, especially as Panckoucke’s draft contracts served as the basis for
the contracts that do survive in the STN ’s papers.
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koucke’s motive was irrelevant to the real issue facing the
STN. Would the increased cost of the Suard project result in
substantially larger profits? Bosset was inclined to think so
because he found that the ‘‘Réflexions’’ sent by Panckoucke
exposed a dangerous weakness of the reprint strategy: the
market for the original edition might well be sated. It would
be safe to assume that sufficient demand existed for a sub-
stantially new Ewncyclopédie—provided the price were right.
But here Bosset detected a flaw in the Suard plan. It would
price the revised edition out of the range of all but the
wealthiest book buyers. Bosset believed that the greatest
profit was to be made by tapping the demand for the En-
cyclopédie among ordinary readers: ‘“Ce ne peut donc étre
que par le bas prix auquel on établira cette nouvelle édition
qu’on pourra en faciliter 1’écoulement en le mettant plus a
la portée de chacun.’’ The subsequent history of the Encyclo-
pédie would prove that Bosset had perceived a profound
truth about the literary market, but the low-price policy
appealed to him for another reason. In satisfying the STN’s
interest as a shareholder, it would do even more for the
STN’s interest as a printer. The Neuchatelois expected to
print the entire revised edition and to be paid from the re-
ceipts according to their output. So they would make far more
from a cheap edition of three or four thousand sets than
from an expensive edition of two thousand. A large, inex-
pensive edition also would diminish the danger of pirating.
And it even might be more advantageous to Panckoucke, Bos-
set believed. He argued that the eleven volumes of plates,
which Panckoucke proposed to sell at 36 livres each, could be
compressed into six somewhat larger volumes to be sold at
40 livres each for a total cost of 240 livres instead of 396
livres. He thought that the text could be kept to twenty vol-
umes (the seventeen original volumes and three volumes of
text from the Supplément) because the addition of new ma-
terial would balance evenly with the deletion of errors and
repetitions from the old. Each volume of text could sell for
24 livres, making 480 livres for the text, plus 240 livres for
the plates or 720 livres for the entire set, the same price that
Panckoucke and the STN originally had planned to charge
for their folio reprint. At that price, they could sell twice as
many sets as Panckoucke had projected. And three or four
thousand sets of 720 livres would fetch more in profits than
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2,000 at 864 livres, the price Panckoucke had proposed for
the revised edition. They could do best by aiming their edition
at the grand public.

Of course the profit margin would not increase if costs went
up beyond a certain point. The STN would have to force Panc-
koucke to reduce the 100,000 to 120,000 livres that he pro-
posed to pay the philosophes. Bosset argued that the revising
required merely ‘‘de 1’ordre et du gofit,”” not genius, and he
particularly objected to the ‘‘prétentions excessives’’ of
Suard. He said nothing about Suard’s being Panckoucke’s
brother-in-law, but he proposed that Suard be paid for every
sheet of new prose instead of for every volume—a policy
that would prevent him from receiving payment for any ma-
terial that he took over without modification from Diderot’s
text. Bosset also suggested that at the end of the rewriting
Suard receive 12,000 livres and twenty free sets instead of
the 40,000 livres that Panckoucke had proposed. And finally,
he recommended that the STN demand three modifications
in Panckoucke’s suggested amendments to the contract of
July 3, 1776. First, Panckoucke had wanted to broaden the
financial base of the enterprise by selling an interest of one-
third in it to other book dealers. He therefore had proposed
that he and the STN each sell one-third of their half interest
for 25,000 livres. Bosset considered the idea good and the
price bad, because a third of the price that the STN had paid
to Panckoucke was 36,000 livres: Panckoucke therefore was
asking the Swiss to take a 25 percent loss without compensa-
tion and should be opposed. Secondly, the STN had paid
Panckoucke 35,400 livres to cover the production cost of the
three volumes from the Genevan edition that he had recov-
ered from the Bastille and that he meant to use for the pro-
posed third folio reprint (that sum also covered one volume
of plates, the frontispiece, and the portraits of Diderot and
d’Alembert). If he abandoned the plan for the reprint, the STN
should not be expected to pay for half the loss of those vol-
umes. Thirdly, Panckoucke had required that the revised edi-
tion be kept secret until July 1, 1777, when it would be an-
nounced publicly and its first two volumes would appear.
That would give him six additional months in which to sell
his 300 surplus sets of the Genevan reprint because his con-
tract with the STN committed him to publish the prospectus
for the Neuchéatel reprint on January 1, 1777. Bosset consid-
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ered speed extremely important. The STN had committed
too much capital to sacrifice six months without receiving any
return on its money. It had bought an entire house, at an in-
flated price, in order to expand its plant immediately, and
Bosset felt it should fight the demand for the delay. Appar-
ently sitting at home toward the end of the day, Bosset
brought his argument to a close: ‘“Voila, Messieurs, en gros
mes réflexions sur cette affaire que je soumets absolument a
votre décision et & vos lumiéres. J’aurai 1’honneur de vous
voir, Messieurs, demain contre les deux heures pour en con-
férer ensemble . . . J’ai I’honneur, Messieurs, de vous sou-
haiter le bon soir.”’

There is no record of what happened at the two o’clock
conference, but the next piece of the puzzle shows that the
Neuchitelois accepted the revision proposal. On August 31,
1776, they signed an agreement to adapt their earlier contract
with Panckoucke to the Suard plan (see Appendix A. IIT). In
this ‘‘Addition au traité avec M. Panckoucke,”’ they con-
sented to delay the announcement of the new edition until
July 1, 1777. At that time the first two volumes of text and
the first volume of plates would appear, and the rest of the
work would be published at the rate specified in the contract
for the reprint. The STN had to accept the loss of its share in
Panckoucke’s old copies of volumes 1-3 of the Geneva edi-
tion, which were to be sold as scrap paper, except for some
salvageable tables and art work. It apparently also gave in
to Panckoucke’s position on pricing because the agreement
made no provision for reducing the number of volumes in the
set, and it priced each volume at the level favored by Pane-
koucke, that is, 24 livres for each volume of text and 36 livres
for each volume of plates. (These were retail prices; book-
sellers were to buy the text at 20 livres per volume and the
plates at 30 livres per volume.) The STN agreed to let Pane-
koucke sell one-sixth instead of one-third of its half interest,
at a price specified in some missing letters. Panckoucke was
to sell half of his own interest. The shares would be divided
into twelfths, so that the ownership of the enterprise would be
be apportioned as follows: STN, 5/12; Panckoucke, 3/12; other
book dealers, 4/12. This arrangement would ease the strain on
Panckoucke’s finances and would lessen the danger of pirat-
ing by recruiting powerful backers like Marc Michel Rey,
whom Panckoucke planned to see in Amsterdam in the au-
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tumn. Instead of entering into a contractual relationship with
Suard, the STN merely authorized Panckoucke to negotiate
with him according to guidelines that it specified in a memo-
randum, which is missing from the Neuchatel papers. Since
Panckoucke had already fixed the terms of Suard’s operation
by the contract of August 14, the STN failed in this attempt
to trim the budget. Thus, as explained above, Suard was au-
thorized to put his philosophes to work rewriting Diderot’s
text at 5,000 livres per volume. After the completion of the
work, he was to receive an additional 20,000 livres, instead
of 40,000, as Panckoucke had originally proposed.'® Bertrand
of the STN was also to receive 20,000 livres for copyreading
and proofreading. And the STN was to print the entire work
but only at a pressrun of 2,000. So Panckoucke conceded
enough to mollify the Neuchatelois; but he gave very little
ground, and he forced his reluctant partners to accept the
plan for an ambitious and expensive reworking of Diderot’s
text, which he had originally formulated with Diderot himself.
Despite the cogency of Bosset’s arguments, the STN had
lost the second round of its bargaining with the most power-
ful publisher in France.

Joseph Duplain and His Quarto Encyclopédie

In the autumn of 1776 Panckoucke made a business trip to
Holland and England. Upon his return he reported to the
STN that he had sold 200 sets of the Geneva edition, ‘‘mais
il m’en reste encore et vous sentez que je ne puis pas m’oc-
cuper sérieusement de notre affaire que ces exemplaires ne
soient placés. Mais cela doit étre fait incessament.’”” He also
had sold shares in the revised edition, and he named Marec
Michel Rey of Amsterdam, C. Plomteux of Liége, and Ga-
briel Regnault of Lyons as the ‘‘autres associés.”” Each man
evidently bought a single share of 1/12, because Panckoucke
had had four 1/12 shares to sell, and he wrote that Rey had
bought only 1/12 instead of 2/12 as he had hoped. Regnault

19. Although Suard had accepted the contract for the revised edition on Aug.
14, 1776, he did not accept the modifications of it imposed by the Panckoucke—
STN agreement until much later. On Nov. 4, 1776, Panckoucke wrote to the STN:
‘“Je joins ici 1’acte que M. Suard a enfin signé. Il exigeait des changements. Je
lui ai représenté qu’ils entraineraient des longueurs et que nous n’avions déja
perdu que trop de temps. Je lui ai fait sentir la nécessité de 1’article du chémage,
la perte immense qu’une suspension, ne fiit-elle que d’un mois, entrainerait ete.’’
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had actually purchased his share in July 1776, when Panc-
koucke had stopped in Lyons after concluding the original
contract with the STN in Neuchétel and after seeing de Tour-
nes in Geneva. And Panckoucke returned to the STN the re-
maining 1/12 share, ‘‘que vous m’avez rétrocédé avec tant de
peine.”” Thus the enterprise had backers from important
dealers in Lyons, Liége, and Amsterdam as well as in Neu-
chatel and Paris.?®

It was proceeding smoothly, though at a slower pace than
anticipated, Panckoucke reported. Suard, who had tried to
haggle over details in his contract, could not complete the
first two volumes before August 1777, but he promised to pro-
duce the rest on schedule. Panckoucke would try to hurry
Fournier, who was to supply the STN’s font of type but was
overburdened with orders. The first three volumes of plates
should be finished by the end of 1777: it was slow work be-
cause they had to be reduced in scale and re-engraved in
order to fit the more compact format that had been planned.
None of these delays bothered Panckoucke, who still had at
least 100 of his old Encyclopédies to sell, but he presented
them as a blessing in disguise: ‘‘M. Rey est d’ avis de ne rien
annoncer d’ici & un an. Trop de préecipitation peut gater la
plus excellente affaire. Lle public pourrait prendre une médi-
ocre confiance dans une entreprise ot 1’on met tant de diligence
. . . On verra que c’est une entreprise de librairie mal con-
cue. On nous accusera d’avidité. En ne nous pressant pas trop
au contraire, nous aurons 1’agrément du public, des connais-
seurs, et nous ne pourrons manquer de faire une belle et utile
entreprise.”” Meanwhile, Panckoucke continued to feel the
strain on his finances. The capital from the new associates
had helped somewhat, but he had 80,000 livres outstanding in
his payments for 1777, so he had to hold the STN to a strict
schedule in the payments of the 108,000 livres it owed him.
He had already begun to pay wages to Suard. Later letters
revealed that Suard had received 1,000 livres a month from

20. Panckoucke to STN, Nov. 4, 1776. Regnault was one of the most important
bookdealers in Lyons. He apparently bought a 1/12 share in the reprint and
agreed to convert it to the refonte, just as the STN did. See Regnault to STN,
Aug. 27, 1776. Rey sold his 1/12 back to Panckoucke some time later. During its
brief period as his partner, the STN tried to develop close ties with him, but he
did not want to become aligned with a rival firm that sometimes pirated his own
books. See STN to Rey, Jan. 25, 1777, dossier Mare-Michel Rey, Bibliotheek van
de Vereeniging ter Bevordering van de Belangen des Boekhandels.
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September 1776, had rented an apartment at 300 livres a year
to serve as a ‘‘bureau de travail,”’ had hired a ‘‘commis in-
telligent’’ at 1,200 livres a year and a copyist at 800 livres,
and had set to work diligently combing other encyclopedias
and reference works, correcting errors in the original En-
cyclopédie, and collecting material for new articles. The en-
terprise was therefore well off the ground when a bookseller
from Lyons called Joseph Duplain threatened to bring it
crashing down.?

Duplain was one of the scrappiest book dealers in one of
the toughest towns of the book trade. Liyons served as the
main conduit for the mauvais livres and livres philosophiques
produced in Geneva and Lausanne and smuggled into France
to satisfy the demand for illegal literature. Lyonnais book-
sellers thought nothing of ordering wagonloads of works like
La Naissance du dauphin dévoilée and Le Systéme de la nature
and shepherding them through their guild hall, where their
syndics were supposed to confiscate them and turn them
over to the public hangman for laceration and burning. To be
sure, some booksellers in Liyons—the houses of Bruysset and
Périsse, for example—kept their hands clean and vouched for
the purity of the trade in their city in long-winded memoran-
dums to Versailles, where governmental agents, who knew
the Lyonnais very well, refuted them point by point.?? But
more forbidden books probably passed through Lyon than
through any other provincial city in France. The town had
a penchant for the underground trade because not only was
it a natural outlet for the Swiss and Avignonese printers, it
also had led the French provincial publishers in a long, losing
battle against the guild in Paris. The state had given the
Parisians a stranglehold on the publishing industry in the
late seventeenth century, and they never relaxed their grip
in the eighteenth. Because the Parisians monopolized legal
books—books with privileges—the provincials retaliated by
trading in pirated books, which were cheaper in any case,
thanks to the cut-rate, cutthroat capitalism of the pirates who
operated in havens like Neuchatel. These operators found

21. Panckoucke described his financial situation in a letter to the STN of
Nov. 4, 1776, and Suard discussed his own operations in letters of April 18, 1777,
and Jan. 11, 1779.

22. See, for example, the collection of memorandums in the Archives de la

Chambre syndicale des libraires et imprimeurs de Paris, Bibliothéque nationale,
ms. Fr, 21833.
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plenty of allies in Lyons, where book dealers sometimes com-
missioned pirated editions or wholesaled large portions of
them or helped with the smuggling. The Lyonnais could be
adversaries, too, because they sometimes printed illegal
books secretly in their own shops.

They also were tough customers. Traveling salesmen testi-
fied that it took courage and caution to beard a Lyonnais
bookseller in his shop. Before confronting his clients, Jean-
Elie Bertrand of the STN filled a notebook with sketches of
their characters and points to be covered in the negotiations.
He warned himself about ‘‘J. M. Bruysset, homme froid et
habile,’’ for example, noting that it would be wisest to steer
their discussion toward three themes, which he outlined in
detail and probably rehearsed before taking the plunge into
Bruysset’s back room. He seemed less intimidated by ‘‘les
fréres Périsse, gens d’esprit, se piquant de littérature,’’ with
whom he proposed to discuss six, carefully planned subjects.
And he placed ‘‘Jacquenod peére et fils’’ near the bottom of
the hierarchy of booksellers in Lyons. They warranted only
a quick chat: ‘‘une simple visite, traiter légérement avec
eux; le fils vaut mieux.’’®

The Lyonnais left similar impressions on Emeric David,
a printer from Aix-en-Provence, who recorded his reactions
in a diary during a business trip in 1787: ‘“Vu le célébre De
Los Rios: triste mine .. . n’est guére qu’un bouquiniste

. est, dit-on, charlatan, menteur.’’ ‘“Cizeron: homme agé
et indolent.”” “Vu M. Regnault, maitre homme: air assuré,
volonté ferme; parait avoir le coup d’oeil juste et les idées
nettes.”” “Diné au Chateau Périsse en table de 25 couverts.
Politesse excessive et qui ne se relache jamais. Ton cérémoni-
eux, méme entre proche parents . .. Périsse Duluc passe
avec raison pour homme d’esprit.”’ Despite such occasional
sumptuosity, David concluded that a spirit of crassness and
duplicity reigned in the book trade of Lyons: ‘‘Douze im-
primeries—les trois quarts ne s’occupent qu’aux contre-
facons . . . Point d’imprimeur qui cherche & bien faire . .
amour de l’argent . . . brigandage.’’*

Other inside observers drew the same conclusions. One clan-
destine bookdealer, who wrote a full account of the under-

23. ‘*Carnet de voyage, 1773, J. E. Bertrand,’’ STN papers, ms. 1058.

24, Emeric David, ‘‘Mon voyage de 1787,’” a diary in the Bibliothéque de
1’Arsénal, Paris, ms. 5947.
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ground trade for the police during a spell in the Bastille,
characterized the Lyonnais as specialists in the ‘“noble mé-
tier de fripons’’—that is, pirating: ‘‘Les Réguilliat, Reg-
nault . . . de Lyon sont les pestes de la librairie de Paris,
d’autant plus dangereux qu’ils sont protégés.’”’?® A bill col-
lector for the STN found the Lyonnais booksellers so shifty
that he could rarely get them to pay without threatening to
drag them into court: ‘‘Nous avons presque usé une paire de
souliers apreés Cellier, lequel est un vrai étourdi, barbouillon
et menteur.”’?® And Panckoucke not only fulminated against
individual Lyonnais dealers like Jean-Marie Barret—‘‘un
homme d’une insigne mauvaise foi’’—but he also pro-
nounced an anathema against them as a group: ‘‘Si j’avais a
faire choix d’un malhonnéte homme, il faudrait le chercher
dans la librairie de Lyon. Il n’y a ni foi ni pudeur.’’®

Joseph Duplain grew up and flourished in this milieu. His
father, Benoit, and his cousin, Pierre-Joseph, were booksel-
lers;®® and when he took over the family business, he was
known among his friends as a particularly sharp operator.
One of them, a smuggler, tried to recommend himself to the
STN by stressing how much his character differed from Du-
plain’s: ‘“Nous ne ressemblons point aux Duplain et aux Le
Roy, avec [sic] lesquels, quoiqu’amis intimes depuis 1’en-
fance, pour nous étre livrés a eux de bonne foi et nous étre fiés
a leur parole, voudraient nous escroquer un objet de 4000
livres et plus qui nous sont diis.”’?® By this time, the STN had
got to know Duplain very well from its own dealings with
him, which illustrate the symbiosis between provincial book-
sellers and foreign publishers.

In the spring of 1773, Duplain and the STN agreed to ex-
change two illegal works. Duplain promised to send eighty-
four copies of a twelve-volume duodecimo edition of Rous-

25. ¢“Mémoire sur la librairie de France fait par le sieur Guy pendant qu’il
était 4 la Bastille,’’ Feb. 8, 1767, Bibliothéque nationale, ms. Fr. 22123.

26. Jean Schaub to STN, Jan. 10, 1775.

27. Panckoucke to STN, Nov. 6, 1779.

28. Pierre-Joseph Duplain dealt heavily in the illegal trade until a colleague
denounced him in 1773 and a lettre de cachet forced him to flee to Switzerland.
In 1777 he turned up as a commissionnaire and clandestine dealer in Paris, where
he fought off bankruptey by handling the most lucrative and dangerous kinds of
forbidden books and manuscripts. See the P.-J. Duplain dossier in the STN
papers.

29. Revol to STN, June 24, 1780. Amable and Thomas Le Roy were also Lyon-
nais booksellers, who worked with Duplain on the quarto Encyclopédie.
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seau’s works, which he had had printed, as a trade for the
equivalent value in the STN'’s edition of Voltaire’s Questions
sur I’Encyclopédie. Exchanges in kind were common among
wholesalers in the book trade, and the STN sent its books off
punctually. But it had to wait three months before receiving
Duplain’s books. The Neuchatelois interpreted the delay as
an attempt by Duplain to keep them from competing with him
in the market for Rousseau, while he competed with them in
selling Voltaire. After they finally received the Rousseau,
they asked Duplain to do them a favor, which would prove his
good will and compensate them for his bad behavior. They
needed to get a shipment of the prohibited Emncyclopédie
d’Yverdon to the fair at Beaucaire and requested Duplain to
clear it through the guild in Lyons. He complied, thereby ac-
quiring a debt of his own to collect at a future date from the
STN. In the autumn of 1773, the Neuchatelois learned that
Duplain was producing a pirated edition of the Dictionnaire
des arts et métiers (five volumes, octavo), which they also had
begun to print. They suppressed their counterfeit edition in
favor of his—and then came back at him with another re-
quest. They needed help in getting the release of three crates
of forbidden books that had been seized in the Lyons guild.
Duplain did so and forwarded them on to the STN’s cus-
tomer, Gaude of Nimes. A few months later he agreed to clear
another shipment of the Encyclopédie d’Yverdon through the
guild: ‘““L’Encyclopédie ne passe plus ici. Notre Chambre
syndicale a recu a cet égard des ordres trés préeis, mais
comme je n’ai point oublié le service que vous m’avez rendu,
adressez-moi ceux que vous voulez faire passer et ils pas-
seront.’’3°

Next it was Duplain’s turn to request a service. He had
printed a pirated edition of Les lois ecclésiastiques. The
widow Dessaint, a powerful Parisian bookseller who owned
the privilege for the book, had managed to get a shipment of
Duplain’s edition seized and was prosecuting him for piracy.
In order to save himself from a heavy fine and perhaps dis-
barment, Duplain asked the STN to send a fake petition to
the lieutenant general of police in Paris. It should state that
the STN had bought the shipment from a publisher outside

30. Duplain to STN, Nov. 3, 1775. The other information in this paragraph
has been culled from the eighty-four letters in Duplain’s dossier in the STN
papers.
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France and had sent it to Duplain, who had discovered that
it lacked some sheets. The STN should explain that it had
persuaded Duplain—after a great deal of pleading—to have
the sheets printed locally, thereby saving the value of the
book without becoming entangled in negotiations with the
real pirate publisher. The widow Dessaint had learned of this
small repair job and had accused Duplain of publishing the
entire work—a calumny that could cause a disastrous miscar-
riage of justice. Therefore (the STN should say), the French
authorities ought to have the shipment sent back to Neu-
chatel and ought to clear Duplain ‘‘d’une accusation et d’un
proces ou il ne doit pas entrer.”” The STN had no desire to
make a false confession to the Paris police, but it appreciated
the value of an ally in the guild of Lyons, so it sent the peti-
tion to Duplain: ‘“‘Vous trouverez sous ce pli la requéte que
vous désirez. Nous souhaitons qu’elle fasse 1’effet que vous en
attendez, le tout sans notre préjudice, et serons charmés
d’avoir souvent occasion de vous prouver notre dévoue-
ment.”’®! Such was the way relations evolved between Lyon-
nais dealers and Swiss publishers—a matter of accumulating
obligations while driving hard bargains, of steering between
extremes of competition and cooperation, and of holding mu-
tual mistrust well enough in check to inflict damage on com-
mon enemies in Paris.

In December 1776 this man, who epitomized the Lyonnais
style of book dealing at its toughest, issued a prospectus for
a cheap reprint of the Encyclopédie in quarto format. Du-
plain had no right to do such a thing; the ‘‘rights’’ to the
book were owned by Panckoucke and his associates, and even
they did not dare to print it on French soil. So Duplain was
taking a gamble. He was announcing the publication of an
enormous, illegal work before he had any assurance that he
could bring it into being or get it into France. But prospec-
tuses were cheap: Duplain merely announced his terms in a
handbill, which he mailed to his clients and contacts. He evi-
dently wanted to see what the response would be before
spending money on type and paper. Since he proposed the
work by subscription, he could apply the subscribers’ down
payments to this expensive initial investment. And while
sounding the market, he could keep himself hidden. For he

31. Duplain to STN, Nov. 3,1775, and STN to Duplain, Nov. 9, 1775.
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issued the prospectus under the name of Jean Léonard Pel-
let, a Genevan publisher, who agreed to serve as straw man
for 3,000 livres.

This process of sounding—or ‘‘taking the pulse of the pub-
lic,”’ as it was known among eighteenth-century publishers—
also involved printing annonces and awvis or advertising
notices in certain journals. On January 3, 1777, the Gazette
de Leyde ran an avis about Duplain’s speculation that is the
richest source of information about its original character.
The notice showed that Duplain meant to follow the same
strategy as Bosset had recommended, that is, to tap a wide
market by producing a relatively cheap Ewncyclopédie. 1t
lamented the fact that the supreme work of the century—a
book that was a library in itself—had been priced beyond the
range of the persons who could most profit from it. The nou-
veaux éditeurs—whom it did not mention by name—therefore
were offering it at a spectacular reduction: for 344 livres
instead of 1,400 livres, its current selling price. They could
slash the price so drastically, they explained, by producing
only three volumes of plates—no great loss, because most of
the plates in the original eleven folio volumes had little util-
ity. The new edition would contain re-engraved versions of
the truly important plates, and any reader who wanted to
collect illustrations of trades could buy the inexpensive
Cahiers des arts et métiers sponsored by the Académie des
sciences. The text of the new edition, however, would be far
superior to the old. Printed (appropriately) in a type called
philosophie and on handsome paper, it would incorporate the
Supplément, would correct the numerous errors of the folio
editions, and would contain some new material, which the
notice described vaguely as ‘‘quelques morceaux que leur
rareté ou leur utilité rendent précieux.’”’ Subscribers should
make a down payment of 12 livres and should send 10 livres
after receiving each volume of text and 18 livres after each
volume of plates (the last volume of plates would cost only 6
livres). They would receive twenty-nine volumes of text and
three volumes of plates at a rate of six to eight volumes a year.
The publishers would limit their printing to the subseriptions
they received; so it would be impossible to take advantage of
this bargain after the subscription closed. Anyone interested
should rush his down payment to a book dealer in Geneva
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called Téron, who apparently was serving as a marketing
agent for Duplain.

To announce a cheap Encyclopédie while Panckoucke was
producing an expensive one was like holding a pistol to his
head, but Panckoucke was not the sort who would wait for
the enemy to fire first. He counterattacked with another En-
cyclopédie project, which he and the STN formulated in a
contract dated January 3, 1777 (see Appendix A. IV-V).
First, they acknowledged that the announcement of Duplain’s
prétendue nouvelle édition made it necessary for them to re-
duce the printing of their revised edition from 2,000 to 1,000
sets. But they would retaliate with a counterquarto, which
would force Duplain’s off the market because it would be a
cheap version of the revised text printed at a large pressrun
of 3,150. It would have only three or four volumes of plates
and thirty-six to forty volumes of text, which would cost 12
livres apiece. It would therefore be somewhat larger and
more expensive than Duplain’s edition, but not so expensive
as to be in another price range. Potential buyers could be ex-
pected to shy away from Duplain’s edition if they knew that
a distinguished group of philosophes were preparing a su-
perior work. And Panckoucke would make sure that the buy-
ers stayed away from the rival quarto by enforecing his droits
et priviléges.

Privilege protection was a crucial element in Panckoucke’s
strategy. He owned the exclusive right to reproduce the
book—a right so valid, according to the standards of the day,
that he could divide it into portions and sell it at a very high
price throughout western Europe. It would be vain to trans-
late a legal fiction into a palpable asset, if legality could not
be enforced. Therefore the state had to be made to hunt down
Duplain’s quartos as rigorously as if they were contraband
salt. A few exemplary confiscations, and even the publication
of a fierce interdiction, would make many of Duplain’s sub-
scribers desert to the Panckoucke group. So Panckoucke got
Le Camus de Néville, the Directeur de la librairie, to send a
circular letter to the various booksellers’ guilds and the in-
specteurs de la librairie, warning that Duplain’s quarto was
an illegal, pirated edition and that all copies of it would be
confiscated by the authorities. Thus Panckoucke and his asso-
ciates struck back in two ways: they tried to woo away Du-
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plain’s subscribers and potential subscribers by offering
their own, superior quarto Encyclopédie, and they tried to
crush Duplain’s quarto with the power of the French state.
But this counteroffensive raises a question important enough
to merit a digression: how was it that the French government,
which had nearly destroyed the first two editions of this book,
could serve as the main line of defense in an effort to save
the third?

Publishing, Politics, and Panckoucke

This paradox seems less puzzling if one considers the dif-
ferences between the government that locked Panckoucke’s
6,000 Enyclopédies in the Bastille in 1770 and the government
that released them in 1776. The political situation had become
more and more oppressive during the last years of Louis
XV’s reign. From the costly and humiliating experience of
the Seven Years’ War and the dissolution of the Jesuits in
1764 to the Brittany Affair and the parliamentary crisis of
1771-1774, the government had aroused increasing opposi-
tion, which it put down with increasing authoritarianism. It
was especially severe in policing the book trade, as Panc-
koucke learned at considerable expense. But the accession
of Louis XVI in May 1774 brought an end to the tough ¢‘tri-
umvirate’’ ministry of Maupeou, Terray, and d’Aiguillon.
Turgot, a contributor to the Encyclopédie and a friend of the
philosophes, set the tone of the new reign. Even after his fall
in June 1776, the government remained intermittently re-
formist, and it was especially liberal in its policy on publish-
ing. On August 30, 1777, it issued several edicts that were
intended to tighten measures against pirating and to loosen
the monopoly on privileges held by the members of the Pari-
sian booksellers’ guild (Communauté des libraires et des im-
primeurs de Paris).

The guild looked like a vestige of Louisquatorzean state-
craft in 1777. The state had used it in the second half of the
seventeenth century to gain control of the printed word. Col-
bert had eliminated a great many provincial presses, had
concentrated publishing in Paris under the authority of the
guild, and had enlisted the guild’s help in suppressing all
nonprivileged books. With the censorship, the royal bureauc-
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racy, and the police reinforcing their economic monopoly, the
guild members had taken over most book privileges, forcing
their provincial rivals into the arms of publishers like the
STN, which specialized in pirated and prohibited works. By
the accession of Louis XVI, this policy had proved to be
counterproductive. It had produced a boom in the illegal book
trade, while giving the Parisian patriciate a monopoly of
orthodox literature. The reformers of Louis XVI wanted to
liberalize the orthodoxy and to create a limited free trade in
books. Their legislation provided that instead of conferring
an unlimited and perpetual right to a work, a privilege should
normally expire after ten years or the death of its author.
Authors themselves and their heirs could hold privileges in-
definitely (the power of the guild had made it almost impos-
sible for them to possess the privileges for their own works),
and provincial printers could produce any book that fell into
the public domain—that is, the great bulk of the literature
that had been reserved for the Parisians. The August edicts
conceded that the Parisian monopoly had forced the provin-
cials into piracy, and so it allowed them to liquidate their cur-
rent stock of counterfeit books but set up a system of severe
penalties and policing to prevent any further trade in pirated
as well as prohibited books.®?

Inspired as they were by a desire to instill a modern, entre-
preneurial spirit to an industry that had languished under an
archaie, Colbertist organization, these edicts produced con-
sternation in the Parisian oligarchy. The guild responded
with petitions, protests, pamphlets, lawsuits, and a kind of
informal strike, which created chaos in the publishing indus-
try until the Revolution resolved the dispute by destroying
privilege and corporatism altogether. Throughout the pro-
testing, the most powerful member of the Parisian guild was
conspicuous by his absence. In December 1777, the Paris
agent of the STN reported: ‘“Les libraires d’ici font feu et
flamme contre les nouveaux réglements. 100 d’entr’eux s’as-
sembleront ici & quelques jours a la chambre syndicale et don-

32. See the text of the edicts of Aug. 30, 1777, in Recueil des anciennes lois
frangaises, ed. F. A, Isambert, Decrusy, and A. H. Taillandier (Paris, 1822-33),
XXV, 108-128 and, for a general discussion of guild versus entrepreneurial pub-
lishing, Robert Darnton, ‘‘Reading, Writing, and Publishing in Eighteenth-Cen-

tury France: A Case Study in the Sociology of Literature,’’ Daedalus (winter,
1971), pp. 214-256.
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neront une requéte au Garde des Sceaux. Si elle n’a pas le
suceés désiré, ils s’adresseront au Roi. Il s’agit principale-
ment de la conservation des priviléges . . . Panckoucke . .
n’était point & 1’assemblée des libraires, qui 1’accusent d’étre
I’auteur de tous ces réglements.’’® Panckoucke did not dis-
cuss his role in the reforms openly in his own letters, but he
did not hide his bad relations with the other members of the
guild and his support of the new legislation. ‘“On parle beau-
coup d’un nouveau réglement, mais j’ignore encore quand il
paraitra,’”’ he wrote on July 4, 1777. ‘‘La librairie a besoin
d’une réforme. Les abus ont produit les excés, qui a son tour
ont fait tout le mal dont nous sommes témoins.’’ On Novem-
ber 19, 1777, he wrote, ‘‘Les arréts font ici beaucoup de sensa-
tion. Il y a des représentations de toutes parts. Les gens de
lettres et les libraires paraissent avoir mis leur raison sous
leurs pieds. Il est impossible de plus mal voir et de plus
mal raisonner.’”®* In 1791, he tried to prove his civisme by
emphasizing his opposition to ‘‘les vautours de la librairie,
les despotes des chambres syndicales’’ before 1789. He
claimed that he had fought against the guild’s esprit de corps
by campaigning for the reforms of 1777.2®* He must have cam-
paigned discreetly, however, because all he could produce by
way of evidence for his prerevolutionary progressivism was
a memoir, apparently written for the Direction de la librairie,
which argued the government’s case against a memoir sub-
mitted by the guild. But Panckoucke could not be expected to
break openly with the guild in 1777; and he may well have
been a key figure in the reform of the book trade, as con-
temporaries believed, even if he remained behind the scenes
advising and lobbying in the style that he preferred.3®

One reason for Panckoucke’s alienation from the other

33. Perregaux to STN, Dee. 17, 1777.

34. Indicating his alignment with the provineial booksellers against the Pa-
risians, he added, ‘‘Les Rouennais ont fait des remerciements par députations.
Il serait & désirer que Lyon et les autres grandes villes en fassent d’autant.
Quoiqu’il en arrive, ces arréts ne font rien i notre affaire [that is, the Encyclo-
pédie].’’

35. Lettre de M. Panckoucke 4 Messieurs le président et électeurs de 1791
(Paris, Sept. 9, 1791), pp. 23, 14.

36. Panckoucke described his role as a reformer and his memoir in some ‘¢Ob-
servations de M. Panckoucke,’’ which he published in the Mercure of Nov. 21,
1789. He printed the memoir itself, or at least part of it—a low-keyed, reason-
able argument for limiting book privileges—in the Encyclopédie méthodique,
Jurisprudence, VI, 813-8117.
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members of the guild was that he did not do business as they
did. Except for a few adventurers, they tended to be con-
servative, to milk privileges for safe books—classics, legal
treatises, religious works, and the like—which brought them
a relatively secure, regular, and restricted income. He specu-
lated extravagantly on new books and enormous compila-
tions: the thirty-volume Grand vocabulaire francais, the
twenty-three volume Abrégé de U’histoire gémérale des voy-
ages, and the eighty-six-volume Répertoire universel et rai-
sonné de jurisprudence. In 1763 when he set himself up in
business in Paris by acquiring the stock in trade of the book-
seller Michel Lambert, Panckoucke assumed responsibility for
selling the massive works being turned out by the Imprimerie
royale: Buffon’s Histoire naturelle, which eventually ran to
thirty-six volumes in quarto, the forty-one-volume Mémoires
de I’ Académie des wnscriptions et belles-lettres, and the Mé-
moires de l’Académie royale des sciences, which had been
printed since 1699 and reached volume 188 in 1793.

Panckoucke did not finance these elephantine enterprises
single-handed. He set up consortia, sold shares, and spun to-
gether credits and debits in such complex combinations that
it is impossible to form a clear idea of the extent of his
wealth. He clearly made enough from his books to pay Anis-
son Duperron, the Directeur de 1’Imprimerie royale, 70,000
to 80,000 livres a year, and he speculated still more heavily
in journalism. At various stages of his career, he invested in
sixteen periodicals. He merged nine journals in the Mercure,
and swallowed up others at such a rate that he can be con-
sidered the first press baron in French history. In the 1770s
he followed a general policy of shifting from the book trade
to journalism, as he explained to the STN: ‘“‘Je viens d’avoir
le brevet du Mercure pour 25 ans avec des advantages que
n’avait pas mon prédécesseur. J’y ai remis le Journal de
politique et les souscriptions de cinq journaux que je sup-
prime. Cette opération me porte a réaliser le plan que j’ai
toujours eu de vendre mon fonds, hors L’Histoire natu-
relle.’”® In 1776 he even considered establishing a residence
in Neuchatel, so that he could speculate on books from a safe

37. Panckoucke to STN, July 7, 1778. In a letter to the STN of Nov. 4, 1776,
Panckoucke explained, ‘‘Je suis chaque année avec M. Duperron, Directeur de
1’Imprimerie royale, pour 70 & 80 mille livres . . . Je vous prie de faire attention
que je serais en avance de plus de 80 mille livres & la fin de 1777.°’
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base outside the kingdom during the summer months and
manage his journalistic empire from Paris during the
winter.®®

Contemporaries saw this empire building as an attempt
to monopolize the entire book trade. After Panckoucke
bought the nation’s oldest journal, La Gazette de France, in
1786, the Mémoires secrets commented, ‘‘I.’avidité du sieur
Panckoucke est insatiable: a lui seul, s’il pouvait, il envahir-
ait toute la librairie.””®® Ten years earlier the STN asked
him if it were true as rumored that he had offered to pay the
crown 8 million livres a year in order to completely take over
the printing industry. Panckoucke attributed the rumor to
resentment over his role in the reform of the book trade:
“L’offre de 8 millions pour étre seul imprimeur n’a pas le
sens commun, Le bruit en a aussi couru [ici], et mille autres

38. Panckoucke outlined this plan, which would have involved d’Alembert’s
intervention to get the blessing of Frederick II, in a draft of a letter to the STN
dated Deec. 25, 1776, in the Bibliothéque publique et universitaire de Genéve, ms.
suppl. 148: ¢‘Mandez-moi, Messieurs, si un frangais catholique romain peut
acheter chez vous, dans le Comté de Neuchitel et de Valangin, des terres, des
biens-fonds. Faites-moi aussi savoir si le roi de Prusse peut lui donner des places,
quelles sont celles qui sont & sa nomination, quelles sont celles qui s’achetent,
celles qui se donnent, s’il ne faut point étre protestant pour les occuper, s’il y en
a actuellement quelques unes de vacantes, celles qui exigent résidence, s’il ne
suffirait pas d’y étre quelques mois de 1’année, ete. Je ne vous cache pas, Messieurs,
que je serais assez d’avis d’aller m’établir avec ma femme et une fille six mois de
1’année auprés de vous, c’est & dire la belle saison, et de revenir passer 1’hiver a
Paris. Comme M. d’Alembert compte faire un voyage en Prusse au mois de mai,
nous profiterons de ce moment pour notre dédicace [that is, of the Encyclopédie],
et j’aurais envie d’en profiter moi-méme pour me donner dans votre ville un état
qui pourrait donner plus de consistance & nos opérations. J’ai d’ailleurs ici le
projet de vendre tout mon fonds hors L’Histoire naturelle et mon journal. On fait
méme actuellement mon inventaire, et cette vente peut étre faite dans un mois,
de sorte que si elle avait lieu, je n’hésiterais point 4 acheter la petite maison de
M. Bosset De Luze, avec quelques dépendances. Mais comme nous dépendons dans
le monde de 1’opinion et qu’en vendant ici les trois quarts de mon fonds, je ne
voudrais point avoir 1’air d’aller établir auprés de vous une librairie nouvelle, je
voudrais une place honnéte, qui motivit cet arrangement. Nous avons eu des
libraires dans ce pays-ci qui ont formé des établissements chez plusieurs souve-
rains, mais tous ont eu des places, qui ont autorisé leurs démarches, et je voudrais
étre dans le méme cas.’’ Panckoucke excluded everything except the first two
sentences of this part of the letter in the final draft sent to the STN on the next
day, but later allusions in letters from the STN to him show that he had dis-
cussed the possibility of taking residence in Neuchiatel with Ostervald and Bosset.

39. Bachaumont, entry for Deec. 2, 1786. And in its entry for July 6, 1778, the
Mémoires secrets remarked, ‘‘Le sieur Panckoucke, en vertu du brevet qui lui
accorde 1’entreprise du Mercure, éléve les plus grandes prétentions. Il ne se con-
tente pas d’avoir déja englobé le Journal framgais, celui Des dames, celui De
politique et de littérature; il voudrait que les autres devinssent encore au moins
tributaires du sien & cause de sa primatie.’’
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calomnies. Comme on croit que j’ai bonne part a ces arréts,
les libraires sont irrités contre moi. Cela se calmera.’’*’

Panckoucke’s peculiar position as the ‘‘ Atlas de la librai-
rie’’* made him a natural ally of the government against the
guild. Whether or not he collaborated on the edicts of 1777,
he represented the entrepreneurial spirit that they attempted
to instill in the book trade. Of course Duplain was also an
entrepreneur, but he operated as a pirate, outside the law.
Panckoucke, the bookseller of the Imprimerie royale, specu-
lated from the center of the system—a system whose en-
lightened reformism and liberal trade policy harmonized
perfectly with his own interests and attitudes. But Panc-
koucke’s speculation on the Encyclopédie seemed to contra-
dict his general principles and policies. He favored reforms
to restrict privileges and to open up the market while using
his privilege for the Ewncyclopédie to close the market to
Duplain. There was no contradiction in Panckoucke’s own
interests, however, because the ten-year limit on privileges
decreed by the reforms of 1777 did not threaten his stake in
the Encyclopédie. The slack sales of the Geneva edition indi-
cated that there would be little future demand for the book in
its original form, especially if the Neuchétel reprint were to be
executed. But Panckoucke expected the revised edition to do
very well, and the edicts of 1777 stipulated that any book
whose text had been increased by at least one quarter should
be exempted from the expiration of its privilege. Moreover,
the new legislation provided stronger protection against pi-
rating, which was the greatest danger facing the revised edi-
tion. So the revised edition would fare better under the new
laws than under the old. Panckoucke’s general plan to shift
his investments from books to periodicals would protect him
from the expiration of his other privileges, in case any of
them were endangered, because the edicts of 1777 did not
affect privileges for journals. And above all, his support of
the government in its confrontation with the guild put him
in a position to defend all of his interests by pulling strings
in Versailles.

This last consideration was probably the most important
because publishing in the Old Regime had none of the gen-

40. STN to Panckoucke, Dec. 18, 1777, and Panckoucke to STN, Deec. 22, 1777.
41. Bachaumont, entry for Dec. 5, 1781.
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tlemanly veneer it later developed and Old Regime politics
took the form of court intrigue, unrestrained by popular par-
ticipation. Administration involved the exploitation of office
unencumbered by a civil service tradition. And officeholders
expected a yield on their investment without any modern
compunctions about graft and bribery. Conflicts of interest
therefore were resolved by influence peddling or ‘‘protec-
tion’’ as it was known in the eighteenth century.*?
Panckoucke’s protectors included the most powerful men
in Versailles. His letters often alluded to his influence in the
highest quarters, especially among men like Jean-Charles-
Pierre Lenoir, the lieutenant-général de police of Paris, who
could confiscate counterfeit copies of Panckoucke’s books; Le
Camus de Néville, the Directeur de la librairie, who could
look after Panckoucke’s interests in the bureaucracy in
charge of the book trade; and the comte de Vergennes, the
foreign minister, who could open France’s borders to books
Panckoucke wanted to import and close them to his rivals.
Panckoucke had such influence in the government that Lin-
guet accused him of tyranny and, to prove the point, pub-
lished a letter to him from Vergennes, which was ‘‘écrite
avec tant de cordialité, d’affection, de politesse et de con-
sidération, qu’elle sort absolument du protocole ordinaire,”’
according to the Mémoires secrets.*® So deeply did Panc-
koucke ingratiate himself in Versailles that contemporaries
considered him as a kind of ex officio minister of culture: ¢“Sa
voiture le portait chez les ministres a Versailles, ou il était
recu comme un fonctionnaire ayant portefeuille.’’**
Panckoucke naturally used his protections to defend his
interests. When the most outspoken edition of Raynal’s His-
toire philosophique et politique des établissements et du com-
merce des Européens dans les deux Indes (Geneva, 1780) was
prohibited in France, Panckoucke called on Vergennes and
Maurepas: soon afterwards his agents were selling it in the
42. A study of politics and influence peddling in the court of Louis XV and
Louis XVI remains to be written, but a great deal about this strangely neglected
subject may be learned from Michel Antoine, Le conseil du roi sous le régne de
Louis XV (Geneva, 1970) and J. F. Bosher, French Finances 1770-1795: From
Business to Bureaucracy (Cambridge, Eng., 1970).
43. Bachaumont, entry for Sept. 17, 1776. The Mémoires secrets found the
letter so familiar as to be of dubious authenticity, but noted, ‘‘On explique cela
en disant que M. de Vergennes 1’a éerite lui-méme, d ’abondance de coeur.’’

44. D.-J. Garat, Mémoires historiques sur la vie de M. Suard, sur ses écrits, et
sur le XV1IIe siécle (Paris, 1820), I, 274.
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Palais royal while the police looked the other way. He alone
succeeded in getting permission to market the quarto Ge-
nevan edition of Voltaire’s works in 1776. The ministers of
Louis XVTI not only returned his confiscated volumes of the
Genevan Encyclopédie but also gave him permission to im-
port huge shipments of it directly to his warehouses in Paris,
by-passing the customs and the inspectors of the guild.*> His
influence in Versailles was so notorious that booksellers
trembled before him. J. M. Barret, one of the canniest dealers
in Lyons, warned the STN not to attempt to smuggle a pi-
rated edition of Buffon’s Histoire naturelle into France be-
cause Panckoucke owned the privilege for it: ‘“Vous n’ig-
norez pas que M. Panckoucke, furieusement jaloux de cet
article, obtiendra facilement des ministres, avee qui il est
bien, les ordres les plus sévéres pour en arréter le cours; et
le libraire de France qui serait surpris, serait écrasé.’’®
Panckoucke deployed his protections to greatest effect in
defending his journalistic empire. The STN published a small
literary journal and tried for years, using all manner of
machinations and bribes, to get it permitted in France. Noth-
ing worked: Panckoucke would not allow the slightest incur-
sion into the market of his Mercure.*” In 1779, Panckoucke
claimed that the Journal de littérature, des sciences et des

45, In his Lettre of Sept. 9, 1791, Panckoucke boasted about his success in
circulating the works of Voltaire, Rousseau, and Raynal: ‘‘Je sus si bien manier
les ministres du roi que je les ai fait librement circuler dans le royaume’’ (p. 9;
see also p. 16 on the sales of Raynal’s Histoire philosophique and the similar re-
marks in Bachaumont, entry for Feb. 16, 1776). Of course Panckoucke did not
pull strings merely to spread Enlightenment. A document in the Bodleian Library,
Oxford, ms. Fr. ¢.31, a contract between Panckoucke and Stoupe dated May 7,
1781, shows that he bought a controlling interest in a Genevan edition of the
Histoire philosophique for about 250,000 livres. Panckoucke mentioned his special
permission to import the Geneva Encyclopédie in a letter to the STN of Aug. 5,
1777.

46. Barret to STN, Oct. 24, 1779. Four years later the STN made the same
proposition to Amable Le Roy of Lyons and received the same reply (Le Roy to
STN, Deec. 17, 1783) : ‘‘Je n’hésiterais pas de m’y intéresser pour mon industrie,
si elles [vos spéculations] n’étaient pas dirigées contre M. Panckoucke, qui est le
favori de tous les ministres. Il a un privilége authentique sur cet ouvrage, et je
crois qu’il écraserait de son crédit un libraire national qui tremperait dans votre
projet.’’

47, The STN'’s campaign occurred for the most part after it had finished its
speculation on the Encyclopédie with Panckoucke. Several of its agents reported
that he blocked every attempt to negotiate a permission. See Thiriot to STN,
May 5, 1781 (‘‘Panckoucke jette feu et flammes, rien n’avance chez le Garde des
Sceaux’’) and similar remarks in Le Senne to STN, undated letter, evidently
from May 1780.
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arts had trespassed on his territory when it published some
political news disguised as letters to the editor. The govern-
ment ruled that the journal had violated his privilege and
would have to pay him a prohibitively expensive indemnity
if it continued to discuss subjects that were reserved for the
Mercure. The Journal de Paris became involved in a similar
quarrel with the Mercure in 1786 and was likely to lose, the
Mémoires secrets commented, because Panckoucke ‘‘a dis-
tribué environ mille louis dans les bureaux des Affaires étran-
géres, du Ministre de Paris et de la Police.””*® Panckoucke
did force the Journal de Paris to discontinue printing for a
while in 1777 and also got the Journal encyclopédique sus-
pended in 1773 for printing some remark that displeased a
minister. The real reason for this severity, according to the
Mémoires secrets, was that the Journal encyclopédique con-
trolled a market that Panckoucke wanted to take over with
his Journal historique et politique; the Journal encyclopé-
dique had no legal status in France, because it was published in
Bouillon. It only saved itself by paying a ransom of 51,500
livres to Panckoucke. Panckoucke himself had to make regu-
lar payments to various ministries in order to maintain his
monopolies. In January 1777 he found that he could not pro-
duce 22,000 livres that were due to the foreign ministry, and
three months later he was 340,000 livres in the red. This time
he used his protections to save himself from bankruptey.
Amelot, minister for the département de Paris and the mai-
son du roi, permitted him to suspend payments temporarily,
and soon afterwards Panckoucke reestablished his finances
well enough to reassert his special relations with Versailles.

Lobbying was therefore essential to publishing as Panc-

48. Bachaumont, entry for Aug. 31, 1786. On the other incidents mentioned
here see Bachaumont, entries for Nov. 5, 1786; Nov. 13, 1786; July 2, 1773; and
the additional remarks printed as an appendix in Bachaumont, vol. 27, pp. 278~
279 without an entry date. Bachaumont is more reliable for information about
public opinion than events, but most historians of eighteenth-century journalism
have had to rely on it for lack of a better source, except the journals themselves.
For general background on the subject see Eugéne Hatin, Histoire politique et
littéraire de la presse en France, 8 vols. (Paris, 1859-61) and Hatin, Biblio-
graphie historique et critique de la presse périodique frangaise (Paris, 1866), which
have not been superseded by the more recent work of Claude Bellanger, Jacques
Godechot, Pierre Guiral, and Fernand Terrou, Histoire générale de la presse
frangaise (Paris, 1969), vol. I. On Panckoucke’s financial crisis of 1777 see his
Lettre of Sept. 9, 1791, pp. 11, 29.
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koucke practiced it, and he was a notoriously tough practi-
tioner. He turned the apparatus of the state against his com-
petitors. But he did not call on the government lightly. He
refused the STN’s constant requests for help in its own, com-
paratively insignificant attempts at lobbying by explaining
that he hoarded his influence in order to use it in moments
of supreme importance: ‘‘Je ne puis pas encore vous rendre
service auprés de M. de Néville, qui protégera notre grande
affaire. Je ne dois pas I’importuner de petites demandes . . .
Je vous servirai mieux dans les choses importantes quand je
conserverai aupres des magistrats une bonne réputation que
les criailleries de mes confréres ne pourront entamer.’’*®
“Notre grande affaire’” meant the Ewncyclopédie. Panc-
koucke planned to defend his privilege for the book by in-
voking his protections.

The confrontation between the revised and the quarto En-
cyclopédie was therefore as complex as any conflict of inter-
est in the Old Regime. It can not be interpreted simply as a
contest between privilege and enterprise because Panckoucke
was a privileged entrepreneur who fought off rivals by enlist-
ing the government on his side but sided with the underpriv-
ileged in the government’s attempt to open up the publishing
industry. That the state should defend a book it had prohib-
ited eighteen years earlier may seem paradoxical, but no less
paradoxical than the fact that it based its defense on a prin-
ciple—privilege—which it called into question by its reforms
and which the Encyclopédie itself undermined. The Old Re-
gime was shot full of such contradictions, especially during
its last years, when reformers attempted to remodel elements
of the system without changing its structure. But one con-
sistent motive ran through all the twists and turns of Panc-
koucke’s Ewncyclopédie policy: self-interest. Whatever his
personal values and his friendships with the philosophes, he
kept to an old-fashioned strategy of greasing palms and
twisting arms. He was even ready to embrace his enemy if
it would increase his profit margin.

49. Panckoucke to STN, May 5, 1777. The STN had asked Panckoucke’s help
in getting the release of some confiscated copies of its pirated edition of the
Description des arts et métiers. Panckoucke refused on the grounds that ‘‘ce
serait me compromettre. On a permis 1’entrée directe dans mes magasins de

plusieurs balles Encyclopédie. Mes injustes confréres, sachant les liaisons que j’ai
avec votre maison, ont soupconné qu’elles pouvaient contenir de vos Arts.’’
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From the Revised Edition to the Quarto

It was therefore perfectly natural for Panckoucke to get
the Directeur de la librairie to strike down Duplain’s quarto
Encyclopédie by decree. But soon after setting this counter-
attack in motion, Panckoucke began to consider a greater
temptation: was there not more to be gained by joining Du-
plain than by beating him? This issue arose because of an-
other peculiarity of eighteenth-century publishing: indus-
trial espionage.

On December 26, 1776, Panckoucke sent to the STN a secret
report on Duplain’s enterprise, which he had received from
Gabriel Regnault, their associate in Lyons: ¢“C’est par son
canal que je suis instruit de toutes les démarches de Duplain,
mais il ne faut pas qu’il soit compromis.”’ Regnault, who was
one of the craftiest book dealers in Lyons, had received con-
fidential information about the success of the quarto sub-
seription, presumably from contacts inside Duplain’s shop.
The information was so convincing and the success so spec-
tacular that Panckoucke suddenly decided to reverse his
plans. Two-and-a-half weeks later he and Duplain met in
Dijon and agreed to exploit the quarto in common instead of
waging war on one another.*

Just how Panckoucke came to make this fourth drastic
change in his Encyclopédie policy cannot be determined be-
cause the documentation is too sparse. But his contract with
Duplain of January 14, 1777, which they usually referred to
later as the Traité de Dijon, provides an unusually rich ac-
count of how a publishing enterprise was organized in the
eighteenth century. Since it determined the character of the
Encyclopédie that finally emerged from all of Panckoucke’s
machinations, it deserves to be studied in detail (see Appen-
dix A. VI). The contract created a société or association
between Panckoucke and Duplain, allotting to each a half inter-
est in the quarto edition. Panckoucke received half the in-
come from the subscriptions that had already arrived and
that would continue to accumulate in response to the pro-

50. Panckoucke to STN, Dec. 26, 1776. Regnault’s report and the other letters
to and from Panckoucke at this time are missing from the STN’s papers, but
the Dijon agreement and the subsequent correspondence of the STN make it
clear that Panckoucke considered the quarto such a commercial success that he
preferred to cash in on it rather than to destroy it.
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spectuses already spread through ‘‘toutes les provinces’’ of
France. In return, he bestowed upon the enterprise ‘‘tous les
droits qu’il peut transmettre’’—that is a legal status deriv-
ing from his ownership of the ‘‘droits [et] cuivres du Dic-
tionnaire encyclopédique et du privilége du recueil de planches
sur les sciences, arts et métiers.”” He was to oversee the pro-
duction of the three volumes of plates and to handle ship-
ments for the Paris market—a delicate business in which his
protections could be crucial. Duplain was to manage the pro-
duction and distribution of the twenty-nine volumes of text.
Each partner would gather subscriptions and would report
on their progress every month. After a semiannual tallying
of accounts, profits would be divided equally. The subserip-
tions had poured in so quickly that Duplain expected to ac-
cumulate enough capital from the down payments to cover
the initial costs of production; but if those costs temporarily
outstripped revenues, each partner would advance half the
capital necessary to continue with the printing.5! To simplify
the accounting, Duplain would receive a fixed amount for
every sheet printed at the pressrun of 4,250, and Panc-
koucke would be compensated in the same way for the re-
touching and re-engraving of the plates. Since the produc-
tion of the text would be the most demanding phase of the
operation, Duplain was to receive 2,000 livres a year for
expenses. The new association also would pay 600 livres a
year to a rédacteur, who would blend the four-volume Swup-
plément into the text, ‘‘sans addition ni correction’’—that is,
he was not to tamper with the text but to act more as a copy-
ist than a copy editor. This was the only respect in which the
contract deviated from the provisions of Duplain’s original
prospectus, which promised to include some new material in
the new edition. Panckoucke probably insisted on maintain-
ing the original text in order to avoid spoiling the market for
the revised edition.

The contract specified the character of the type (philoso-
phie) and the paper (it was to weigh between eighteen and
twenty pounds, poids de Lyon, and to cost 9 livres per ream)
and set up a tough production schedule. Duplain was to put

51. Actually, Duplain would make the necessary payments and would be com-
pensated for the use of his capital by receiving interest on it at 5 percent from
Panckoucke, who also would provide him with a promissory note of 20,000 livres
as security.
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out four volumes every six months, beginning on July 1, 1777.
The text would be distributed from a central warehouse in
Geneva and would be sold under Pellet’s name, but Duplain
would have it printed as he pleased, contracting the work to
printers in Geneva and other Swiss towns and perhaps even
in Lyons. The retail price was set at the same level as in Du-
plain’s prospectuses: 10 livres for each of the twenty-nine
volumes of text and 18 livres for each of the three volumes
of plates, making 344 livres in all. But booksellers could sub-
sceribe at a wholesale rate of 7 livres 10 sous per volume of
text and 15 livres 10 sous per volume of plates or 264 livres
in all, and they would receive a free set for every twelve
that they bought.

In short, Panckoucke bartered his monopoly on legality for
a half interest in a sure success. In his later letters to the
STN, he explained that the subseription rate proved that
Duplain might well sell twice as many Encyclopédies as the
4,000 specified in the contract, and that it would be wiser
to cash in on this coup than to try to destroy it. One can re-
construct his calculations : the total revenue of the enterprise
would come to about a million livres, the total costs to about
a half million, leaving a half million in profits—profits to be
collected almost effortlessly over four years, with no risk
and little outlay of capital.®

But wouldn’t the quarto ruin the sales of the remaining
sets of Panckoucke’s Geneva folio Encyclopédies? He had

52. This calculation is based on the terms of the contraect and represents costs
and income as projected in 1777 rather than the final figures, which turned out
to be much greater. The only information that is missing concerns the cost of
the plates, and this can be estimated from a ‘‘Résumé des frais des planches’’
produced by Panckoucke in 1780 (STN papers, ms, 1233). If the 4,000 sets all
sold at the wholesale price, they would fetch 968,088 livres, taking account of the
maximum number of free thirteenth copies. If they all sold at the retail price,
they would bring in 1,376,000 livres. Therefore Panckoucke could safely estimate
that the gross revenue would be over a million livres. His estimate of the costs
would have been more complicated, but skipping some of the details and mathe-
maties, it would have been roughly as follows:

Engraving and retouching the plates 34,916 livres
Printing the plates 16,414
Paper for the plates 17,737
Composition and printing of the text 180,090
Paper for the text 237,600
Duplain’s expenses for four years 8,000
Salary of the rédacteur, four years 2,400
Total cost 497,157 livres
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forced the STN to delay the announcement of the revised edi-
tion until July 1, 1777, in order to protect the market for the
Genevan edition and had reiterated his determination to
maintain that policy after returning from his sales trip in
November 1776. But on December 1, a banker called Batil-
liot, who specialized in discounting notes of bookdealers, pub-
lished a circular announcing that he had bought up Panc-
koucke’s folio Encyclopédies and would sell them to book
dealers at 600 livres apiece. That was 240 livres less than the
subscription price; so Batilliot could expect to find buyers—
and also to make a killing, because it later turned out that
Panckoucke had sold him 200 sets for 100,000 livres or 500
livres apiece. That bargain made it possible for him to clear
20,000 livres from the transaction; yet it also served Panc-
koucke’s interests because Panckoucke needed capital badly,
and he knew from his sales trip that he could no longer
market the leftover folios at the subscription price. The Batil-
liot deal seemed to be a rare case of profit sharing instead
of profiteering in the book trade. But six weeks after con-
cluding it, Panckoucke joined forces with Duplain, knowing
full well that the quarto could ruin the market for Batilliot’s
folios. Had Batilliot learned about the Traité de Dijon, he
would certainly have cried swindle. But Panckoucke kept
his partnership with Duplain secret. A year later he saved
Batilliot from bankruptcy, and Batilliot eventually did sell
all his Encyclopédies. So it seems unlikely that Panckoucke
meant to defraud his friend. Events moved fast. Panckoucke
changed strategy rapidly in order to keep up with them—
rapidly and ruthlessly, but not dishonestly. Thus by Janu-
ary 1777 he had freed himself from the folio and was ready
to capitalize on the quarto.®

He needed the capital desperately at that time. In April
1777 he found himself 340,000 livres behind in his payments
and secured a royal decree authorizing him to legally suspend
payments. In June he offered to let the STN buy the Table
analytique of the Encyclopédie, the gigantic index-cum-digest
to Diderot’s text, which Pierre Mouchon, a pastor of Basel,
just finished after five years of labor. Panckoucke’s offer

53. This account is based on Batilliot’s rich dossier of 101 letters in the STN
papers. On March 13, 1778, Batilliot informed the STN that he had sold all but
one of the Geneva Encyclopédies, although his profit had been eroded by the need
to clear their way into Paris by bribery.
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illustrates the strain on his finances—and also the eighteenth-
century version of what is known as hard sell today. The
Table was a sure money maker, he stressed. In fact many
persons would buy it who did not own the Encyclopédie, and
he was so sure of its success that he would refund the STN’s
money if it failed. He described the manuseript in detail and
expatiated on the best way to produce and market it. ‘‘Soyez
stirs que tout se placera et que vous ferez une bonne affaire
et sfire,”’ he concluded. ‘‘Mais il ne faut pas perdre le temps
a tergiverser.’’ He had bought the manuseript for 30,000 livres
and would sell it for 60,000—really a bargain price, con-
sidering its market value. But he needed the money fast and
was only making this offer because of the pressure on his
finances: ‘“Vous savez, Messieurs, les malheurs que j’ai
éprouvés depuis un an. Je me suis trouvé pour pres de 300,000
livres de faillites. Je perdrai 100 mille livres avec [illegible
name]. Boisserand de Roanne vient de manquer et je m’y
trouve pour une somme considérable. Cependant je n’ai point
suspendu mes paiements, mais j’ai été obligé de modérer mes
entreprises, et c’est cette position qui m’oblige & vous faire
D’offre de cette table . . . Je puis me vanter qu’ayant fait
les entreprises de librairie les plus grandes et les plus hard-
ies, aucune n’a manqué, et que toutes les personnes qui ont
travaillé avec moi ont beaucoup gagné.’’s

It is easy enough to understand Panckoucke’s eagerness
to cut in on Duplain’s profits. But where did the new quarto
association leave the old plan for producing a revised Ency-
clopédie? The Traité de Dijon mentioned the revised edition
only once, in a clause that bound Panckoucke to delay the
publication of its prospectus for two years so that it would
not spoil the market for the quarto. The contract also gave
Duplain the option of buying a three-twelfths interest in it
but said nothing about the possibility of Panckoucke’s associ-
ates buying shares in the quarto. Panckoucke could hardly ex-
clude them from Duplain’s enterprise because in January
1777 he owned only three-twelfths of the droits et privilége,

54. Panckoucke to STN, June 16, 1777. In setting a price of 60,000 livres on
the Table, Panckoucke was indulging in some typical fast talk: ‘‘J’en ai acheté
la copie aux associés de 1’Encyclopédie 30 mille livres . . . Je vous propose de
vous vendre cette table, mais je veux doubler mon argent.’’ He actually bought it
from de Tournes for 22,000 livres. See the text of the contract in Lough, Essays,
p. 104.
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which he exchanged for a half interest in it. So Regnault, Rey,
Plomteux, and the STN could expect cuts in that half interest
which would be proportionate to their holdings in the project
for the revised edition. On February 3, Panckoucke wrote a
rétrocession into the Traité de Dijon which specified that the
STN’s half interest in the revised edition entitled it to a
quarter interest in the quarto (see Appendix A. VI). Pre-
sumably he sent similar subcontracts to the other three as-
sociates. But would that concession satisfy them?

Looked at from the STN’s point of view, the Traité de Di-
Jjon was a disaster. It hurt them the greatest in the most im-
portant aspect of their business, their printing. In dropping
the original reprint plan for the revised edition, Panckoucke
had refused most of their demands, but he had mollified them
with the prospect of a gigantic printing job. And that job
had suddenly doubled in size on January 3, 1777, when Panc-
koucke agreed to meet Duplain’s threat by producing a
quarto as well as a folio edition of the revised Encyclopédie.
The Traité de Dijon canceled that arrangement and post-
poned the revised edition for two years. What was the STN
to do meanwhile with its vastly expanded plant? Panckoucke
himself, in his dealings with Suard, had emphasized the im-
portance of keeping the STN’s workshop occupied, and he
later stressed this consideration in his offer to sell the T'able
analytique.® The STN refused his proposition because it
wanted to get a return on its investment, not to be drawn into
further speculation. So it must have been appalled at article
4 of the Traité de Dijon, which specified that all the printing
of the quarto would be done ‘‘a la convenance de M. Du-
plain.”’ Duplain had already hired two Genevans to begin the
job and was planning to contract some of it to printers in
Lyons. He had no reason to hire the STN; and even if he
did, he could do so at a lower price than the 54 livres per
sheet allotted him by the Traité. The previous agreement of
January 3 had given the STN a similar set price for printing
every volume in 1,000 folio sets and 3,150 quarto sets of the
revised edition, no matter what its actual costs. The Traité de
Dijon seemed to cut it out of the printing operation alto-
gether and even to deny it any role in the management of the
enterprise, for the contract only concerned Panckoucke and

55. Panckoucke to STN, Nov. 4, 1776, and June 16, 1777.

81



The Business of Enlightenment

Duplain. As Duplain later made it clear, it created no obliga-
tion between him and the STN. This sudden reversal of policy
therefore threatened to damage the Neuchatelois as much as
it would benefit Panckoucke, and they had reason to fear
that the two fast-moving Frenchmen had outmaneuvered
them while their backs were turned.

The Paris Conference of 1777

Ostervald and Bosset considered the situation so serious
that they traveled to Paris in mid-February to conduct their
own investigation. They planned to arrive secretly and to
gather as much information about Panckoucke as possible
before confronting him—that is, they proposed to investigate
him as he had investigated Duplain, with the help of spies.
They explained their plan in a letter to Perregaux: ‘‘Faites-
nous 1’amitié de vouloir prendre quelques informations par-
ticuliéres avant notre arrivée de M. Panckoucke, libraire,
Hoétel de Thou, rue des Poitevins, mais qui soient des gens
qui puissent connaitre non seulement sa fortune mais encore
ce qui peut regarder sa bonne foi, probité etc. Nous com-
prenons que cela n’est pas absolument aisé; mais comme ces
informations nous importent essentiellement & notre arrivée a
Paris, nous vous demandons instamment la grace de ne rien
négliger pour cela, et surtout qu’il ne soit point informé, di-
rectement ni indirectement de ces informations, ne souhaitant
point qu’il sache notre arrivée a Paris.”” A week later, Per-
regaux replied, ‘‘J’ai deux personnes aux informations pour
I’homme dont vous désirez connaitre les facultés, le coeur,
ete.”” And soon after the arrival of the two Swiss, he re-
ported to the home office in Neuchatel that he had accom-
plished his mission: ‘‘J’ai communiqué a vos associés les
informations que vous désiriez qu’ils prissent.’”” Ostervald
and Bosset never gave a full account of what they learned,
but they wrote that it was favorable as to Panckoucke’s
wealth and connections, if not his ‘‘heart’’: ‘“D’abord nous
vous dirons que les informations les plus exactes prises sur
la solvabilité de 1’homme avec qui nous avons a traiter se
sont réunies en sa faveur. Nous ne pouvons pas douter sur
nos propres observations qu’il ne soit trés entendu, trés actif,

82



Genesis of a Speculation

bien vu de ses supérieurs et jouissant de beaucoup de
crédit.’ ¢

In order to travel from Neuchéitel to Paris, Ostervald and
Bosset had to cover an enormous cultural distance. They were
sophisticated Swiss, who had already made several trips to
the French capital. Bosset had business contacts throughout
France and the Low Countries, and Ostervald, who was
sixty-four in 1777, corresponded regularly with booksellers
in every major Kuropean city; their mental horizon must
have been vast. But their daily routine kept them confined
within a small town where people had an Alpine air and
spoke a slow, Germanic French. Neuchatel had nothing ap-
proaching a café society, though its inhabitants had learned
to drink coffee—much to the regret of visitors from Paris,
who came in search of rustic simplicity and Rousseauistic
pastoralism.’ The principal cultural nourishment of the Neu-
chatelois still came from Sunday sermons, delivered in the
old Calvinist style from the pulpit of Guillaume Farel. From
Farel’s Romanesque hilltop church they could easily see their
entire town, enclosed within medieval walls between the Alps
to the east and the south and the Juras to the west and the
north.

Ostervald and Bosset left this tiny world on Monday, Feb-
ruary 17, and after two days of rough riding arrived at
Besancon, the main outpost of French culture on the rugged
western slopes of the Juras. As the crow flies, the journey
from Besancon to Paris was five times as long as the Neuchatel-
Besancon journey. But as coaches traveled, it required only
twice the time, owing to a transformation of the facilities for
travel in France, completed just a year earlier and already
helping to change the kingdom from a heterogeneous mosaic
of provineces into a unified nation. The vehicle of this ‘‘revolu-
tion’’ was the diligence, a comfortable, light coach fitted with
springs and carried at a gallop over a superb new road sys-
tem by horses that were changed at regular relais. Ostervald

56. Quotations from STN to Perregaux, Feb. 11, 1777; Perregaux to STN,
Feb. 19 and 28, 1777; Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 7, 1777. The letters
from France did not often mention persons by name because the French govern-
ment was notorious for opening mail.

57. Charly Guyot, De Rousseau d& Mirabeau. Pélerins de Médtiers et prophétes
de 89 (Neuchitel, 1936), p. 103. Rousseau had lived in the area in the 1760s and
had written eloquent deseriptions of it.
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and Bosset stepped into their diligence at Besancon on Feb-
ruary 20, Four days later, having dashed through Dole, Di-
jon, Chatillon, Troyes, and Provins, they stepped out in
Paris.®®

In racing across the country at unprecedented speed to re-
negotiate their speculation on the Encyclopédie, Ostervald
and Bosset seemed to be agents of modernity, of the forces
epitomized by the diligence and the book. But they also trav-
eled in the style of gentlemen under the Old Regime—not
aristocrats, that is, but men whose manners derived from an
international code of gentility. In some respects, therefore,
they had more in common with Panckoucke than with the
peasants of their own estates. Before leaving Neuchéatel, they
requested Perregaux to provide them with a necessary prop
for gentlemanly life in Paris, ‘‘un bon domestique, intelli-
gent, actif, et stir,”’ and also asked him to reserve two adjoin-
ing rooms for them ‘‘du prix d’environ 30 sous, petites mais
propres et chez gens siirs.””® Once settled in, they made the
rounds of the capital and court. They went to cafés and the-
aters. They dined with worldly abbés and beautiful ladies.
They had audiences with potentates in Versailles and learned
whose secretary to cultivate, whose favorite to flatter, and
whose valet to bribe. That was how one did business at the
nerve center of the publishing industry. But for all their ex-
perience and sophistication, Ostervald and Bosset felt like
aliens in Paris—and indeed they were. Swiss by nationality,
French provincial by culture, they sounded somewhat be-
wildered in their letters home: ‘‘Nous irons aujourd’hui a
I’audience de M. de Néville et a celle de M. Boucherot et vous
quittons pour nous habiller . . . C’est une vie bien étrange
que celle que nous menons.’’ Ostervald cut one letter off short
by explaining that he had just dined ‘‘chez M. 1’abbé Fouchet
et avec un autre abbé qui 1’ont fait trop boire et que par ainsi
il n’a rien de mieux a faire qu’a aller se coucher.’’®

The wining and dining was incidental to the main business

58. Arrangements for the journey are clear from the STN’s correspondence
with Pellier and Pochet, commissionnaires of Besancon, in Feb. 1777. On the
‘“revolution’’ in travel see Guy Arbellot, ‘‘La grande mutation des routes de
France au milieu du XVIIIe siécle,’’ Annales. E.8.C., XXVIII (May-June 1973),
765-791.

59. STN to Perregaux, Feb. 11, 1777.

60. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 12 and March 20, 1777. See also the
similar remarks in their letter of March 23.
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of discovering whether Panckoucke had duped them and of
attempting to get better terms from him for the Encyclopédie
speculations. After they had received the favorable report on
Panckoucke, Ostervald and Bosset began to negotiate with
him, They wrote home about their sessions in such detail that
it is easy to imagine the three men squirming in their seats
as the arguments flew around the table: ‘‘Notre homme [Panc-
koucke] prend diverses formes, prétend avoir fait un coup
de maitre pour lui et nous a Dijon. Nous avons exigé qu’il
écrivit de la maniére la plus pressante a Duplain pour que
nous imprimions la moitié de son affaire. La crainte que nous
n’allions lacher une annonce est un épouvantail pour lui.
Nous le lui présenterons au besoin et le ménageons cependant,
parce que cela est indispensable . . . Panckoucke a pris [ses
stiretés] vis-a-vis de Duplain en se réservant d’expédier les
planches gravées d’ici. Mais nous devons en prendre contre
I’un et 1’autre, crainte de devenir leurs dupes ... Notre
homme est un vrai protée. On a meilleure opinion de sa for-
tune—que du reste il faut le manier avec délicatesse et tenir
souvent sa patience a deux mains. Nos conseils sont le fils
ainé du voisin et 1’abbé G.’’%

Ostervald and Bosset sounded so suspicious because they
assumed that Panckoucke was attempting to cut them out of
a promising market by colluding with Duplain. They knew
how roughly ‘‘their man’’ had treated the unsuspecting Ba-
tilliot, and a report that they received from their home office
upon their arrival in Paris made Duplain’s enterprise seem
even more suspect. Charmet, a veteran bookdealer of Besan-
con and an old ally of the STN, had stopped by Neuchétel
while making a business trip around the circuit of Swiss pub-
lishers. He told Bertrand (the third partner of the STN,
who had remained behind to mind the business) that Du-
plain never had any serious intention of producing the E#u-
cyclopédie but had only published his prospectus ‘“pour ten-
ter le gotuit du public.”” Moreover, Charmet believed that the
public had failed to respond. Contrary to the claims of Du-
plain and Panckoucke, he asserted that ¢‘Capel, libraire a
Dijon, n’est pas plus en état d’y faire 150 souseriptions pour
cet ouvrage que 1’on ne pourrait en faire dans le plus petit
hameau.’’” Bertrand concluded, ‘‘Il résulterait de ce fait sup-

61. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, Feb. 28, 1777. The ‘‘abbé G.’’ was probably
Grosier, a minor litterateur with whom the STN was in contact.
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posé vrai que M. P. a été trompé ou qu’il a voulu vous trom-
per, qu’il a en effet le dessin de vendre & deux acheteurs la
méme chose.’’®?

The Neuchételois found their suspicions confirmed and
their position reinforced from an unexpected quarter: Suard
and the philosophes. Despite their earlier opposition to his
plans for the revision, Suard greeted Ostervald and Bosset
warmly and offered them a ‘‘diner académique.”’®® The
academician-philosophes stood to lose almost as much as the
STN by the Traité de Dijon because it postponed their work
for two years. They therefore appealed over Panckoucke’s
head to the government; and they succeeded well enough to
frighten Duplain into sending his associate, Thomas Le Roy,
on an emergency mission to Paris. Le Roy and Panckoucke de-
cided to pacify the opposion with bribes., On January
23, they signed an Addition to the Traité de Dijon, which au-
thorized Panckoucke to distribute 240 livres before the
appearance of each volume in order to smooth its path into
France.®* Whether Suard became seriously disaffected with

62. Bertrand to Ostervald and Bosset, Feb. 23, 1777. Bertrand’s letter illus-
trates a factor that complicated negotiations among early-modern publishers:
mistrust compounded by misperception. By 1777 Charmet was an old man who
had lost his grip on his business. He was wrong about Capel, who eventually col-
lected 152 subscriptions in Dijon, and he grossly underestimated the demand for
the Encyclopédie in his own territory, where a younger bookseller called Lépagnez
eventually sold 338 subscriptions. At the same time, however, Charmet’s report
seemed to be confirmed by other reports that reached Ostervald and Bosset in
Paris. On Mareh 10, 1777, Panckoucke wrote to Duplain that ¢‘M. Boucher,
libraire de Rouen qui est actuellement ici, ne croit point au succés de votre enter-
prise. I1 1’a dit ici & ces Messieurs, et ces rapports leur font croire que j’ai trop
légérement cru & vos souscriptions. Ils se persuadent toujours que s’ils annon-
caient leur édition, tous vos souscripteurs déserteraient.’’ Bibliothéque publique
et universitaire de Genéve, ms. suppl. 148.

63. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, Feb. 28, 1777.

64. The Addition expressed this arrangement, somewhat elliptically, as follows:
‘¢ Attendu les difficultés qu’éprouve 1’exécution dudit acte, le ministére le regard-
ant comme contraire aux intéréts des gens de lettres, M. Thomas Le Roy, associé
aux Srs. Duplain et Cie., étant de retour & Paris pour lever les difficultés élevées au
sujet dudit acte, a chargé le Sr. Panckoucke de faire toutes les démarches con-
venables pour surmonter les obstacles qui se rencontrent en cette occasion: et
cet effet il 1’autorise & offrir & qui il appartiendra une somme de cent pistoles par
chaque volume de discours, a 1’effet d’obtenir les facilités nécessaires pour
1’entrée de cette édition en France.’’ A margin note in Panckoucke’s handwrit-
ing next to article 17 of the Traité de Dijon (the article mentioning the need to
postpone the announcement of* the revised edition for two years) said, ‘¢C’est
1’ordre exprés que m’a donné le magistrat [that is, Néville]. I1 a méme désiré
qu’on allat plus vite.’’ Panckoucke evidently meant that the Directeur de la
librairie had applied pressure on him to speed up the quarto so as to minimize the
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his brother-in-law is doubtful, but he and his philosophes
tended to support Ostervald and Bosset in their debates with
Panckoucke: ‘“Nous avons vu deux fois M. Suard et verrons
aujourd’hui MM. d’Alembert et de Condorcet,”” the Neu-
chatelois reported after a week of negotiations. ‘‘M. Suard
est assez dans nos idées, mais pense toujours que 1’annonce
de la refonte et rédaction sera en tout temps favorablement
accueillie du public. Il a mauvaise opinion de 1’entreprise de
Duplain. Notre homme [Panckoucke] soutient toujours que
les souscriptions actuelles sont en trés grand nombre et que
le bon marché fera écouler tout de suite cette édition-1a.’’%

The sparring continued for almost four weeks. Panckoucke
insisted on the importance of cashing in on a best seller while
keeping the revised edition in reserve. Ostervald and Bosset
objected that the Traité de Dijon deprived them of a lucra-
tive printing job, for which they had already sacrificed a
great deal of capital in the expansion of their plant. And
Suard argued against the dispersal of his editorial team.
The debate put Panckoucke in an awkward position because
he seemed to have sold the same half interest twice—once to
the STN for the refonte and once to Duplain for the quarto—
and he could not reconcile the contradictory obligations of
his contracts unless he persuaded the Neuchatelois to accept
a secondary partnership in Duplain’s enterprise. They could
hold him to his original commitment and undercut the quarto
by publishing the prospectus for the refonte. And if he dumped
them for Duplain, he expected them to produce a pirated
quarto of their own.

The only way to prevent the crossed speculations from ex-
ploding was to persuade Duplain to concede enough of the
printing to mollify the STN. On February 28, Panckoucke ex-
plained the gravity of the situation in an urgent letter to
Duplain. But Duplain failed to reply because while the at-
mosphere thickened in Paris, he was getting married in Ly-

harm it would cause to Suard’s stable of writers. Contemporaries believed that
Panckoucke and Duplain, like other publishers, resorted to bribery. An anonymous
pamphlet, Lettre d’un libraire de Lyon d un libraire de Paris (March 1, 1779),
reported as current gossip (p. 1), ‘‘Je vous ai mandé dans le temps, et toute la
librairie de Lyons en est informée, que Duplain a donnée 40,000 livres pour avoir
la permission d’imprimer 1’Encyclopédie.’’ See also the similar remarks on Panc-
koucke, p. 8.

65. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 7, 1777. The original contains only
the first letter in each of the proper names.
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ons. Unable to withstand the pressure from Ostervald and
Bosset much longer, Panckoucke wrote again on March 10.
After some quick congratulations and a perfunctory tribute
to matrimony—*‘le véritable état de bonheur quand on sait
bien s’y gouverner’’—he sketched the terms of a ‘‘lettre os-
tensible,”” which Duplain was to write to him so that he could
show it to the Neuchéatelois. Duplain should offer the STN
as much of the printing job as possible; he should present the
quarto as a get-rich-quick speculation, which would not cause
much delay in the refonte; and he should provide plenty of
convineing information about the abundance of the subsecrip-
tions. ‘‘Il ne faut point les effaroucher. Donnez-leur a im-
primer, et tout ira selon vos désirs . .. Ne mettez pas un
mot dans cette lettre qui puisse m’empécher de la leur mon-
trer. Ne regardez point encore une fois cette réponse comme
indifférente.’’%®

Meanwhile the Neuchatelois tried to soften up Panckoucke
by working on the philosophes. On the same day as Panc-
koucke’s final appeal to Duplain, they reported to their home
office that they were gaining ground with Suard, ‘‘de qui nous
espérons tirer meilleur parti que de son beau frere, homme
avantageux, décisif, brusque méme et impatient . . . Le ton
que prend notre homme ici est de nier et contredire tout ce
qui n’est pas selon ses idées et son plan.”’®” Two days later,
Suard had drifted toward the STN’s camp and Panckoucke
was faltering: ‘M. Suard blame hautement son beau frére
d’avoir souscrit a un si long renvoi et croit aveec raison que le
travail de la refonte en souffrira. Il persiste cependant a
désirer d’avoir un intérét dans 1’entreprise, et cela répon-
drait de son assiduité. Panckoucke nous parait embarrassé et
piqué de ce nous voyons clairement a quel point il s’est laissé
mené par Duplain.’’®® On March 14, Ostervald and Bosset re-
ported that Panckoucke had ‘‘1’air pensif, un peu embar-
rassé’’ when they dined with him. They sensed that he was
giving ground. He had agreed to let them appeal to Duplain
themselves, and they sent a tough letter. It demanded that
they print half the quarto and that the publication of the re-

66. Panckoucke to Duplain, March 10, 1777, Bibliothéque publique et uni-
versitaire de Genéve, ms. suppl. 148.

67. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 10, 1777.

68. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 12, 1777.
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vised edition begin by the end of 1777. They would never have
consented to a delay in the revised edition, they told Duplain;
and if he did not make concessions, they could always publish
the prospectus for it, which would ruin the market for the
quarto.

The Basis of a Bonne Affaire

While waiting for Duplain to reply, Ostervald and Bosset
made a quick trip to Rouen, where they talked business with
seven of the town’s thirty booksellers. The exposure to one
of the most active centers of the provincial book trade
changed their perspective because they learned that the
Rouennais had subscribed to the quarto in droves and that
the subscription boom seemed to extend throughout France.
When they returned to Paris, they joined forces with Plom-
teux, their Encyclopédie associate from Liege, who had ar-
rived to protect his own stake in the negotiations with Panc-
koucke. ‘‘Nous ne pouvons que remercier la Providence de
nous avoir envoyé d’aussi bonnes troupes auxiliaires,”’ they
wrote home. ‘‘Il parait que ce libraire, qui est homme de
grand [sang froid], fait un peu baisser le verbe a notre
homme.’’%® But meanwhile, Panckoucke had received the two
critical letters that he had solicited from Duplain.

In the first, Duplain reported on the subscription rate. He
could not provide an exact figure, but he assured Panckoucke
that it was phenomenal: ‘‘Tout ce dont nous pouvons vous
assurer, c’est que calculant d’apres toutes les lettres que nous
recevons, nous en placerons plus de 4,000; et si vous nous
promettiez de nous donner du temps, nous en placerions le
double. Nous avons entre nos mains de quoi faire le plus
beau coup du monde, mais le projet de la deuxieme édition
[that is, the revised edition] et le temps trop borné que vous
nous donnez nous empéchent d’en profiter. Nos voyageurs
[that is, traveling salesmen] récoltent partout. Il n’y a pas
de village ou il ne trouve [sic] des souscripteurs, pas de pe-
tite ville qui ne présente jusques a 36 engagés. Valence en
Dauphiné en a fait ce nombre, Grenoble davantage, Montpel-
lier plus de 60, Nimes autant, Dijon nous promet 200. En un

69. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, Mareh 20, 1777.
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mot, jamais projet n’a été accueilli de cette maniere, et cepen-
dant votre diable lettre de défense avait fait une furieuse im-
pression, mais on revient.’’™

This information confirmed what Ostervald and Bosset had
learned in Rouen, and the second letter went further: ‘‘Je ne
saurais vous peindre 1l’enthousiasme du public pour notre
projet. Dans le moment que je vous écris, je recois de Robi-
quet de Rennes 50 souscriptions, de Catry du Havre 32,
d’Aber d’Autun 26 avec assurances d’un cent, d’un avocat
d’Aurillac 13. Il n’y a pas de courrier qui n’en réunisse des
nombres. Je puis vous assurer que nous placerons nos quatre
mille et que si nous avions du temps, je ne craindrais pas
d’en tirer six. Au nom de Dieu, mon ami, ne vous inquiétez pas
davantage et profitons d’un événement qui ne se représentera
jamais. D’ailleurs vous sentez bien que si 1’Europe allait en-
core retentir de nouvelles annonces pour une autre édition, le
clergé averti formerait des oppositions, le ministre retirerait
sa protection, nous ferions la petite guerre, et enfin les uns
par rapport aux autres nous échouerions. Je vous invite a
faire entendre raison a Messieurs de Neuchéatel. Ce sont des
gens instruits, et la perspective d’un bénéfice immense doit
leur faire ouvrir les yeux et leur faire abandonner le projet
d’imprimer, ce qui au bout du compte ne peut leur donner
qu’un bénéfice qui ne convient qu’a des ouvriers par sa modi-
cité. Si au reste ils veulent absolument faire quelques vo-
Inmes, s’engager a exécuter comme moi, ils peuvent se pro-
curer une Philosophie neuve et je leur remettrai quand ils
I’auront trois volumes.”’™

Duplain’s letters are revealing in four ways. First, although
they were written at the instigation of Panckoucke, they sug-
gest Duplain’s attitude toward his enterprise: he considered
it the most spectacular speculation of his career and thought
that the campaign to exploit it should take precedence over
everything else. This attitude would prove to be crucial in
the final crisis of the enterprise three years later. Secondly,
Duplain’s remark about the government showed how he
understood Panckoucke’s ‘‘protection’’ from their discus-
sions in Dijon: Panckoucke did indeed have strong backers
in Versailles, but they would not act openly. As long as he

70. Duplain to Panckoucke, March 10, 1777, in Panckoucke’s dossier in the

STN papers.
71. Duplain to Panckoucke, March 16, 1777.
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went about his business discreetly, they would pull strings for
him behind the scenes. They might abandon him, however, if
he aroused the well-entrenched enemies of the Enlighten-
ment. Thirdly, Duplain would only deal with the STN
through Panckoucke, and in dealing with them he adopted
Panckoucke’s line: they should recognize a good thing when
they saw it; they should speculate imaginatively, instead of
snatching at petty profits and thinking like small-town shop-
keepers. And fourthly Duplain made. a small concession: he
would let the STN print thiree volumes. He could not do more,
he explained, because he already had contracted the bulk of
the job to four printers, who had had special fonts of Philoso-
phie made and would have thirty presses at work within a
week. The STN would not be able to get the requisite type
cast for six or eight months. It would be better to commis-
sion them to print some other work in order to keep their
plant busy. But if they absolutely insisted, he would give
them the three volumes.

That was enough to bring around Ostervald and Bosset.
On March 24, they wrote home triumphantly, ‘‘Enfin nous
avons le plaisir de vous annoncer, Messieurs, que la grande
affaire qui nous occupe désagréablement depuis si longtemps
est terminée et, ce nous semble, avec autant d’avantage que
possible. L’affaire de Duplain réussit étonnamment.’’”? But
the formal settlement, a contract that they signed with Panc-
koucke on March 28, did not really represent a triumph for the
STN. (This Accession and related documents are reprinted in
Appendix A. VII-VIIL.) It merely bound the Neuchatelois to
accept the Traité de Dijon in exchange for being allowed to
print three volumes according to the specifications of the
Traité. Duplain later ratified this agreement by an Engagement
of May 28, which also reserved the entire printing job of the
revised edition for the STN, as it had demanded. This pro-
viso made it easier for the Neuchatelois to renounce their
earlier demand for half the printing of the quarto, especially
as Panckoucke assured them that work on the revised edi-
tion would continue, though at a slower pace, and that it
would eventually be produced in both folio and quarto for-
mat at a total pressrun of 3,500, The continuation of the revi-
sion also mollified Suard, who was further compensated by a

72. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 24, 1777.
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gift of a one-twelfth share in the enterprise. The gift came
from the STN’s holdings of six one-twelfth shares, but Panc-
koucke paid for it as part of a general refunding of the STN’s
debt to him for its original investment.

The refunding was a complicated business because each
reversal in Panckoucke’s policy had entailed an adjustment
in his financial arrangements. On July 3, 1776, the STN had
acquired its half interest in Panckoucke’s original specula-
tion. (So later, when the shares were divided into twelfths,
the STN owned six shares worth 18,000 livres apiece). It
promised to pay this sum in sixteen notes, which matured
every three months from April 1, 1777. By January 3, 1777,
the new arrangements for the revised edition had made it
necessary for Panckoucke to agree to a first refunding of this
debt. The STN took back its sixteen old promissory notes
and issued thirty-six new ones, which came to 110,400 livres
in all and matured later: at monthly intervals for three
years, beginning on January 1, 1778. On March 28, 1777, the
STN'’s acceptance of the Traité de Dijon required a new fi-
nancial arrangement, Panckoucke now reduced its debt to
92,000 livres, which compensated it for ceding a one-twelfth
share to Suard. The STN bound itself to pay that sum by
forty-eight billets d ordre. These replaced its second set of
notes and were to mature over a four-year period beginning
on January 1, 1778.

By making its payments smaller and spreading them out
over a longer period, the STN eased the strain on its own
finances and could feel somewhat reconciled to the loss of a
large share in the printing operation. It could also find solace
in contemplating the return on its 5/24 share in the quarto
(after ceding one-twelfth of its half interest in Panckoucke’s
half interest in the quarto, its share in Duplain’s enterprise
came to 5/24, though it still had a 5/12 interest in the droits
et privilége and the revised edition of the Ewncyclopédie).
Now that ‘‘cette affaire est devenue la nétre,’’ as they put it,
Ostervald and Bosset completely changed the tone of their
remarks about the quarto. Its pressrun could easily be in-

73. See ‘¢ Troisiéme addition & 1’acte du 3e juillet 1776,’’ Appendix A.VIII.
The contract of July 3, 1776, also bound the STN to pay 35,400 livres in six in-
stallments between Aug. 1, 1777, and Nov. 1, 1778, to cover half the value of the
three volumes of text from the Geneva edition, which Panckoucke had recovered

from the Bastille. Although the subsequent agreements made those volumes al-
most worthless, they did not cancel that debt.
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creased to 6,000, they exulted. ‘Il y aurait 100,000 livres de
bénéfice [for their 5/24th] ... C’est un profit certain.’’™*
And they fired off instructions about spreading prospectuses,
gathering subscriptions, and procuring paper, type, and
workers. Their enthusiasm waned for the revised edition as
it waxed for the quarto—a process of affective adjustment,
which may be a common aftereffect of decision-making. But
the Neuchételois could hardly deny that Panckoucke had de-
feated them once again. And this fourth round of negotiations
proved to be the most important of all, because it determined
the character of a consortium that produced most of the Eun-
cyclopédies in circulation under the Old Regime in France.

74. Ostervald and Bosset to STN, March 23 and March 24, 1777. See also the
similar remarks in their letter to the STN of April 4, 1777.
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JUGGLING EDITIONS

After the settlement of the ‘‘grande affaire’’ in Paris, the
enterprise shifted from policymaking to manufacturing. But
policy continued to be an important element in the efforts
of the new quarto associates to guide their speculation to a
successful conclusion. In fact the very success of the quarto
created problems because it whipped up the profit motive
throughout the publishing world, especially among the
quarto’s own publishers, who faced a crisis in self-govern-
ment each time the subscriptions broke through a new ceil-
ing, requiring a new agreement on terms for the expansion
of production. The story of how the quarto associates fought
their way from the first to the third edition shows exactly
how the entrepreneurs of the Enlightenment conducted their
business.

The ““Second Edition”’

Throughout 1777 the subsecriptions continued to pour in.
Traveling salesmen and bookdealers throughout the country
reported spectacular sales, and Panckoucke grew more and
more excited about the boom. By June 1777, when Ostervald
and Bosset had returned to Neuchatel, he was ready to drop
everything in order to exploit this unprecedented success:
“Tout ce que je sais tres certainement par le rapport de
nombre de libraires de province, ¢’est que 1’édition a un pro-
digieux succés et qu’il faut nous y livrer tout entier, parce
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qu’un bénéfice tout venu vaut mieux qu’un bénéfice incertain.
11 est certain que si cette édition est bien exécutée, qu’on en
peut vendre 10 mille.”” In early July, he learned that one
of Duplain’s agents had sold 395 sets on a recent tour: ‘‘Le
succes de cet ouvrage m’étonne de plus en plus.”’ His aston-
ishment kept growing because Duplain’s pressrun of 4,000
copies represented a very ambitious goal for a work that
eventually ran to thirty-six enormous quarto volumes in an
era when printings of single-volume books normally came
to 1,000 or 1,500 copies. In mid-August Duplain reported
that the subscription for the 4,000 sets would soon be filled
and that he planned to open another one. On August 27 he
told the STN, which had begun work on the first of its three
volumes, to increase its pressrun from 4,000 to 6,000.
Duplain’s letter provides the solution to the mystery of
the missing second quarto edition, which has baffled bibli-
ographers for some time. Encyclopédie scholars have been
able to identify only a first edition of the quarto, whose title
page proclaims it to be a ‘‘nouvelle édition . . . & Genéve
chez Pellet,”” and a later edition, described on its title page
as ‘‘troisiéme édition . . . a Genéve, chez Jean-Léonard Pel-
let, Imprimeur de la République, & Neufchatel chez la So-
ciété Typographique.”” What became of the second edition ??
Duplain’s letters indicate that by the end of August thirty-
two presses, aside from those of the STN, were working on
the quarto at a run of 4,000 and that all or part of the first five
volumes had been printed. On the last two or three days of
the month, each press increased its output to 6,000. But the
unfinished volumes had reached different stages of comple-
tion, so there was no uniform cutting-off point. The STN
had reached sheet T of volume 6 when it received Duplain’s
order to increase the printing. It therefore reset and re-
printed the preceding sheets at a run of 2,000 and continued

1. Panckoucke to STN, June 26 and July 8, 1777. See also the similar remarks
in Panckoucke’s letters to the STN of May 13 and June 16, 1777, and in Duplain
to STN, Aug. 18, 1777.

2. In ‘‘The Swiss Editions of the Encyclopédie,”’ Harvard Library Bulletin
IX (1955), 228, George B. Watts made a good guess as to the explanation of the
‘‘second’’ edition, although like other scholars he assumed that Pellet was behind
the whole affair. Lough agrees with Watts’s version of this complicated question
(Essays, pp. 36-38). For a full discussion see Robert Darnton, ‘‘ True and False
Editions of the Encyclopédie, a Bibliographieal Imbroglio,’’ forthcoming in the
proceedings of the Colloque international sur 1’histoire de 1’imprimerie et du livre
a Geneéve.
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thenceforth at 6,000. The other printers did likewise. But
they had reached different points in the production of the
other volumes. At the moment that the STN changed gears
in Neuchétel, Pellet in Geneva could have been near the end
of volume 5, while J. F. Bassompierre, also in Geneva, could
have been at the beginning of volume 4 and the Périsse broth-
ers of Lyons in the middle of volume 3. As there was no uni-
form order in which the sheets were assembled into volumes
and the volumes into sets, there is no standard section in
every set that can be identified with some second or inter-
mediary stage of the printing. Each set must be different
from all the others, and no second edition ever existed. It
does not make much sense, in any case, to speak of editions,
because more than half the type of the Pellet quarto was not
reset. Instead, the work went through three different
‘“‘states,’’ corresponding roughly to the pressruns of 4,000,
2,000, and 6,000. But its publishers talked loosely about two
editions. In order to avoid confusion, their usage will be fol-
lowed in this account, despite its inaccuracy according to the
tenets of modern bibliography.

Duplain’s instructions also provide more specific informa-
tion about the size of the printing. The Traité de Dijon called
for an edition of 4,000 sets but stipulated that 4,250 copies
of each sheet would be printed. The 250 extra sheets were in-
tended to be mostly or entirely chaperon, to replace those
spoiled by the printer. But printers commonly calculated in
reams, quires, and sheets (rames, mains, and feuilles; in
eighteenth-century France, 25 sheets made a quire, and 20
quires made a ream, which thus contained 500 sheets). Du-
plain actually directed the STN to use 3 reams, 10 quires
more in the printing of every sheet’s worth of text (that is,
of every eight pages), making an output of 12 reams, 6 quires,
or 6,150 copies. The increase therefore went as follows :?

3. In his letter to the STN of Aug. 27, 1777, Duplain phrased his directions as
follows: ‘‘Nous nous sommes déterminés & tirer trois rames dix mains de plus.
Vous voudrez bien en conséquence, Messieurs, tirer sur chaque feuille que doréna-
vant vous mettrez sous presse en tout douze rames et six mains, et lorsque vous
aurez fini votre volume, vous réimprimerez s.v.p. tout ce qui est fait et tirerez
trois rames dix mains seulement.’’ In a letter of Aug. 18, he said that the print-
ing of the eighth volume had just begun in Lyons and that the first ten volumes
should be completed by September, but his letters do not provide enough informa-

tion for one to know exactly which proportion of the early volumes were reset and
run off at 1,750 copies or who printed them.
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original pressrun 8 reams 16 quires or 4,400 copies
inerease 3 reams 10 quires or 1,750 copies
total 12 reams 6 quires or 6,150 copies

So many copies of so huge a work seemed staggering to
Panckoucke: ‘‘Il est certain que le succés de cette édition in-
quarto passe toute croyance.’”” He agreed in principle to the
increase in the pressrun, but he did not want to accept any
proposals for enlarging the enterprise until he had made a
personal inspection of Duplain’s operation in Lyons, for he
had more faith in the success of the quarto than in Duplain’s
management of it: ‘“‘Je veux par moi-méme m’assurer de la
vérité,”” he wrote to the STN. ‘‘ it comme je pars lundi pour
Lyon, je verrai alors tout par moi-méme, et je ne ferai rien
que pour le bien commun. Je pense, Messieurs, que vous
vous en rapporterez dans tout ceci a 1’habitude que j’ai de
traiter les grandes affaires.””* The Neuchatelois had learned
to beware of Panckoucke’s grand style of doing business, but
they were willing to turn it against Duplain. So the fifth
round of mnegotiations began with the usual conspiratorial
preparations, though it mainly concerned technical questions
of adjusting the Traité de Dijon to the new dimensions of the
quarto.

A great deal of money hung on those technicalities. For
example, the Traité de Dijon allotted Duplain nine livres
for every ream of the requisite paper that he procured of
the Encyclopédie. By increasing the printing by three reams,
ten quires per sheet, the quarto associates committed them-
selves to purchasing approximately 11,165 additional reams
of paper for 100,485 livres. Such enormous demand was cer-
tain to force up the price of paper. In fact, the price had al-
ready risen so markedly that in May Duplain had persuaded

4. Panckoucke to STN, Sept. 9, 1777. Panckoucke added that he really did be-
lieve Duplain’s reports: ‘‘On doit espérer d’en placer & Paris au moins 1,000.
Le débit méme, s’il répond aux provinces, peut en &tre le double. Duplain m’a
éerit pour une augmentation de tirage que nous n’aurions pas le droit d’empécher,
quand bien méme nous n’aurions pas les raisons de le vouloir. Ainsi que lui, je
suis bien sir que 1’on placera ces 6,000 exemplaires, et cette assurance doit vous
convaincre, Messieurs, que je vous ai engagé dans une excellente affaire, puisqu’a
ce nombre nous devons doubler nos fonds et au-dela.’’
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Panckoucke to allow five additional sous per ream.® How
much more should Panckoucke allow in the contract for the
second edition? He knew that Duplain would jump at the
possibility of raking off the difference between the real costs
and the allotted sum. And that difference could be enormous
—2,761 livres for an extra five sous in the price of the extra
11,165 reams. Duplain’s allotment for printing costs raised
the same problems, although in this case Panckoucke might
argue for a reduction. The Traité de Dijon permitted Duplain
to contract the printing for whatever prices he could get and
allowed him 30 livres for the composition and printing of
each sheet at a pressrun of 1,000 and an increase of 8 livres
for every additional 1,000. Since the Traité provided for an
edition of 4,000 copies, it allotted Duplain 54 livres per sheet.
Panckoucke evidently believed that the labor involved in
printing an additional 2,000 copies would not cost another 16
livres per sheet. He therefore wanted to reduce Duplain’s
printing allotment. The Traité de Dijon also provided 600
livres per volume for the work of a ‘‘rédacteur,’”” who was to
incorporate the supplements into the text and probably also
to do some copy editing. Duplain had hired a minor littéra-
teur in Lyons called the abbé Laserre, and Laserre wanted
more money.

Finally, Panckoucke and Duplain would have to iron out
some problems about marketing. Duplain wanted to strike
a bargain with a Lyonnais dealer called Rosset, who prom-
ised to buy up to five or six hundred subseriptions if he were
given special terms, The Traité de Dijon did not permit any
deviation from the fixed wholesale price. But in the interest
of increasing sales, Duplain had offered to give Rosset a
secret rebate, provided that Panckoucke concurred. Panc-
koucke was suspicious of secret bargains and thought the
demand for the book too great for them to be necessary. So
he asked the STN to write a contrived letter (‘‘lettre ostensi-
ble’’) to him, which he would show to Duplain and Rosset in
order to strengthen his hand in the bargaining. He virtually
dictated it, stressing all the arguments against modifying
the price policy; and he warned that if the STN wanted to

5. The new price of 9 livres 5 sous per ream was set by an Addition to the
Traité de Dijon dated May 15, 1777. This document is missing from the STN
papers, but its contents are clearly indicated by the fourth paragraph of the
Panckoucke-Duplain agreement of Sept. 30, 1777 (see Appendix A.XI).
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say anything confidential to him while he was in Lyons, they
should confine it to a separate sheet, ‘‘cachetée avec de la
cire et sous double enveloppe,’’ because he would be staying
with Rosset.®

The Lyons conference of September 1777 added yet another
contract to the structure of actes and traités that Panckoucke
had built around the Encyclopédie. The agreement, which
Panckoucke and Duplain signed on September 30 (see Ap-
pendix A. XI), regulated the terms for expanding the print-
ing by 1,750 copies. Panckoucke testified that an inspection of
the subsecription register had convinced him that 4,407 sub-
scriptions had been sold, making the increased pressrun de-
sirable. He consented to an increase of five sous in the set
price for the paper, and he got a reduction of three livres
per sheet in the printing price of the extra 1,750 copies (Du-
plain was to get 33 livres per sheet instead of 36 livres, as he
might have expected, according to the rates set in Dijon).
The abbé Laserre received an increase of 250 livres per vol-
ume. The additional salary would permit him to hire de nou-
veaur aides (presumably copyists) and to complete all the
work on the copy by the end of 1779. Duplain evidently failed
in his attempt to get a special concession for Rosset, but he
was compensated by a side-speculation on the Table analy-
tique, which he and Panckoucke arranged by a contract dated
September 29.7

After the STN had refused his offer to buy the Table, Panc-
koucke decided to go ahead with its printing, using the
presses of his former Parisian associate, J. G. A. Stoupe. As
he had explained to the STN, he expected many owners of
the first two folio editions of the Ewncyclopédie to buy the
Table, which would serve as an index and summary of Dide-
rot’s text. The success of the quarto Encyclopédie meant there
would be a parallel demand for a quarto edition of the Table.
Panckoucke and Duplain agreed to produce one, splitting
costs and profits. Panckoucke would supply Duplain with the
sheets of the folio edition as they came off the press. Laserre
would adapt them to the quarto format for a fee of 2,400

6. Panckoucke to STN, Sept. 9, 1777.

7. The text of this ‘‘Copie de traité pour la Table analytique entre M. Duplain
et M. Panckoucke’’ is in the STN papers, ms. 1233. A letter from the STN to
Panckoucke of May 3, 1778, shows that the STN did not then know about the

secret arrangements for the quarto Table and was prepared to make a similar
deal with Panckoucke behind Duplain’s back.
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livres. And Duplain would handle the printing and market-
ing. The enterprise would begin after the quarto Ewncyclo-
pédie had been printed, and it would be kept secret until then
—even from the STN and the other quarto associates.

So Panckoucke and Duplain ended the conference in Lyons
on good terms with one another. Panckoucke had arrived
ready to do battle and left feeling reconciled and even jubi-
lant about Duplain’s handling of the quarto. As he reported
in sending a copy of the new contract to the STN: ¢“J’ai eu
beaucoup de peine a obtenir une remise de trois livres sur
I’impression. Je me suis assuré que 1’angmentation sur le
papier était nécessaire. Ils n’emploient que de 1’Auvergne du
poids de 20 & 22 livres. Ils n’y gagnent pas, et je crains bien
qu’ils ne se trouvent dans I’embarras cet hiver. L’abbé de La-
serre était payé comme un croucheteur. Il avait des titres
pour obtenir sa demande . . . J’ai bien vu qu’on m’en avait
imposé a Dijon, mais tout cela n’est plus un mal, puisque le
succeés passe nos espérances. J’ai vu les presses Genevoises.
Tout m’a paru bien monté et en bon train. Le nombre de 4,407
est bien réel. Un seul relieur de Toulouse en a fait 200. Les
souscriptions viennent tous les jours. Je suis témoin qu’on
en a fait 150 en 8 jours. Il ne peut point y avoir de rentrées
avant la fin de 1778, puisqu’on est obligé 4 des achats im-
menses de papier qu’il faut payer d’avance. Au reste, on
donnera le compte tous les six mois. Duplain a a4 Lyon des
associés intelligents qui ont mis plus de 400,000 livres dans
son commerce et qui mettent le plus grand ordre dans cette
affaire. Les registres sont bien tenus, et il est impossible d’en
imposer . . . Enfin, cette affaire, si le gouvernement ne la
croise pas, offre les plus grandes espérances . . . La faveur
du public est sans exemple.’’®

The Origins of the ¢‘Third Edition”’

So great was the flood of subscriptions that Panckoucke and
Duplain laid plans for a ‘‘third edition’’ while they settled
the terms for the ‘‘second’’ (that is, for the increased press-
run). On the very day that he signed the Lyons contract,
Duplain wrote to the STN that he expected to arrange a new
printing of 2,000 but that it would have to be a separate and

8. Panckoucke to STN, from Lyons, Oct. 9, 1777.
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distinet edition in order to prevent delays in the production
of the first 6,000 sets.® Launching a new edition was no casual
matter, however. Before they could agree on its terms, Panc-
koucke, Duplain, and the STN spent a year in bargaining
and bickering. The unprecedented size of the quarto had al-
ready made it almost unmanageable. To increase it by a third
strained the publishers’ resources and their tempers to the
breaking point. Every modification of the old arrangements
shifted the budget of the book by thousands of livres, and
every attempt to increase profits increased the danger of
profiteering.

Duplain sounded the market carefully before committing
himself to such a major expansion of the enterprise. The sub-
seription rate continued to be strong—so strong, according to
one of his agents, that a third subseription might soon be
filled with the surplus from the second.!® But Duplain had
only announced two subscriptions. By mid-January he thought
it necessary to announce a third in order to see whether the
demand would be sufficient for a new edition. This technique
of ¢‘taking the pulse of the public’’ was a form of fraud,
which gave subscriptions a bad name, but it helped minimize
risk. So Duplain was following the rules of the game rather
than breaking them when he asked the STN to place the fol-
lowing notice in various journals:

Les deux premiéres éditions de 1’Encyclopédie in-quarto, annoncées
chez Pellet & Genéve, se sont écoulées avec une rapidité qui prouve que
le public a gofité le projet de cette impression et qu’il est content de la
maniére dont il est exécuté. Les éditeurs, flattés d’un accueil qui a
surpassé leurs espérances, proposent une troisiéme souscription aux
mémes conditions que les précédentes. Au moyen d’un plus grand
nombre de presses qu’on fera monter, ceux qui voudront souserire
auront 1’ouvrage complet en méme temps que les premiers souserip-
teurs . . . La souscription est ouverte jusques au premier mars, et la
premiére livraison se fera en mai 1778. On peut souscrire chez les
principaux libraires de chaque ville.!!

9. Duplain to STN, Sept. 30, 1777.

10. The agent, Merlino de Giverdy, told Panckoucke in November that there
might be enough subscriptions for a third edition within three months. Panckoucke
passed this news on to Neuchitel with a jublilant remark of the kind that now
filled all his letters about the quarto: ‘¢C’est un suceés incroyable’’ (Panckoucke
to STN, Nov. 8, 1777).

11. Duplain to STN, Jan. 16, 1778. The text is missing from Duplain’s letter
and is quoted from the Gazette de Leyde of Feb. 6, 1778, where the STN had it
printed.
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Duplain took this step without consulting his associates.
Because he administered the subscriptions, he alone knew
how feasible a new edition would be, and he dominated the
administration of the quarto so completely that he often made
such policy decisions by himself. This tendency worried the
Neuchitelois, who had reason to hesitate before plunging
into a new speculation on the quarto because they wanted to
avoid further postponements of the revised edition, they knew
Duplain too well to trust him, and they considered the third
edition too important to be left completely in his control.
They therefore filled their letters with anxious queries: Had
Duplain informed Panckoucke of his decision to make a trial
announcement? Was there any sign that the subscription rate
had slackened? Did Panckoucke realize that Duplain was
drawing them into a major recommitment of capital? They
no longer doubted the success of the quarto—‘‘une chose fort
extraordinaire’”’—but they worried that success itself might
overexcite Duplain’s appetite for gain at their own expense.
““Nous voyons clairement que plus 1’entreprise prospére et
plus il est jaloux de la part que nous y avons,’’ they confided
to Panckoucke.'?

Panckoucke remained unperturbably optimistic. He wanted
to subordinate everything, including the revised edition, to
the exploitation of the quarto’s sensational selling power. The
STN deferred to his judgment, ‘‘connaissant combien vous
étes expert en ces sortes d’affaires,’’ but pressed him on two
points: first, the preparations for the revised edition should
continue unabated, so that they could issue a prospectus for
it at the end of the year (to issue one earlier might spoil the
sales of the third quarto edition); and second, they should
make sure that the size of the third edition not exceed the
number of subscriptions.

The prospective size of the edition proved to be a sticky point
because Duplain resisted the STN’s attempts to know what it
would be. This information mattered to the Neuchéatelois be-
cause they sought to increase their share of the printing.
Not only did they want to get new volumes from the third
edition to print, but they also hoped to increase the pressrun
on the old ones. They could earn far more by producing 8,000

12. STN to Panckoucke, Jan. 25 and 29, 1778.
13. STN to Panckoucke, Feb. 22, 1778.
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copies of a volume for all three editions than 6,000 for two.
But Duplain had committed himself only to giving the STN
three volumes to print at the prescribed rate (see the contract
of May 28, 1777, in Appendix A. IX). He could gain more by
contracting the work at lower rates to other printers. These
and other issues would have to be resolved by the contract for
the third edition, if in fact the edition were to take place.
Meanwhile, Duplain and the STN played a curious game of
probing and parrying in their correspondence: the STN kept
trying to pry information and commitments out of him and he
replied with elliptical or evasive remarks.

Imbroglios

On March 4, 1778, three days after the deadline for the
third subscription had expired, the STN wrote to ask whether
the public’s response had been sufficient to go ahead with the
printing and remarked casually that it expected to produce
the same volumes for the third edition as for the first two.
Instead of giving a straight answer, Duplain wrote that some
customers who had recently subscribed through the STN
would have to wait for the third edition to be served. Indirect
as it was, his reply indicated that he had decided to proceed
with the third edition, but what was to be its size? At the end
of March, the STN reminded Duplain that it needed to know
what its work load would be in order to make advance plans
for its printing operations. It had heard a rumor, it added,
that he was now having some volumes run off at 15 reams
(7,500 copies). That was an oblique way of sounding Duplain
on his strategy: Had he set the size of the third edition at
1,500 or 2,000 copies? And would he have the text recomposed
for it or would he print the remaining volumes of all three
editions together at a pressrun of 7,500 or 8,000?'* Duplain
seemed to give a forthright answer on April 5: ‘‘Nous mon-
tons douze presses qui seront uniquement employées a cette
édition . . . Nous avons pres de 500 souscripteurs sur 1500
que nous tirons. Nous ne ferons point augmenter le nombre
de ’autre édition. On recomposera jusqu’a la fin.”” But the
STN did not believe him because it had learned from secret
informants that Duplain was printing entire volumes at

14. STN to Duplain, March 29, 1778.

103



The Business of Enlightenment

8,000 and because the letter that it had received from Duplain
contradicted a letter that Panckoucke had received from him
and had forwarded on to Neuchitel. The STN explained
these inconsistencies to Panckoucke, concluding, ‘¢ Cette petite
observation [a report from Lyons that Duplain was printing
some volumes at 8,000] et d’autres que 1’on pourrait [faire],
nous vous le disons dans la confidence de 1’amitié, n’inspirent
pas une confiance entiére et exigent de votre part comme de la
noétre une attention bien entretenue.’’*®

‘Was Duplain printing more copies than he would admit to
his associates and raking off excessive profits from his man-
agement of the printing? Those questions seemed particularly
pressing in April 1778, when Duplain and Panckoucke made a
first attempt to agree on a contract for the third edition. It is
hard to know what happened in these negotiations, which
were conducted by mail, because most of Panckoucke’s letters
are missing from 1778. But Duplain evidently stressed the
enormous increase and expense of his administrative tasks
and asked to receive far more than the 8,000 livres in four
annual installments provided by the Traité de Dijon. Panc-
koucke informed the STN that he was trying to hold Duplain
to an increase of 16,000 livres, and the STN sent back a state-
ment of support: ‘‘Vous avez sagemment répondu aux préten-
tions de Duplain. Votre offre nous parait équitable et son
calcul enflé toujours a l’extréme. Il faut convenir qu’il est
chargé d’un rude détail, mais 16,000 livres font un dédom-
magement honnéte pour quelqu’un qui d’ailleurs partage les
bénéfices. Nous vous abandonnons confidemment la suite de
cette négociation.”’’® The STN also warned Panckoucke that
Duplain might be cheating on the printing and took steps to
investigate this matter itself. On April 8, it instructed Jacques
Frangois d’Arnal, a Liyonnais banker and son-in-law of Bos-
set, ‘“de vous informer sous main & combien d’exemplaires
Duplain et compagnie font tirer 1’Encyclopédie.”” The mis-
trust and intrigue had grown so thick that Duplains’ partners
actually spied on him in order to know how many copies he
planned to print of the book that they were publishing to-
gether.

On April 12, d’Arnal reported, ‘‘Nous avons su adroitement

15. STN to Panckoucke, April 9, 1778.
16. Ibid.
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par deux personnes différentes, qui sont bien instruites, que
la nouvelle édition de 1’Encyclopédie in-quarto sera de 1500.’’
Not very incriminating. But the Neuchételois suspected that
Duplain had set his pressrun at 2,000, perhaps with the inten-
tion of selling the extra copies on the sly. They therefore
kept d’Arnal’s report to themselves and tried to draw Du-
plain into exposing his true design by keeping up a friendly
exchange of letters with him throughout the spring of 1778.
In one particularly amicable letter, they said that they had
just received some good news from Panckoucke: the third
edition was to be printed at 2,000, and the subseription rate
was strong enough to justify an even larger pressrun. They
assumed, of course, that Duplain would favor the obvious,
budget-cutting device of printing the remaining volumes at
8,000, while pretending that the third edition had been reset,
as promised in their sales campaign.'’

Duplain felt that such matters belonged strictly to his
domain and would not be provoked into making any revela-
tions about them. The Traité de Dijon only required him to
give account to Panckoucke. Their contractual relationship
excluded the Neuchéatelois, who were Panckoucke’s associates,
not Duplain’s. Duplain knew they were hungry for the com-
missions that he was providing to other printers, who lined
his pockets by doing the work for far less than the rate set by
the contracts for the first two editions. If he gave more printing
to the Neuchatelois, he would have to pay them at the official
rate. And as subassociates, they might pry into his manage-
ment of the enterprise. So he tried to keep them in the dark;
and instead of giving them grounds for feeling hopeful about
the prospects for the third edition, he sent them a terse and
gloomy reply. Far from printing the third edition at 8,000,
he wrote, he had not yet decided whether to print it at all. He
had received only 500 subscriptions, mainly because of Panc-
koucke’s failure to tap the rich Parisian market. Duplain
himself was making every possible effort to drum up sales. He
had sent a circular letter to a great many bookdealers and
would wait for their response before deciding on the fate
of the third edition.®

This reply sounded suspicious to the Neuchatelois. They hid

17. STN to Duplain, April 15, 1778.
18. Duplain to STN, April 21, 1778.
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their doubts in their next letter to Duplain, while venting them
to Panckoucke. A short time ago Duplain had claimed that the
third subscription was a sure sellout, they observed to Panc-
koucke. Now he doubted that it would produce enough to
warrant an increase in the printing. Why had he changed his
tone so completely? The Neuchéatelois could guess at the an-
swer to that disturbing question, but they would conceal their
suspicions from Duplain and would insist on a close inspec-
tion of his accounts. They now appreciated the importance of
articles 13 and 14 of the Traité de Dijon, which bound Du-
plain to give a report on the subsecriptions and bookkeeping;
and they rejoiced at Panckoucke’s announcement that he
would come to Lyons to examine Duplain’s accounts in per-
son. They agreed with Panckoucke’s suggestion that they
postpone the revised edition in order to concentrate execlu-
sively on the quarto. Once they had drained all the profits out
of it and had closed their accounts with Duplain, they could
proceed with other projects, which they could prepare behind
Duplain’s back.'®

The relations among the quarto associates had become so
conspiratorial that only an external threat prevented an
internal rift. They had to drop everything in May 1778 in or-
der to conduct emergency negotiations with other publishers
who were attempting to cut into their market with other
Encyclopédies. On June 22, Panckoucke aligned the quarto
group with a consortium from Liége, which had begun to
produce an Encyclopédie arranged by subject matter instead
of by alphabet. This project ultimately developed into the
Encyclopédie méthodique and put an end to the plans for a
revised edition. On June 24, Duplain bought out a Lyonnais
group that had begun to produce a pirated quarto edition.
And throughout the summer of 1778 the STN was attempting
to settle a trade war with the sociétés typographiques of
Lausanne and Bern, who were marketing an octavo Encyclo-
pédie. These crises made it necessary for the quarto publish-
ers to suspend their negotiations on a contract for the third
edition.

But they could not afford any delay in the printing of the
third edition. On the contrary, they needed to get their quartos
on the market before their competitors could spoil it. Sub-

19. STN to Panckoucke, May 3, 1778, and STN to Duplain, May 2, 1778.
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scribers were wary of putting money on books that did not
yvet exist. They might switch to a second, more attractive
subscription, if their money had not been collected for the
first. The quarto subscribers were to pay for each volume
after they received it, and their payments were to finance the
printing of the later volumes. Duplain therefore accelerated
his production schedule to an almost unbearable speed. He set
presses to work in Lyons, Grenoble, and Trévoux as well as
Geneva and Neuchitel. He had the printed sheets assembled
into volumes and stored in Lyons. He arranged for their
transportation over thousands of miles of complicated routes.
And he tried to keep track of the subscriptions and collec-
tions, while keeping the accounts in order, disentangling
snarls, and undoing errors.

The problems of administering such a complex operation
strained Duplain’s temper and his relations with his partners
to the breaking point. After receiving a badly printed volume
from the STN in January, he exploded in a fit of uncontrol-
lable rage. Two weeks later he was still angry enough to tell
his partners what he thought of them in the following terms:
“Vous faites mal un volume et M. Panckoucke écrit a tous
nos souscripteurs qu’il faut que nous accordions plus de
terme. En un mot, nous travaillons jour et nuit pour la réus-
site de ’affaire, et il semble, Messieurs, que vous fassiez tout
ce que vous pouvez pour la détruire. Lorsque nous aurons
amoncelé par des crédits des dettes en province, qui nous
payera? La majeure partie n’en vaut rien. Voila ou conduisent
les discours de M. Panckoucke. Nous vous dirons en passant
que nous avons plus de 50,000 écus dehors et que cela a de
quoi effrayer et faire de terribles réflexions. Joignez a cela
un travail affreux et continuel, et voyez comment vous auriez
envisagé un diable de volume qui en vérité est affreux,
quoique vous en disiez.”?

The pressure on Duplain further complicated the situation
in which the third edition came into being. While his as-
sociates secretly spied on him, he raged against them for
making him bear almost the entire burden of the enterprise.
Their unwillingness to ease the financial strain made him
especially angry. He had delivered the books faster than the
subscribers could pay for them. Most of the subscribers were

20. Duplain to STN, Feb. 9, 1778.
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booksellers who had sold dozens of sets and needed time to
collect the money from their customers. But Duplain had to
advance enormous sums for the paper and printing. When
his receipts did not even approach his expenses, he began to
feel desperate: thus his ‘‘terribles réflexions’’ at the thought
of 50,000 écus outstanding and his fury at Panckoucke’s
willingness to give the booksellers more time to make their
payments.

Duplain got some relief from the financial pressure by de-
laying the payment of his own bills, especially those he owed
to the STN for its share of the printing. By mid-June the
STN had printed volumes 6 and 15 of the first two editions
and had begun work on volume 24. Each volume cost it
thousands of livres to produce; and after it finished each one,
it billed Duplain according to the rates fixed in the Traité de
Dijon and the subsequent contracts. This billing took place
in the usual manner of eighteenth-century commerce: the
STN sent a statement of its charges to Duplain and then
normally wrote bills of exchange on him made out to its own
creditors or to d’Arnal, who handled its financial affairs in
Lyons. D’Arnal was continually paying out large sums on
the STN’s behalf, mainly for paper. He therefore needed to
cash its notes on Duplain in order to keep its account out of
the red. But when those notes became due, Duplain refused
to pay them, arguing that his own debtors—the booksellers
who had subscribed for the quarto—had failed to pay him on
time and he therefore should be able to delay his payments to
the STN. As associates in the enterprise, the Neuchatelois
ought to carry their share of its financial difficulties, he main-
tained. They retorted that as printers they had to be paid.
Not only did the laws of commerce entitle them to their wages
but also they could not be expected to advance their own
capital for their own work without receiving some of the
money that must surely be flowing to Duplain from the sub-
seribers, This quarrel broke out in June 1778, just when the
quarto group’s negotiations with the rival Ewncyclopédie
publisher had reached their most critical phase, and it con-
tinued intermittently throughout the rest of the year.?

At the same time, Duplain and the STN sparred over the

21. This account of the STN’s disputes with Duplain is based on d’Arnal’s
thick dossier in the STN papers as well as on the correspondence between the STN
and Duplain.
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printing of the third edition. Duplain knew that the Neu-
chatelois needed to print more volumes if they were to avoid
firing workers and dismantling their huge shop. He therefore
played on this need in order to postpone the payment of his
debt. On June 2, he asked the STN to extend the maturation
date of some bills of exchange which were then due by three
months. And to show that he could be tractable on his end, he
stopped evading its demands for information about the third
edition: ‘‘La troisiéme édition est commencée, et nous 1’avons
donnée exclusivement & deux imprimeurs qui ont monté 18
presses, se sont engagés a trois épreuves de chaque feuille,
et nous voulons faire une belle édition afin que s’il reste
quelques exemplaires, ils ne soient pas a charge. On tire trois
rames dix mains (that is, 1,750 copies).”” So Duplain had
begun to print a quite large edition, and he might well exclude
the STN from it.

Duplain let the Neuchitelois make that last reflection them-
selves, expecting them to become more flexible about the pay-
ment of their bills, They reacted by firing off an urgent letter
to Panckoucke. They had eleven presses to keep occupied,
they lamented; yet Duplain was attempting to cut them out
of the printing of the third edition, and in doing so he was
violating his contractual obligation to give them three volumes.
To be sure, they had received three volumes for the first two
editions, but they were also entitled to three volumes of the
third, as could be proved by a logical extension of the Traité
de Dijon. They would settle, however, for a fourth volume to
print, hopefully at 8,000. They urged Panckoucke to press this
demand on Duplain and also to come to Lyons to check his
accounts because ‘‘il doit lui avoir passé de fortes sommes
par les mains.”’ They were worried about how Duplain had
handled this money, and they also felt perplexed about a
discrepancy between the last letters they had received from
Duplain and Panckoucke. Panckoucke’s letter reported that
he and Duplain had agreed to simplify the marketing of the
third edition by taking 500 sets apiece and selling them in
their own territories. That agreement seemed to imply that
the edition would consist of 1,000 sets, but Duplain’s letter
spoke of 1,750 sets. Moreover, d’Arnal’s report set the press-
run at 1,500. The Neuchatelois still did not know what to be-
lieve about the mysterious third edition. But it was now clear
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that the disputes over its financing and its printing had
become interlocked, stalling the settlement of the contract,
even though Duplain’s men had begun setting type and print-
ing sheets at a pressrun somewhere between 1,000 and 1,750.?*

While the STN tried to get Panckoucke to apply pressure
on Duplain, Duplain continued to suffer from the strain on
his finances. ‘‘Nous avons bien eu 1’honneur de vous observer
que I’argent est ici d’une rareté affreuse, que nos libraires
demandent du temps, et qu’enfin nous ne pouvons pas en faire
sortir des pierres,’’ he wrote to the STN on June 9. ‘‘Le train
que nous menons 1’ouvrage exige une mise dehors a laquelle
nous ne comptions point.”’ He simply could not meet his June
payments to the STN. But he could retreat from his adamant
stand on the printing—a stand that he had probably taken,
in any case, in order to improve his bargaining position on
the financial question. The STN showed its willingness to
play this game with him by instructing d’Arnal to grant Du-
plain a delay on his payments in exchange for obtaining a
fourth volume. The bargain worked perfectly, d’Arnal re-
ported, despite Duplain’s reluctance to sacrifice any of his
profitable business as a middleman. In essence, therefore,
Duplain bartered a loss in his rake-offs on the printing for
impunity in failing to pay his bills on time.

But he snapped up d’Arnal’s proposal too quickly. The
STN interpreted this alacrity as a sign of weakness and an-
swered d’Arnal with instructions to raise its bid to three
volumes of the third edition. It then wrote directly to Duplain,
saying that it was glad to help him with his financial difficul-
ties and that it would soon send him some ‘‘remonstrances’’
that would explain its case for the printing of the third edi-
tion. Meanwhile it would like to do a fourth volume for the
first two editions. It had plenty of paper and workers ready
for the job. This tactic backfired. Duplain told d’Arnal that
after reconsidering the question, he thought the STN had
enough work to keep it busy without anything from the third
edition. And in his letters to the STN he merely continued to
insist on the need to postpone the payment of his bills. The
STN then had to fall back on a strategy of dunning. In late
June it warned Duplain that he had accumulated 16,980
livres in debts, that it would insist on being paid, and that it

22, STN to Panckoucke, June 7, 1778.
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would charge interest for any delay. In early July, Duplain
refused to honor two bills of exchange worth 2,019 livres.
The STN then put him on notice that d’Arnal would present
the bills once more and that it could no longer accept any
postponement of their payment. The quarto associates had
reached the brink of a schism, and they still had not settled
on a contract for the third edition.?

The Neuchatel Imprint

The STN considered the situation so serious that it sent its
most trusted agent, Jean-Francois Favarger, on a special mis-
sion to Lyons. Actually, Favarger was to make a complete
tour de France, selling Encyclopédies and other books and
settling accounts with bookdealers throughout the country.
But the most important purpose of his journey was to do
some general reconnoitering in Lyons without letting Du-
plain realize it. By appearing as a traveling salesman, Fa-
varger might be able to discover Duplain’s true motives and
intentions, for by now the STN’s relations with Duplain had
become so entangled in bidding and bluffing that the Neu-
chatelois no longer knew what his game was. They therefore
planned Favarger’s interview with Duplain in minute detail
and even wrote a scenario for it in Favarger’s diary. Fa-
varger consulted the instructions that Ostervald and Bosset
wrote in his diary before meeting with the STN’s customers
along his route, and he recorded the results of each meeting
afterward. Most of the entries consisted of a few phrases,
but in Duplain’s case, the instructions ran on for two-and-a-
half pages and contained remarks such as the following:

Voir M. Duplain et ticher de savoir, mais sans témoigner trop de
curiosité, & quoi on en est pour 1’impression des volumes de 1’Encyclo-
pédie quarto, combien de presses y travaillent & Lyon ou ailleurs; si
1’on a commencé la troisiéme édition, & combien on la tire . . .

Vous écouterez attentivement tout ce que M. J. D. [Joseph Du-
plain] pourra vous dire touchant notre Encyclopédie, et vous éviterez
de faire aucune ouverture . . .

Vous parlerez & J.D. du désir que nous avons d’imprimer encore
un volume & 6,000. Vous le prierez de nous en écrire. Vous lui direz

23. The most important in this exchange of letters are d’Arnal to STN, June
12; STN to d’Arnal, June 17; STN to Duplain, June 24; STN to Duplain, July
8; and STN to d’Arnal. July 8, 1778.
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qu’il y a beaucoup d’apparence qu’aucun des volumes n’est corrigé
avec plus de soin et par des gens plus instruits, qu’on donne toute
’attention possible & 1’exéeution, que notre imprimerie est mieux
montée & tous égards qu’aucune de celles qu’on emploie a cette en-
treprise, que nous avons fort papiers supérieurs en beauté & ceux de
Lyon, que nous avons monté notre fabrique exprés pour réimprimer
I’in-folio que son édition in-quarto a retardée, qu’il est donc juste
que nous soyons indemnisés de quelque maniére. S’il est impossible
d’obtenir de lui un volume a 6,000, dites que nous avons droit par le
traité d’imprimer trois volumes & 2,000 [that is, of the third edition]
et que nous espérons que cet article ne souffrira aucune difficulté . . .
NB Vous nous rendrez compte en détail de ce que vous aurez fait a
cet égard.

If he played his part skillfully, Favarger might win the
STN’s case for an increase in its printing allotment. But he
was also to snoop around Duplain’s shop, to collaborate with
d’Arnal and the abbé La Serre, and to sound the other Lyon-
nais dealers in order to discover what Duplain’s general
Encyclopédie policy really was.?

Favarger arrived in Lyons on July 13 or 14, just in time for
some last-minute instructions from his home office. The STN
warned him that Duplain had recently refused to honor its
two bills of exchange and had defended his conduct with spe-
cious arguments, which it refuted point by point so that
Favarger could confound him in their discussions. It con-
cluded with an exhortation: ‘‘Relisez bien toutes vos notes
pour Lyon avant de faire aucune visite afin d’avoir balle en
bouche en traitant.’’?® One can imagine Favarger’s reaction,
as he sat in his inn, rereading his instructions, rehearsing his
lines, and fortifying himself for the confrontation with Du-
plain. But when the great moment came, he found his man
surprisingly affable, Duplain talked business for hours with
apparent openness and sincerity, though he did not reveal
anything about the higher diplomacy of his operations. Fa-
varger held firmly to his appointed role throughout the flood
of words, though it was not easy: ‘“je . . . me suis conformé,
Dieu mereci, en tous points a vos instructions, ce qui n’est pas
aisé avec lui quand 1’on y est aussi longtemps.’’ And he sent
a happy report back to Neuchatel: Duplain was printing the

24. Favarger’s diary, labeled ‘‘Instructions et renseignements pour J. F.
Favarger,’’ is in the STN papers, ms. 1059.
25. STN to Favarger, July 11, 1778.
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third edition at 4 reams 15 quires (2,375 copies); he would
give the STN a fourth volume to print for the first two edi-
tions (that is, at 6,150) and three volumes for the third; and
he would pay the next set of bills when they became due in
August. Duplain stated frankly that he made 1,500 livres
for every volume that he had printed in Lyons instead of in
Neuchatel, but he had recovered from his fits of temper and
wanted to maintain good relations with the STN. He justified
his refusal to pay its bills for the printing of volume 15 in
June by explaining that the STN’s shipment of that volume
had arrived late, making it impossible for him to collect from
the subscribers in time to make his own payments. He ex-
pected the STN to come to his aid in difficult moments because
it was a partner as well as a printer. Moreover, specie had
been unusually scarce in Lyons, and he thought that as
Bosset’s son-in-law, d’Arnal ought to agree to a three-month
delay in the payment of the bills of exchange. All this sounded
disconcertingly reasonable to Favarger. Duplain seemed to
be charming and to have conceded the most contested points
without a struggle. But what had caused this abrupt change
of behavior on his part?2¢

In his report, Favarger mentioned that Duplain ‘‘m’a dit
vous avoir écrit pour permettre que cette troisiéme édition
parfit sous votre nom, que cela lui donnerait plus de relief.”’
This letter arrived in Neuchatel just in time to take the pres-
sure off Favarger’s encounter with Duplain in Lyons because
it was Duplain’s way of replying to the STN’s intransigent
demand that he pay his bills: ‘‘Nous nous sommes déterminés
a4 réimprimer la troisiéme édition a 4 rames 15 mains,”’
Duplain wrote ‘‘Elle est sous presse, et nous espérons délivrer
deux a trois volumes en aotit. Comme nous voulons que cette
édition (entre nous soit dit) soit supérieure a 1’autre pour
I’exécution, la correction ete. afin que s’il en reste quelques
exemplaires ils ne nous soient pas a charge, nous avons pensé
que pour qu’elle se distinguat, elle pariit sous un autre nom.
Nous vous prions en conséquence de nous permettre de nous
servir du votre. Vous paraitrez avoir acheté de Pellet etec.
Envoyez-nous a cet égard votre consentement s.v.p.”’?” After

26. Favarger to STN, July 15, 1778.

27. Duplain to STN, July 10, 1778. This letter was a reply to a letter from the
STN of July 8, which was virtually an ultimatum on the payment of Duplain’s
bill,

113



The Business of Enlightenment

waiting three days for this attractive offer to sink in, Duplain
sent another plea for the STN to delay the collection of its
two bills of exchange until August. This gambit succeeded.
The STN replied that it would extend the debt and that it
would gladly lend its name to the new edition, for which it
expected to print ‘‘plusieurs volumes.’’?® So when Favarger
walked into Duplain’s shop girded for battle, the quarrel
was being settled above his head. And soon after their anti-
climactic confrontation, 